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Main Beliefs

-~ Only Ahmadyat is the True Islam. Islam minus Mirza
Ghulam Ahmed is a lifeless entity,

- Mirza Ghulam Ahmed is a Mujadid, Mahdi, Promised
Messiah, Zilli Nabi and Rasul, Krishna Avatar and
Promised one of all leading religions.

- The Mirza is real Nabi and Rasul (nondaw bearing).
Nabi and Rasul will continue to come to guide the
humanity like Abraham, Noah, Moses etc. God ad-
dressed him as Nabl in his revelations with out any
zillior broozi tags. He is superior to Jesus Christ in all
respects.

- Muslims of the world whao do not believe in his claims
are confirmed Kafirs (heretics) and outside the pale
of Islam,

- Prayer behind a non—~Ahmadi Imam, marriage of an
Ahmadi gifl with a non-Ahmadi Muslim, saying
funeral prayer of even a non-Ahmadi Muslim child are
forbidden by God.

- The wife of the Mirza is Um—ul-Mominin; his com-
panions are Sahaba-i—Karam, Qadian is Madina-tul-
Masih and seat throne of his Rasul and real Nabi.

- Jehad is forbidden for all times to come.

- Jesus Christ died a natural death and is buried in
Srinagar, Kashmir.

- Khilafat is a permanent institution of Ahmadyat. God
himself appoints and guides Khalifa,

- Doors of Wahi (revelation) and llham (direct com-
munion) with God are open. The Mriza's Wahi is
binding on all mankind.
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PREFACE

The Ahmadyya movement launched by Mirza Ghulam Ahmad at the close
of 19th Centuary at Qadian, East Punjab has completed over 100 years of its
existence. Itwas a pro-British political movement inits orientation inspired mainly
by Bahaism of Iran. Bahais watched the political interests of Czarist Russia in lran
and Turkey till it completely aligned itself with Zionism in 1897. The Ahmadya
movement served the British interests in India and its colonies. The nature and
development of the niovement and claims of its Founder establish its real character.
Religiously Ahmadis(Qadianis) are a distinct community and by far a non-Muslim
entity by their own proclamations, faith and practice. Numerous writings of the
Founder and his successors bear testimony to the fact. Ahmadis were declared a
non-Muslim minority by a unanimous vote of the National Assembly of Pakistan
and the Senate on 7 September 1974. The credit goes to the then Prime Minister
of Pakistan Mr. Zulfigar Ali Bhutto for hisbold stand on the issue. After a decade,
President Zia-ul-Haque sealed their fate by issuing Ordinance XX on 26th April
1984 which provided penal action for them against misuse of epithets and titles
reserved for Islamic holy places and personages. That forced Mirza Tahisr Ahmad,
the fourth head of the community to fleeto London inMay, 1984, He hasbeen living
there since then.

The political character of the movement was “revealed' by some scnior
Ahmadis mainly on personal requests and on the condition of anonymity. In most
cases they avoided to part with the “real’ information perhaps for the fear of betrayal
or excommunication. Certain inside “palace stories’ were disclosed by young
dissidents, Ahmadyya elders of Lahore or paighamis (as they are called by Qadianis
of Rabwah Jamat), members of three defunct-rather extinct - Qadiani groups-Arupi
party, the late Khawaja Ismail of London Jamat and Haqiqat Pasands. The Ahrar
and Tahafuz-i-Khatam-i-Nabuwat activists gave their personal narratives with
some elements of exaggeration. However every possible care has been taken to sift
facts from wild allegations and insinuations in an objective and impartial manner
to record the established fact of history. I am indebted to all of them,

Many prominent religious scholars have writtena loton Ahmadyat but these
works are mainly based on theological discussions and argumentative defence of
their beliefs. 1tis high time to expose its political character by availing the authentic
material available at the India Office Library. London and many places in Pakistan.



The present study traces the political history of the Ahmadya movement
since its birth and its relations with the British'imperialism and the militant Jewish
nationalism. The ignominious role played by Ahmadis in our independence
movement and afterwards in the internal politics of Pakistan has been highlighted.

1 am grateful to Prof. Dr.Mahmud Ahmad Ghﬁzi, Director Génerai, Dawah
Academy, Islamabad for his valuable suggestions and encouragement. 1 also
extend my thanks to Prof Zafarullah Beg for his commendable ideas and helpful
vigws. ‘ ‘ .

I sincerely thank Malik Abdul Hamid foc his labour of love. He valunteered
te type the manuscript and performed the assigned work with care and devotion,
Some work was done by Mr. Zamir Akhtar with-keen interest.

3 h, 1994,
23 Marc! B A



Foreword

Afterthe tragic failure of the War of Independence in 1857,
the Muslims of the Indian Subcontinent found themselves in a
grave economic, political and cultural crisis. The British
imperialism took control of the whole of the Mughal Empire and
adopted measures to consolidate and perpetuate its mastery over
South Asia. It took every possible step to create disunity, confusion
and a defeatist mentality in the local population and particularly
among the Muslims. Based on a long and deep study of the Indian
scene, the new policy designed by the colonial masters included
attempts to raise pseudo-religious leaders to work for the interests
of the colonizer in a religious garb.

In pursuance of this diabolical design the fertile British
mind found in a remote village of East Punjab called Qadian, one
Mirza Ghulam Ahmad, a non-entity at that time. He was raised to
project himself as a religious saviour who claimed promises to
deliver the Indian Muslims from the agony and dismay from which
they were suffering. In order to build his personality he started
writing in the local press and criticizing different religions. With
the passage of time he began to lay foundations of a movement,
subsequently known as the Qadiani or the Ahkmadi movement, and
astutely served the cause of British imperialism in India and
abroad. The linchpin of the whole crusade was the propaganda
against Jihad, the belief which had been motivating the Indian
Muslim to rise against the British colonialism in India. The other
underlying objective was the inculcation of a spirit of loyalty for
the British rule and its acceptance as a divine blessings for the
Muslims of India. The whole jugglery of the Mirza revolved
around these two themes. His ridiculous revelations and
prophecies directly or indirectly convey these two messages. The
Mirza moved swiftly from the claim of a reformer to Mujaddid and
then to the so-called 'Promised Messiah” and finally had the



audacity to lay claim to prophethood. All this teok place in
accordance with a welt-planhed strategy to serve the inferests of
his mentors. It is most likely that he was inspired by his
contemporary movement, Bahaism, masterminded by the Russiar -
Czarists in Iran. Both these movements are flourishking in Israel
ROW,

Inthe present study the author Mr, Bashir Ahmad traces the
history of the Qadiani movement from its birth up to the present
day and unveils its relations with the British imperialism and
Zionism. The Ahmadi's role in Pakistan movement and afterwards
has also been discussed at length. The study provides a good
political perspecitve on the growth of the movement and its
machinations against the Muslim interest throughout these
decades. The author has taken pains to record the facts of history
in an objective way. It is a well-documented book which
successfully traces the political history of the Ahmadi movement.
The author has at his credit another good book on Bahaism which
was well-received by the scholars and students of contemporary
religious history of the Middle East. I hope this book will be
equally a welcome volume by those interested in the study of
comparative religions. :

Icongratulate the Igarn‘ed author on the production of this timely
.work and pray Almighty Allah to grant him success both in this
world and in the Hereafter.

Dr. MAHMOOD A. GHAZI
Director General
Islamabad 13.4.1994



Punjab Intelligence

Version

The Mirza
Family and
the Mutiny of
1857

Mirza Ghulam
Ahmad's claims
and Muslim
Reaction

What Secret Report of the Punjab

CID says about the origin,

Growth and Development of
The Ahmadya Movement 1

Mirza Ghulam Ahmed of Qadian, District Gurdaspur, the
founder of the Ahmadiyya sect was born in 1839. He was
descended from a Moghal family of Samarkand which
emigrated to the Punjab in 1530 and settled in the Gurdaspur
district. For several generations the family held offices of
respectability under the imperial Government and it was only
when the Sikhs became powerfuld that it fell into poverty.

During the reign of Ranjit Singh, however, Mirza Ghulam
Ahmed's father, Ghulam Murtaza, was received back into
favour and with his brothers performed efficient services in
the Maharaja’s army on the Kashmir frontier and at other
places. On the annexation of the Punjab by the British, jagirs
of the family wereresumed but a pension of Rs. 700 was
granted to Ghulam Murtaza and his brothers and they
retained their proprictary rights inQadian and the neighboring
village. The family did excellent services during the mutiny'
of 1857+

Mirza Ghulam Ahmed first came to notice in 1876 when he
claimed to receive revelations direct from God. In 1883 he
published revelation referring to himself as a messenger and
Prophet. In 1891 he declared himself to be the Promised
Mehdi or Messiah of the Muslim faith, a claim which led to
the issue of fatwas in 1876-1891 condemning him as an-
infidel by leading ‘ulemas’. Being a skilled theologian and

¢ The Ahmadyya Sect-Notes on the Origin, growth and I)eve]op-

ment of the Movement up to vear 1938
(source: National Documtation Centre, Islamabad)
2. All Italics added



Prophecies about
Lekh Ram and
Abdullah Athim
(1891-97)

dialectician, however, he soon won over a large number of
people to his tenets, though he was of course condemned by
all orthodox Muhammadans as an impostor and heretic. The
beliefs of the Ahmadis are briefly summarised in the Mirza’s
decalogue which he called the ten conditions of ‘Baiat’
(initiation). In them sympathy with all persons, Muslim or
non- muslims is enjoined, and it is asserted that the conguest
oftheworld to Islam is to be effected by peace and notby war.
The Miraz's speeches and writings and his proselytizing zeal
naturally led to some ill- feeling, yet, so faras is known, there
is not a single incident on record in which his followers have
been denied the use of mosques or Muhammadan burying-
grounds or have in any way been
molested, except in one case _al
Cuttack where some convert to Ahmadiyyaism wished to

change the form of worship in the principal mosque in the
town -a course to which the rest of the Muhammadan
population naturally objected.

Mirza Ghulam Ahmed proved to be a greater danger
communally than religiously owing to his prophecies
foretelling the deaths of his opponents. In 1886 and

again in 1893 he issued notices prophesying the death of
Pandit Lekh Ram by violence. This™ prophecy™ was fulfilled
by the murder of(Pandit Lekh Ram on March the 6th, 1897,
Ghulam Ahmed’s prophecy natprally aroused suspicion
against him of complicity in the murder. Government shared
the suspicion and a search warrant was issued for the search
of Mirza Ghulam Ahmed’s house at Qadian. Nothing in-
criminating, however, was found. Pandit Lekh Ram’s history
is not without interest. He was at on¢ time employed in the
North - West Frontier Province Police. but, owing to immo-
rality and neglect of duty was reduced in rank and eventually
resigned in 1884. He subsequently became a prominent Arya
Samaj preacher). The immediate reactions of Lekh Ram’s
murder on Hindu-Muhammadan relations were consider-
able. The first result was a reconciliation between the two
sects into which, the Arya Samaj had split. The orthodox
Hindus and Sikhs sympathized with the Arya Samaj, who
however, somewhat alicnated Sikh sympathy by comparing
Lekh Ram to Guru Gobind Singh. The situation at the time
was further complicated by the fact that five or six murders
of Hindus by Muhammadans had recently occurred and



Death of the Mirza
1897- May 1908

iii

appeared to have been more or less due to fanaticism.
Agitation, however, was chiefly confined to the educated
classes in Lahore, Amritsar, Ludhiana, Hoshiarpur,
Ferozepore and Peshawar and was especially noticeable
among the student class. Ill-feeling was stirred up by the
Arya community but no outbreak occurred as a result and the
situation gradually returned to normal. A proposal to put
Mirza Ghulam Ahmed on security under section 107, C.P.C.,
was considered but did not materialize.

Mirza Ghulam Ahmed’s prophecies about this time began to
attract wider attention. He prophesied the death of a Chris-
tian opponent Abdullah Athim. who died within the period
foretold by the Mirza. In 1897 Dr. Clark, a C.M.5.(1)
missionary, brought a case against him under section 107,
C.P.C., alleging that he had deputed a man to murder him.
Mirza Ghulam Ahmed was discharged but at the same time
he was warned by the trying magistrate to desist from
publishing inflammatory and provocative pamphlets, and
was told that unless he adopted a moderate tone he could not
fail but bring himself within the reach of the law.

Down to his death in May, 1908, Mirza Ghulam Ahmed
continued to propagate his faith with remarkably little oppo-
sition from orthodox Muhammadans. There was of course
occasions when his teachings were actively resented, as for
example, at Amritsar in November, 1905, when the Police
had to escort him from a public meeting to save him from an
assault. Orthodox opinion was aroused against him on that
occasion by his eating and drinking on the platform from
which he was speaking during the ‘Ramzan’. When not
carried away by his proselytizing zeal and extravagances in
debate, then he often made use of language which did not
really reflect his true opinions or even his teachings. The
Mirza’s general outlook on other religions appears to have
been tolerant, if at times somewhat inconsistent. Thus, while
he prophesied the speedy death of his enemies he declared
that Muhammadans must allow the members of all other
religions to live in peace; and likewise while condemning the
whole Christian religion as false and anti-Christ, he never-
theless believed in Christ as a mighty prophet of God, r';ot

{. Church Missionary Soctety London



Lovality to the
British Government

Hakim's Nuruddin,
the successor
(1908 - 1914)

himself divine, but a divine messenger, who died (according
to the old tale beloved by Muhammadans and Hindus) in
Kashmir. Speaking at a public meeting in Lahore in Septem-
ber 1904, he remarked that he did not consider all non-
Muslim faiths false, and added that it had been revealed to
him that Ram Chandra and Krishna were true men of God
and that he had no patience with those who spoke ill of them.
He considered Baba Nanak as a true worshipper of God.

His attitude towards Government was throughout one of
lovaity. In 1895 he published a pamphliet explaining his
attitude toward the British Government in which he de-
nounced ‘jehad’ and enjoined loyalty and goodwill towards
Government.

On his death in 1908 he was succeeded by Hakim Nur-
ud-Din in opposition to instructions left by hiin that
Ahmadiyya affairs should be controiled by an Anjuman. Nur-
ud-Din was born at Bhera in 1841. His father was a weli-to-
do person, having a printing press of his own in Lahore. His
family claimed descent from Omar, the third Khalifa. Nur-
ud-Din from his boyhood showed a tendency towards reli-
gion. Attheageof 12 hebegan to study Arabic with the help
of his clder brother, and while still young came to Lahore
with his father for further study in Islamic theology, logic and
philosophy. He later devoted much of his time to the study
of Medicine and afterwards went to Rampur, Bhopal,
Rohilkhand and Delhi for a higher course in Arabic and
theology. He went to Mecca and Medina and passed a good
deal of his time with the ‘Ulemas’ of the country. On his
return he was considered to be the foremost and most learned
‘moulvi’, For sometime he worked as a teacher in a school
at Pind Dadan Khan, but finding this work unsuited to his
taste he left it and went to his home at Bhera where he began
to practice as a physician. The efficacy of his treatment and
hisreputation for learning won for him the situation of *Shahi
Hakim’ in the Kashmir State which position he occupied for
about i0 years. Inor about 188 1 Nur-ud-Din came in contact
with Mirza Ghulam Ahmed of Qadian. He soon imbibed the
doctrines and beliefs professed by Mirza Ghulam Ahmed and
entirely abandoned himself to religious matters and particu-
larly to the tenets and doctrines of the Ahmadiyya faith. Nur-

1. Second



Separalist
Tendency and
pro-Turk Elements
(1914)

Hakim's Death
and Split
(1914)

-ud-Din wrote several books of which “Faz-ul-Kitab’ is the
most noteworthy. Itisacommentary on Christianity and was
written under special instructions from MirzaGhulam Ahmed.
Nur-ud Din commanded great respect among the Ahmadia
sect and was considered to be the chief pillar of their fuith.
it was for this reason that on the death of Mirza Ghulam
Ahmed the leading men of the Ahmadiyya sect elected him
as their Khalifa which position he held till his death on the
13th March. 1914, During his Khilafat Nur-ud-Din spent
most of his time in Qadian and confined his sole attention to
the propagation of the Ahmadiyya tenets and doctrines, a
duty which he performed with great zeal and fervour.

Some three years before the death of Nur-ud-Din a
separatist tendency was noticeable among the edu
cated members of the community who resented the
doctrine enunciated by Mirza Bashir-ud-Din Mahmud. the
son or Mirza Ghulam Ahmed, that any Muhammadan who
did not accept the ten conditions of ‘Baiat’ (initiation) laid
down by the late Mirza was a ‘Kafir’.(1} Some of these men,
possibly to gain popularity among the orthodox Muhammadan
public, took part in the pro-Turkish agitation at the time of
the Tripolitian and Balkan wars and were actively disloyal.,
Of these Khwaja Kamal-ud-Din, Dr. Mirza Yaqub Beg, M.
Sadr-ud-Din and Dr. Muhammad Hussain were the most
prominent in the pro-Islamic movements of the time. They
attracted, however, very few followers among the Ahmadis. .

The death of Nur-ud-Din divided the sect into two
parties; one party favoured the succession of Muhammad
Ali, M A | editor of the “Review of Religions™, and the other
party. which commanded a majority, selected Mirza Bashir- |
ud-Din Mahmud, the son of the founder of the sect.
Muhammad Ali’s colleagues formed a separate society in
Lahore where they founded the Ahmadiyya:Anjuman-i-
Ishaat-i-Islam and a college of the same name, The “Review
of Religions” was also brought to Lahore. The Lahore party
consists of the more educated Ahmadis, who look upon the
founder of the sect as an apostle, not in the literal but in the
metaphorical sense, anddo notex-communicate non-Ahmedi
Muslims. They regard Mirza Ghulam Ahmed as a religious

i-That was not the reason
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reformer but not as a Prophet, Their views are in sharp
distinction to those of the Qadian sect which rejects the
doctrine of the finality of prophethood in Muhammad. The
mutual animosity between these two sections has often
expressed itself in bitter criticism of each other’s religious
doctrines. Of'the two sections the Qadiani party has been the
more bitter. In 1919 it made a direct attack on the Lahore
section and declared that its leaders deserved according to
Islamic Law tobe murdered. To this attack Muhammad Ali,
the president of the Lahore Anjuman, replied at length
accusing the Qadianis of spreading false rumours against the
Lahore section. There is little doubt that the two scctions are
bitterly opposed to each other, but their disputes have so far
been settled out of court.

From 1914 to 1918 the Ahmadis were politically quies -
cent. Their activities, such as they were, were mainly con-
fined to public lectures which were not particularly well
attended. Their record during the Great War was one of
continuous foyalty. They subscribed to Government war
loans, and towards the cnd of the war offered a double
company of Ahmadis which, however, was never formed
owing to the termination of the war. A territorial unit was
subsequently raised,

In 1917 the pronouncement of progressive self-Gov—

ernment for India stimulated the interest of the Qadian
section in politics and the Khalifa was not slow to seize the
opportunity to present the opinions of his sect. He at once
protested against the proposal to make India self-governing
basing his objections largely on the unrestrained religious
intolerance prevalent in India. Atthe same time he declared
himself in favour of racial equality, wider education, indus-
trial progress and increased Indianization. Againin 1921 the
Qadian branch presented an address to the Secretary of State
for India in which it was stated that India did not stand in need
of important and far-reaching reforms but demanded the
abolition of racial distinctions and wider cducation.. The
address stressed the state of religious intolerance in India and
asked that so long as religious prejudice retained its sway
over the minds of the people the British element should
predominate in India and in the government of the country.
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They took no part in the Muhammadan agitation

over the Turkish quest ion beyond expressing

the opinion that consideration should be paid to the feelings
of the Muhammadan world, and admitted frankly that they
owned no spiritual allegiance to the Sulian, but recognized
as their temporal sovercign the Power under whose nule they
lived. They were opposed to the *hijrat’ movement, main-
taining that the Islamic conditions governing the necessity
for *hijrat” had not been fulfilled. The Khilafat and non-co-
operation movements found them firmly on the side of
Government. The Qadiani section published pamphlets on
the “Turkish Peace” and “Non-co-operation and Islam” in
which non-co-operation, ‘hijrat” and ‘jehad’ were un-
qualifvingly condemned. Throughout the Punjab distur-
bances of 1919 they remained loyal.

In 1923 the Ahmadis began to come to notice promi -
nently in connection with their campaign to opposc the
spread of the ‘Shudhi’ movement. “Tabligh’ organizations
had existed for many years before, as for example, the
‘Anjuman-i-Ishaat-i-Ahmadiya’, Lahore, founded in 1906
by Mirza Ghulam Ahmed and the Anjuman-i-lshaat-i-1slam
of Qadian, but had not attracted much attention until oppo-
sition to the late Swami Shradhanand’s *Shudi’ work gave
the Ahmadis an opportunity which they were quick to seize
to pose as the champions of Islam and the antagonists of the -
Arya Samaj. This antagonism which dates from the murder
of Pandit Lekh Ram has subsequently become very bitter.

In 1924 Mirza Bashir-ud-Din Mahmud Ahmad visited
Europe with a party of 12 secretaries. The party visited
Rome, Paris, London and Venice. Reports were subsequently
received that the Mirza had been in touch with communists
and German nationalists, but there is no reason to regard
them as true. It is of interest to note that the Ahmadis are
much inferested in Russia as they believe in a prophecy
which promises them predominance in Moscow one day.,

The proselytizing zeal of the Ahmadis abroad has never
met with any serious opposition except in Afghanistan. .
In September, 1918, it was reported that the Ahmadiyya
movement was slowly but steadily spreading through Kabul
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and parts of Afghanistan. Information about the same time
showed that the Ahmadis as a whole were distinctly anti-
Afghan and that they were preaching that Afghanistan was
the ‘dar-ul-harb’ whereas India was "dar-us-salam’. This
attitude was no doubt due to the stoning of two Ahmadi
Maulvis a few years previously and to the general attitude of
repression adopted towards the Ahmadis by the then Amir of
Afghanistan. At the end of August, 1924, an Ahmadi mis-
sionary named Niamat Ullah Khan was stoned to death at
Kabul for heresy. His execution was denounced not only by
the Ahmadis in India but alsoby most of the orthodox Muslim
press.

In February, 1925, two Qadiani shopkeepers in Kabul were
also stoned to death for heresy. They had been convicted by
the ‘mullahs’ of heresy, and their sentences received the
approval of the Afghan official authorities as a Police
Superintendent and 15 Constables were present at the execu-
tton. Ahmadi meetings of protest were held throughout
India. and protests were also raised by the Ahmadis in
England. The sensation caused restrained the Amir as no
further executions took place. After these executions there
were rumours that the Ahmadis contemplated sending ‘jathas’
to Kabul to propagate the Ahmadi faith, but the proposal
never materialised. The relations of the Ahmadis with the
present King of Afghanistan appear to be cordial, for on the
occasion of his recent visit to England the Ahmadiya commu-
nity in England presented him with an address of wel-
come.(1)

In 1927 the Muhammadan agitation arising out of the
*Rangila Rasul’ case gave the Ahmadis another oppor
tunity of trying to reconcile themselves; with orthodox
Muhammadans and of championing Islam. Even before the
‘Rangila Rasul’ agitation the Lahore sect had gradually come
to be regarded as the spokesmen of Islam against the Arya
Samaj. Pamphlets issued in which it was stated that they did
not regard the Mirza of Qadian as their “Nabi’ and that any
one who did so was a ‘kafir’, but merely as a religious
reformer and guide, made it easier for the orthodox
Muhammadans to follow their lead. Orthodox opinion,

(1) Amnullah Khan
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particularly that of almost the whole of the educated class in
Lahore, veered strongly in their favour and in a short space
of time they became the leaders of Muslim opinion in Lahore.
During the *Rangila Rasul’ controversy the Lahore section
took a comparatively small part in the agitation. Its
members, however, were interested it the Muslim economic
boycott of Hindus and were un-doubtedly partly responsible
for the opening of Muslim shops in Lahore to cut out Hindu
shopkeepers. In August, 1927 the Lahore sect drew much
attention to itself by the issue of provocative communal
articlesin the *Light’ of August the 16th, one of its principal
organs. The leading articleentitled “Fight to the Finish” was
a practically undisguised incitement to violence, while other
articles were extremely offensive and calculated to spread
class hatred. The editor was presented under section 153-A,
1.P.C, and convicted.

The communal disturbances at Lahore in May, 1927,
and their sequels, the Muhammadan agitation arising .
out of the acquittal of the author of the ‘Rangila Rasul’ ",
pamphlet ridiculing the Prophet of Islam, the publication of

an even more scurrilous article entitled “A trip to Hell”

published in an Arya magazine, the Risala Vartman of
Awmritsar, the conviction of the editor and proprietor of the
Muslim Outlook for contempt of court in questioning the
integrity and impartiality of the High Court Judge who had
acquitted the author of ‘Rangila Rasul’ pamphlet and the
subsequent unjustified Muhammadan attack on the High
Court itself were all exploited by the Qadianis and made the
excuse for communal propaganda. Following the Lahore
riots, communal ill-feeling was still further intensified in
Lahore by the production of inflammatory posters bearing
the signatures of the Mirza of Qadian himself. At other
places posters were issued by the Mirza advising
Muhammadans to keep a ‘lathi’ by them even at prayer time.
Publicity, which would certainly not otherwise have been

- obtained, was ensured for the *Risala Vartman’ article by the

issue of an inflammatory poster by the Mirza, quoting at
length from it. This was proscribed as it gave undesirable
publicity to the article itself The genuine Muhammadan
apprchension aroused by the acquittal of the author of the
‘Rangila Rasul’ pamphlet lest the law as it stood was

1
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~powerless to punish malicious attacks on the founders of

religions was subordinated to a desire to seek revenge from
the community which had been responsible for attacks on the
Prophet, and possibly explained, though it did not justify, the
prominence given by the Ahmadis to such attacks.

Meanwhile the prosecution of the editor of the ‘Risala
Vartman ' and of the author of the article entitled “A trip to
Hell” had been ordered under section 153-A,L.P.C, and the
case was referred to a full bench of the High Court, This
action satisfied the more moderate and enlightened
Muhammadan community but the Qadianis and the
Khilafatists continued their attack on the High Court and
tried to establish a position as leaders of Muhammadan
opinion. Mutual jealousy and disagreement regarding the
resolutions to be proposed led to be abandonment of the joint
meetings which were to have been held in July to protest
against the conviction of the editor and proprietor of the
‘Muslim Outlook’ and the High Court judgment in the
‘Rangila Rasul’ case, but public mectings organized by the
Qadianis were held at Lahore and Amritsar at which these
protests were made in no uncertain language and at the same
time the propagation of ‘tabligh’ and the economic boycott
of Hindus were urged, while posters setting forth these points
and also demanding the dismissal of the High Court Judge
who had acquitted the accused in the ‘Rangila Rasul’ case,
the promulgation of an ordinance to provide for the punish-
ment of vilifiers of the Prophet and the appointment of a
Muhammadan judge to the High Court bench were widely
distributed in the Province.

During 1927 the Qadian Ahmadi’s were very conspicu -
ous and seized the many opportunities offered by the
communal unrest in the Province to pose as protagonists of
Islam. The indiscriminate condemnation of the Muhammadan
community over the assassination of Swami Shradhanand
and the widespread Hindu belief that the murder was the
result of a conspiracy aroused Muhammadan resentment and
not unnaturally provoked criticism of the views expressed. In

. February and March the Ahmadis of the Qadian branch held

a series of public lectures in Lahore on Islam and the
communal question. The proceedings were generally mod-
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erate, but there was at times strong criticism of the Arya
Samaj. Speaking at one of these meetings on March 1st,
Mirza Bashir-ud-Din Muhamud strongly condemned Arya
methods of propaganda and their abuse of the Prophet.

The most dangerous point in the Qadianis” propaganda
was undoubtedly the incitement to boycott the Hindus
economically and socially. Under the pretence of improving
Muslim economic conditions this bovcott movement was
sedulously preached in towns and villages and at first met
with considerablesuccess. The Ahmadis showed themselves
capable of well organized propaganda, but the natural eco-
nomic inter-dependence of Hindus and Muhammadans proved
too strong for the organizers of the movement which by
October had spentitsforce. 1tleftbehind it, however, a legacy
of ill-feeling in many places previously unaffected by com-
munal trouble.

In September, 1927 a “Unity Conference” of “all-India”
leaders was held at Simla to which Mirza Bashir-ud-Din
Mahmud submitted a memorandum embodying the demands
of his community. He claimed inter, alia,on the social and
religious sides perfect religious freedom for all communities,
non-interference in religious and social customs, liberty to
work for the economic betterment of Muhammadans, the
ostracism of vilifiers of any religion or its founder, while on
the political side he demanded the extension of Reforms to
the North-West Frontier Province, the conversion of Sind
and Baluchistan into one separate Province and the mainte-
nance of separate clectorates. The conference broke down
without effecting anything. The Mirza’s own opinions, on
the “cow and music” questions about this time were interest-
ing. He opposed any restriction on the social life of Muslims
by the prohibition of cow slaughter but expressed the opinion

- that cow slaughter should be confined to slaughter houses.

He did not consider the Muslims right in stopping music
before mosques.

As communal relations improved towards the end of

1927, the Ahmadis dropped unnoticed out of the pic -
ture. Inspite of all their vigorous championship of Islam and
attempts to improve the economic conditions of
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Muhammadans it is doubtful whether they have to any
appreciable extent won the sympathy and support of ortho-
dox Muhammadans. They have, however. undoubtedly
established the fact that in times of communal unrest they are
apowerful and well-organized community with considerable
initiative and a well developed system of propaganda.
Politically the Ahmadis remain supporters of Govern

ment. Neither section has taken any part in the agitation
against the Simon Commission, and the Qadianis have
openly co-operated with the Commission. Intheissueofthe
*Sunrise’ for December, 22nd, 1927, Mirza Bashir-ud-Din
Mahmud Ahmad advanced at great length many reasons
infavour of co-operation, and a deputation subsequently
visited the Commission in Lahore. The main points brought
forward were the safe-guarding of the rights of minorities,
the uplift of the untouchables, the maintenance of separate
electorates, the preservation of Muslim majorities in Prov-
inces where they exist at present, the extension of the
Reforms to the North-West Frontier Province, the constitu-
tion of Sind and Baluchistan as a separaie Province, perfect
religious freedom and the unrestricted right of the propaga-
tion of any religion. The demands were dictated by commu-
ralism but the development of the Ahmadiya faith depends
on communalism.

Apart from their communal activities the Lahore and
Qadian Ahmadis are a well-organized and financially
sound community with missions abroad and in India.
Founded in 1914 as the ‘Anjuman-i-Ishaat-i-lslam’ the
Lahore section is mainly financed by regular subscription
and by the sale-proceeds of religious books and has an annual
income of about three lakhs of rupees. These funds are
satisfactorily controlled, and there are capable secretaries in
charge of the various funds, such as the ‘tabligh’ fund, the
mission fund, the literature fund, the "zakat’ fund. the
buiidings and books funds. Of their missions abroad the
Woking misston is the best known and has made about 1,000
converts in England. The heads of the Weking mission are
Khawaja Kemal-ud-Din and M. Abdul Majid. There isalso
German mission which was established in 1922 by Mubarak
Ali and Sadar-ud-Din. The construction of a mosque was
delayed owing lo a umour that the Ahmadis were pro-British
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propagandists, but this rumour was subsequently dispeiled
and a large mosque has been recently erected in Berlin, The
mission has not yet achieved the success of the Woking
mission and can only claim about 100 converts. There are
other missions in Java, Burma, China and Singapore, Mau-
ritius, Durban, Trinidad, Finland and Poland. All these,
however, are as yet only in their infancy and can claim only
a few hundred converts. In India there are some sixty
branches in charge of properly trained workmen. A training
and propaganda institution was founded in 1926 where
students undergo a course of a study of comparative religions
and are trained for missionary work. Commercial and
philanthropic institutions-have not been forgotten. There are
inLahore a book depot, a mutual relieffund and co-operative
stores, while a guest house is maintained for missionaries
from abread. The Lahore party has several papers of which
the better known are ‘The Islamic Review’, the ‘Paigham-i-
Sulah’ and ‘The Islamic World’. The number of their
followers is difficult to estimate, but probably does not exceed
15,000. They are more pan-Isiamic in their views than the
Qadianis, but have never identified themselves prominently
with any political movement.

The affairs of the Qadian section are equally well regulated
and administered and are in charge of secretaries who direct
the missionary, educational, social and political activities of
the movement. The financial position of the section is
dependent on voluntary contributions and is very sound, the
accumulated balances amounting to some four lakhs of
rupees. Their missions abroad are not so numerous or
prosperous as those of the Lahore party, but they have a
mosque in England at Southfields and smaller missions with
a few hundred converts in the East and West Africa, Egypt,
Syria, Persia, Sumatra, Ceylon and in the United States of
America. There are under the general control of Mufti
Muhammed Sadiqand Abdur Rahim“Nayyer”. InIndia they

have missionaries at work in the Punjab, the United Prov-
inces, Sind, Bengal, Malabar, Bhopal, Behar and Kashmir.
Educational institutions have also received their attention,
and in addition to various institutions at Qadian itself they
have primary schools in the Gurdaspur, Sialkot, Gujral.
Thelum, Shahpur, Jullundur, Lyallpur and Hazara districts.
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There is a special missionary school at Qadian at which
students who have passed the Maulvi Fazal examination are
trained in missionary and propaganda work. The Qadian
party has several papers of which the A/-Fazal, the Sunrise,
the Nur, the Farug, the Misbah and the Ahmadiya Gazette are
the best known. The number of their followers was given in
the Punjab census report of 1921 as 28,856, but this appears
anunder-estimate and they probably number about 75,000.(1)

1928 and 1929 were quiet years. The Ahmadis tempo
rarily fell out of the picture and little was heard of them
till August, 1929, when the Ahmadis of Qadian came into
conflict with the Sikhs who demolished a kine slaughter
house constructed by the Ahmadis with the permission of the
district authorities. Slaughter of kine was subsequently
stopped by order in Ahmadi quarters at Qadian but the
incident was illustrative of the estranged feelings which
subsisted, and still subsist, between the Ahmadi and Sikh
communities.

The history of the Ahmadiyya sect from 1930 onwards

is the history of the orthodox Qadian section of the
community. The Lahore party, immersed in missionary
activities in and outside India, dropped entirely into political
insignificance. Only very occasionally did it come to notice
for its real, but carefully suppressed, hostility towards Mirza
Bashir-ud-Din Mahmud and the Qadian Ahmadis generally.
Public interest, for the next few years, was concentrated on
Qadian which became the storm centre of a grave religious
controversy, the full force of which has not yet spent itself.

It was in the yearl\%() that a party hostile to Mirza
Bashir-ud-Din Mahmut emerged at Qadian and started

a newspaper, called the “Mubahilla”, for the dissemination
of denunciatory propaganda against the Ahmadis. The paper
was owned and edited by Abdul Karim and his father Fazal
Karim, both of whom had seceded from the Ahmadiyya faith.
Infuriated by the anti-Ahmadi propaganda, an attempt was
made by an Ahmadi on the life of Abdul Karim but, by
mistake, another person, named Muhammad Hussain, was

(1) Report by E. W. C. Wace, Assistant to DIG Police,
CID Punjab Simla, 2nd June 1928.
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murdered on 23rd April. The publication of a series of
obscene articles in the “Mubahilla” ignited the first spark

which, fanned by Ahrar ingenuity and unscrupulousness,
developed into a general conflagration that, foratime, spread
all over the Central Punjab and proved a source of grave
anxiety to the administration. It is interesting to note that it
was from the dissensions among the Ahmadis themselves
that the bitter and long drawn-out Ahrar-Ahmadi contro-
versy arosc originally, This controversy took a religious as
well as a political form. The Ahrars attacked the Qadian
Ahmadis on two main issues. First, on the general question
oforthodoxy, and, sccond, ontheir treatment of non- Ahmadis
in Qadian. On the first issue, they succeeded in stirring to
new life the latent hostility to the Ahmadi sect which has
always been present in the breasts of almost all orthodox
Muslims. They were able fo quote (or, as the Ahmadis
claimed, to misquote) texts fron1 Ahmadi writings which
were extremely offensive to the orthodox, and they further
succeeded in creating the belief that the Ahmadis were a
grave menace to Islam. As a result, the Ahmadis had
practically no open sympathizers, outside their own sect,
among Muslims, and, although feeling did not become
generally acute against them among Muslims, it remained

- throughout the next few years capable of reaching very
‘dangerous heights ifany untoward incident had occurred. At
_“the same time, the previous communal activities of the
‘Ahmadis had naturally made them very unpopular with the

Hindus, especially in and around Qadian; while their long-
standing enmity with the Sikhs had been increased by ill-
timed attenipts to prove that Guru Napak was a Muslim. The
position was further complicated by the political arnbitions
of the Ahrars, who saw in the prevailing situation a good
opportunity for increasing the political strength of their
party. Their campaign was also profitable - a consideration
which appealed particularly to some of the Ahrars who were
taking part init. One of the most pronounced features of the
contest was the abuse of each party by the others, expressed
in sermons, speeches, pamphlets and newspaper articles. At
intervals, both sides drew breath and accused the Govern-
ment of partiality towards the other side. Such, in short, was
the general nature of the controversy that raged between the
Ahrars and Ahmadis from 1930 onwards and. at times,
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proved a serious menace to the public peace.

The first move in the game was made in 1931, when a
Mubahilla Conference was organized on the 19th and

20th October by the disaffected Ahmadis, instigated by the
Ahrars, with the object of enhancing the influence of the
Ahrar party among the Muslim community. This conference
exacerbated anti-Ahmadi feclings in several parts of the
province so that attempts were made to break up Ahmadi
meetings at Amritsar and elsewhere in November and only
Police intervention prevented a breach of the peace.

On 26th July, 1931, an All India Kashmir Committee _
was established with Mirza Mchmud as its head. The Ahrar
launcheda massive movement for the Kashmiri Muslims and
ultimately Mirza Mahmud resigned. (1)

For a time, the Ahmadis, realising possibly their weak
ness in numbers, did little to arouse the antipathy of the
orthodox Muslims and throughout 1932 and part of

1933, the Ahrars remained quiescent and confined their
activities to spasmodic denunciations of the Ahmadi sect on
the platform and in the press. On the 4th March, 1933, the
Working Committee of the Majlis-i-Ahrar metat Lahore and
adopted a number of resglﬁzms. The leaders, Ata Ullah
Shah Bukhari, Chgughri’ Afzal Haq and Habib-ur-Rehman
were present. It was-decided to push forward the campaign
against the Ahmadis by the formation of a new body, the
Dawat-o0-Arshad, the collection of funds for a newspaper and
the arganization of a volunteer corps of one hundred thou-
sand persons. Needless to say. these grandiose schemes did
not come to fruition, but it was clear that the Ahrars
henceforward meant business. Throughout the summer of
1933 Ahrar opinion against the Ahmadis became more and
more bitter, and on various occasions resolutions were passed
or suggestions made that Ahmadis should be expelled from
schools, colleges and all Muslim institutions, that they
should be subjected to social boycott and that they should not
be admitted to central or provincial Legislatures, Muncipal
Committees and other local bodies. 1t was in October of the

anti-Abhmadya
Campaign
(1932-33)

M)

Punjab CID Secret Report on Majlis --Ahrar, 1938
(NDC Islamabad) :



Qadiani
Militancy
((1934)

Tabligh
Conference
(1934)

{c)

xvii

sameyear that the Ahrarsconceived the plan of occupying the
building in which the “Mubahilla” newspaper was located
and using it as an office from which they could conduct an
anti-Ahmadi campaign. The Ahmadis, getting wind of this,
promptlY demolished the building and built latrines on the
site. They afterwards somewhat mitigated this action by
attaching small houses to the latrines, but the mischief was
done and from the winter of 1933-34 the Ahrar-Ahmadi
tension became more and more acute.

In the meantime, the general attitude of the Ahmadis at
Qadian was becoming distinctly militant and aggres-

sive. Reports received in 1934 indicated that there was a
marked tendency towards the exercise of autonomy and the
establishment of the imperium in imperio by the Ahmadiyya
community at Qadian. Some of its local manifestations were
the existence of -

a body of volunteers who were allowed to use arms for
musketry practice;

Ahmadiyya courtsknown as “ldara-i-Faujdari”. A document
purporting tobe a “summons” to a “defendant” in a Qadian
“Court” came tonotice. The termsused in thedocument were
analogous to those used in law courts in British India. It was
reported that people were sentenced to boycott if they of-
fended the Ahmadiyyas, that non-Ahmadis were brought
into these proceedings under pressure, that Mirza Bashir-ud-
Din Mahmud had “cstablished a parallel government” in -
Qadian by introducing the “Mahmudia Penal Code”, which
was openly contrary to British Laws, and that it was an
ordinary thing for Ahmadi “courts™ to cause a Qadiani to be
flogged or turned out of the city; and

the Siyasi Anjuman-i-Ahmadivya, apparently. a body inter-
ested in political welfare of the Ahmadis.

Stories of Ahmadi “rule” in Qadian turned the tide of
Muslim opinion against the sect and the Ahrars took full
advantage of the rising feelings of indignation to continue .
their anti-Ahmadi campaign with great vigour. A scurrilous,
pamphlet, entitled “Kia Mirza-i-Qadiani aurat thi ya mard” :



Xviii

Qadian and
the Punjab
Government
(1935)

by Inayatullah of Qadian had to be proscribed by Govern-
ment. A Committee, known as “Radd-i-Mirzait” was
formed at Amritsar in March to denounce the Ahmadis and
carry on propaganda against them. A tabligh conference was
staged by the Ahrars at Qadian in October with the object of
carrying the war into the enemy‘s camp. The conference
passed off peacefully but it was found necessary to prosecute
5. Ataullah Shah Bukhan under section 153-A, LP.C. in
respect of his speech at the conference on the 2 Ist October.
An Ahmadi Dr. Muhammad Ismail, who had attended the
Ahrar Conference in contravention of the orders of Mirza
Bashir-ud-Din Mahmud, was subjected to social boycott by
the Ahmadis. The Ahmadis vehemently protested against
the grant of permission to the Ahrars to hold their conference
at Qadian. Mirza Bashir-ud-Din Mahmud, who had sum-
moned a large number of Ahmadi volunteersto Qadianonthe
occasion of the conference, was served with an order under
section 3 of the Critninal Law Amendment Act, 1932,
directing himto cancel the summons. A storm of protests was
raised by the Ahmadis all over the world against the action
of the Government. Feelings continued to run high and
Ahmadi indignation was further intensified in November
when a young boy visited Qadian with the alleged intention
of attempting to murder the head of the Ahmadiyya commu-
nity, but wasarrested by the police and later jailed for one year
under section 109 of the Criminal Procedure Code.

The year 1935 was marked by a definite change in the
attitude of the Qadian Ahmadis towards the Govern-
ment. An indication of the change was given by the

head of the community in the course of a sermon on the 14th
January, when he observed that “until recently the Ahmadis
were on good terms with the English, but the rule of a nation
rested with Providence. Several English officers had shared
in the mischief done to the Jamait... He knew the troubles his
followers were undergoing under the present rule, but no law
could compel him to respect Government. However, for the
time being he wished his followers to abide by the law, but the
time would come when he would release them from this
restraint.”

At a meeting of the Ahmadis at Qadian on the 18th
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January. a resolution was passed requesting the head

of the community to permit the Ahmadis to organise a new
body to carry on “political” work. A week later, the Siyasi
Anjuman-i-Ahmadiyya changed itsname to National League
and announced that on¢ of its objects was to “teach courtesy
to the Government and its subjects”. Branches ofthe League
were opened at various places. Thereisreason to believe that
the League was intended to instigate the Muslims of other
countrics in the name of Islam and pan-Islamic principles
against the British Government through the preachers of the
community already in the field. In practice, the League bore
the same relation to the central Ahmadi authority as the
Shiromani Akali Dal to the Shiromani Gurdwara Parbandhak
Committee. Evidence of sympathy of the great majority of
orthodox Muslims in the Gurdaspur district with the Ahrars
was afforded the same day. when S. Ataullah Shah Bukhari
was proclaimed " Amir-i-Shariat” ata mammoth meeting at

Gurdaspur. The situation was further complicated by an
absured claim by the Ahmadis that Guru Nanak was a
Muslim which was naturally resented by the Sikhs. The
Ahmadis instead of recognizing the dangers in pursuing a

_course which could not but fail to alicnate the few friends that

they had and still further to embitter their enemies. Several
anti-Ahmadi pamphlets, including “KhanchvanNabi”, “Panj
Tan Pak” and “Hansi ka Gol Gappa™ appeared at this time
and were proscribed. Security was demanded from the
“Zamindar ", Lahore, and the Karimi Press, at which it was
printed. Warnings were administered to the “Sadaga:™ of
Gujrat and the “A/ Adal " of Gujranwala for publishing anti~
Ahmadi articles. '

The situation grew worse towards the end of January

1935, and events began to move rapidly: Atan
Ahmadiyya meeting at Qadian on the 23rd January, the
district officers and the police were abused by the crowd. The
meeting created a dangerous atmosphere and non-Ahmadis
were in considerable danger of violence. The tension between
the Sikhs and Ahmadis became acute on account of the
repeated assertions of the Ahmadis that Guru Nanak was a
Muslim and that the Sikhs ate beef. Orders were issued under
section 144 of the Criminal Procedure Code prohibiting
meetings or demonstrations within the smail town and
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revenue estate of Qadian. One of the chief difficulties in
dealing with the sitnation was the fact that the Ahmadis were
continuously supplying material which their enemies fully
used to inflame opinion against them. Obstruction was
raised about this time by the National League to the entry of
police or civil reporters into their meetings. Objectionable
and defamatory speeches were made at a meeting of the
National Leaguc on the 24th January in which complaints
were made aginst Government’s policy and the local police
at Qadian and against the District Magistrate.

About this time, Mirza Bashir-ud-Din Mahmud was
summoned to give “defence” evidence in the case

against S. Ataullah Shah Bukhar under Section 153-A,
[P.C. Necessary arrangements were made for his protection.
but on both the days on which he appeared as a witness he
brought with him for the purpose of demonstration about
2,000 Ahmadis by special trains. On the 25th April, S.
Ataullah Shah Bukhari was sentenced to six month’s rigor-
ous imprisonment. Soon afier, the Ahmadis alienated the
sympathies of all the other communities at Qadian by enclos-
inga large areaof common land, knownat the*Reti Chhela™
where public meetings were frequently held. Bricks were
thrown from the houses occupied by Ahmadis at a Hindu-
Sikh meeting held on aplot of land overlooked by those
houses. Complaints and counter-complaints were filed by
the various communities of alleged assaults by the Ahmadis
on Ahrars and Sikhs. Addresing a congregation at the
meeting held in connection with the death anniversary of the
founder of the Ahmadi secton the 26th May, Mirza Bashir-
ud-Din Mahmud delivered an intemperate speech asserting
that even their enemies adinitted that the Ahmadis were
masters in 'Qadian’ and proclaiming that the Ahmadis
would not rest until the Ahrars had been completely crushed.
On the 31st May, 1935, the police arrested Rozi Khan, an
Ahmadi fanatic of the Mianwali district, who declared that
he had been ordered by God Almighty to“punish” Inayatullah, -
an Abrar leader of Qadian. Rozi Khan was, however, later
certified as a lunatic.

On the 6th June, the Sessions Judge, Gurdaspur,
delivered judgement on the appeal filed by S. Ataullah
Shah Bukhari, held that the offence committed by Ataullah
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Shah Bukhari was only a technical one and reduced the
sentence to simple imprisonment till the rising of the court.
The judgment contained certain remarks critical of the
Ahmadis who raised a storm of protest against the Judge and
moved the High Court to expunge the remarks against
them.(Most of the remarks were expunged). Tension at
Qadian was further accentuated by the insistence of the two
parties on saying their prayers ogy disputed piece of land.

On the evening of the 8th July, Mian Sharif Ahmad, a
younger brother of the head of the Ahmadiyya commu..
nity, was attacked by a personarmed with a lathi. Hanif, alias
Hanifa, the assailant, was arrested and subsequently sen-
tenced to 9 months’ rigorous imprisonment. In October it
was reported that Dr. Gopi Chand Bhargava, Kidar Nath
Seghal and other Congress leaders were anxious toenlist the
Ahmadis, who were labouring under serious griecvances
against the Government, as members of the Congress for the
furtherance of anti-Government propaganda. The Ahmadis,
however, decided to carry on agitation against the Govern-
ment independently of the Congress.

In a rash moment, Mirza Bashir-ud-Din Mahmud chal~ .
lenged the Ahrars to a religious debate in which he

was  prepared to take a personal part. Mazhar Ali
Azhar, the Ahrar leader, accepted the challenge, but later the
Ahmadis tried to extricate themselves from the predicament
in which the challenge had placed them by claiming that the
conditions of the “Mubahilla” had not been properly settled
by the Ahrar leaders. Defiant speeches, however, continued
to be made from Ahmadi platforms making it clear that the
passive attitude adopted by the Ahmadis during the previous
year’s Ahrar conference would not be repeated. In the
circumstances, in the month of November, the District
Magistrate, Gurdaspur, found it necessary to promulgate
orders under section 144 of the Code of Criminal Procedure
directing the Secretary of the Qadian branch of the Majlis-i-
Ahrar to abstain from convening or attending any meeting,
debate or discussion at Qadian. Orders under section 3 of the
Punjab Criminal Law (Amendment} Act, 1932, were served
on a number of Ahrar leaders directing that they shouid not
enter, reside or remain within the district of Gurdaspur, or

|
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take part in organizing any gathering of adherents of the
Majlis-i-Ahrar to be held at any place within a radius of 8
miles of the town of Qadian. A few Ahrar leaders, including
S. Ataullah Shah Bukhari, Bashir Ahmad of Alipur,
Muhammad Qasim Shahjahanpuri, Ghuylam Nabi Janbaz
and Qazi lhsan Ahmad defied the orders and were sentenced
tgjo_ur months’ imprisonment in December.

The high water-mark of Ahrar-Ahmadi tension was
reached in 1935.The situation became less tense in
1936, but there was no real diminution of acerbity and mutual
recrimina-tions. In January, picketers were posted by the
Ahmadis at the entrances to the “Reti Chhela” at Qadian and
action had to be taken under section 107/151 of the Criminal
Procedure Code to prevent a breach of the peace. The
appearance of an Ahrar publication, entitled the “Mazhabi
Daku”, caused considerable resentment among the
Ahmadiyya community and the pamphlet was proscribed by
Government. Propaganda against the Ahmadi community
was intensified during March and resolutions were passed
that no Ahmadis would be given burial in a Muhammadan
graveyard. The atmosphere at Qadian in May was less
strained, but at the Ahrar Tabligh Conference at Pathankot
the same month, Pir Faiz-ul-Hassan Shah declared that any
claimant to Prophethood or the Khilafat after the Prophet of
Islam was liable to assdssination.

A few days later, at a meeting of the National League,
Shaikh Bashir Ahmad announced that it was cssential
for the Ahmadis to take an active part in the political life of
the country. With this objectin view, hesaid, the Ahmadiyya
Jamait would be prepared to co-operate with Jawahar Lal
Nehru if a suitable programme could be prepared. Under
instructions issued by the National League, some Ahmadi
voluntecrs participated in the reception accorded to Pandit
Jawahar Lal on his visit to Lahore in May-June, 1936.

Early in 1937 there was trouble at Batala in the Gurdaspur
district over the burial of an Ahmadi in a Muslitm
graveyard and the local police had to intervence to
maintain the peace. Under instructions from Haji Abdul
Ghani, the local Ahrar leader, sign-boards were affixed at
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gravevards forbidding the burial of Ahmadis, while the
Ahmadis engraved names on tomb-stones so as to be able to
produce proof of burial should-the dispute be taken to a court
of law. 1n March the Ahrars affixed notices at the local
mosques at Batala prohibiting the entry of Ahmadis.

A serious dispute occurred over the burial of Ahmadi children

in the old Muslim graveyard at Qadian on the 16th June,
when a non-Ahmadi was soundly beaten by the Ahmadis
before being rescued by the Police. Nincteen Ahmadis were
subsequently prosecutted under section 326/147 of the In-
dian Penal Code and eleven of them were sentenced to
payment of fine. A month later, a party of Ahrars attempted
to prevent the burial of another Ahmadi in a Muslim cem-
etery in the suburbs of Amritsar.

In June, the relations between the Sikhs and Ahmadis
became still further strained as the result of the mort -
gage to the Ahmadis of certain property attached to the
Dharamsala by the Pujari of Dharmsala Udasian at Qadian.
The Pujari fled after making over the building to the Ahmadis
but the Sikhs brought two priests from Amritsar who broke

~ open the locks and took possession of the place. The

Ahmadis, wisely, dissolved the mortgage, but ili-feelings
between the Sikhs and Ahmadis were revived soon after-
wards as a result of the publication of an Ahmadi poster
hecaded “Hazrat Baba Nanak Sahib Rahmatullah Alaih Ka
Din Dharam” claiming that Guru Nanak was a Muslim,

Serious dissentions broke out in the Ahinadi commu-

nity in June, 1937. Two disaffected Ahmadis, Fakhr-ud-
Din Multani and Abdul Rehman Misri, published posters
containing serious allegations against the personal char—
acter of the head of the Ahmadiyya community and Abdur
Rehman Misri, who was the Headmaster of the Ahmadi
School of religious teachings, started a rival organization
called the “Majlis-i-Ahmadiyya Qadian”, with himself as
President and Fakhr-ud-Din Multani as Secretary. The La-
hore Ahmadi Party, the Arya Samajists, and the Ahrass all
took sides with the secessionists. The two rebels were
excommunicated and threats of violence were held out
against them by Mirza Bashir-ud-Din Mahmud in his
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speeches. The threats led an Ahmadi fanatic to stab Fakhr-
ud-Din Multani and another Ahmadi secessionist on the 7th

August. Fakhr-ud-Din died of his injuries a week afterwards.

His assailant was arrested and sentenced to death by the High
Courtearlyin thefollowing year. Security proceedings under
section 107 of the Criminal Procedure Code were taken
against several prominent Ahmadis, including Khan Sahib
Farzand Ali, an important member of the Ahmadi hierarchy,
who was, however, subsequently acquitted by Court. In
September, a report was made to the Police that a boy servant
of Mirza Bashir-ud-Din Mahmud had been told by the
disaffected Ahmadis to poison Mirza Bashir-ud-Din on
promise of payment of a small reward. On enquiry the matter
proved to be false. Following the auditing of the “Bait-ul-
Mal” accounts of Qadian, a report was lodged that Abdul
Rehman Misri has been guilty of defalcations during his
tenure of the Headmastership of the Ahmadiyya School.
(This case failed in court in May, 1938.) About this time a
number of complaints was made by the Qadian Branch of the
Ahmadi community on the one side and the Lahore branch
on the other, charging each other with the publication of
provocative articles in the press and thereby creating a
situation likely to result in the commission of violent crime.
The “Al Fazal” and “Paigham-i-Sulah”, the respective or-
gans of the parties, were warned to desist from publishing
objectionable matter on pain of legal action. In December,
efforts were made by the Ahrars and excommunicated
Ahmadis of Qadian to create trouble by publishing posters
demanding an open enquiry into certain allegations against
Mirza Bashir-ud-Din Mahmud. Five pamplets entitled,
“Ahmadi Arbab Ki Khidmat men ajzana guzarish aur faisla
ke asan tariq”, “Bara Bol”, “Janab Khalifa Sahib Ke dono
pesh karda tariq faisla manzur”,” Azal-i-Khalifa” and “Kiya
tamam Khalife Khuda hi banata hai?”, which were circulated
at this time, were found to be objectionable. The printer of
the first poster was warned and of the remaining four
pamphlets wasfined. Internal dissensions among the Ahmadis
continued., Strict disciplinary action was taken by Mirza
Bashir-ud-Din Mahmud against the dissentients, who were
invariably excommunicated and subjected to rigid surveil-
lance by Ahmadi volunteers. Altogether nineteen Ahmiadis
had been excommunicated by the end of September, 1938.
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Minor incidents continued to take place during 1938. In
February, Haji Abdul Ghani, President of the Majlis-i-
Ahrar, Batala, died in suspicious circumstances of a wound
on the head, and it was falsely alleged that he had been
murdered by the Ahmadis for his anti-Ahmadi activities.
Actually, the Haji had sustained fatal injuries after attending
adrunken dinner. The case remained untraced. A pamphlet
entitled “Yad-i-Raftgan”, Is said to have been published by
the Ahrars in this connection, was proscribed by the Govern-
ment. A numberof Ahmadis interfered in theburial of a non-
Ahmadi in the common graveyard in March when the police
had to intervene to restore order. In June, the Ahmadis
attempted to revive theagitation inconnection with the Idgah
at Qadian, which they claimed to be their exclusive property.
Special police precautions had to be taken {o prevent a breach
of the peace. In August at Batala, Hara, a lad of sixteen,
narrated how he had been unsuccessfully trying to kill Mirza
Sahib for the past three months, but the story was probably
false. The same month a fight took place between four
Ahmadis and thre¢ Ahrars of Qadian as the result of a minor
quarrel between little boys. The police had to intervene to
prevent another confilict between the Ahmadis and Ahrars
in September, when about 350 Ahmadis under the order of
their leaders decided to put up a camp on the Idgah and level
the ground. During the year the Ahrars showed little signs of
renouncing their hatred of the Ahmadis but their political
credit was low and they were, therefore, unable to do much
more than give occasional vent to their feelings by declaring
at public meetings that the Ahmadis were outside the pale of
the Musiim community. '

In the long conflict between the Ahmadis and their oppo-
nents, it must be admitted that the Ahmadis came out with
remarkably little immediate damage to themselves. This was
primarily due to the extremely well-regulated and efficient
administration of Ahmadi affairs at Qadian. The machinery
set up by Mirza Bashir-ud-Din Mahmud and his predeces-
sors stood the strain extraordinarily well. But on a long-range
view, the Ahmadis must be considered to have lost in prestige
and materially impaired the future prospects of their mission-
ary work. Some time must elapse beforethe Ahmadis are able
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to rehabilitate themselves in the eyes of the general public
and to take up once again their proselytizing activities - the
most important Ahmadi objective - with the same zeal and
success which has charactized those activities in the past.

The present organization of the Qadian section of the
Ahmadis may be¢ noticed briefly. The controlling author
ity of the movement is the Khatifa, who is, in theory,
elected and holds office for life. The principal instrument of
his authority is a central organization, known as the Sadr
Anjuman-i-Ahmadiyya, which is a registered body. The
Anjuman is divided into a number of departments, ¢ach
under the direct control of one or more Nazirs or Secretaries.
Atpresent (1938), there are nine important departments, viz,
Amur-i-Ama, Bait-ul-Mal, Dawat-o-Tabligh, Talif-0-Tasnif,
Talim-o-Tarbiyyat, Ziafat, Jaidad, Jama-i-Ahmadiyya wa
Magqbara Bahishti and the National League. These Depart-
ments are under the respective charge of Syed Zain-ul-
Abdin, K.S, Farzand Ali, M. Abdul Mughni, M. Sher Alj,
Mirza Bashir Ahmad, Mir Muhammad Ishaq, Mirza
Muhammad Ashraf, M. Sarwar Shah and Shaikh Bashir
Ahmad. Besides the central departments, there is a number
of other institutions under the general control of the secretar-
ies. The annual budget of the Sadr Anjuman-i-Ahmadiyya
is approximatelytwelve lakhs of rupees. In addition, the
Anjuman has a “Rescrve Fund” amounting to Rs.25,00,000
and it is at present raising a Khilafat Jubilee Fund of
Rs.3,00,000 which will be utilized incelebrating the comple-
tion of twenty-five years of the regime of Mirza Bashir-ud-
Din Mahmud in March, 1939, Qutside India, the Ahmadis
have twenty-two missionary centres in London, Rome, Bei-
grade, Budapest, Chicago, Buenos Aires, Lagos (South
Nigeria), Gold Coast Colony, Mauritius, Nairobi, Egypt,
Sierra Leone, Kobe, Painun (Australia), Sumatra, Java,
Ceylon Rangoon, Singapore and Hong Kong. In India, there
are about 1,000 Ahmadiyya Anjumans of which 536 are
located in the Punjab, 50 in Patiala and Kashmir States, 7 in
Mysore, 4 in Hyderabad(Deccan), 35 in Orissa, 28 in
Baluchistan, 9 in the United Provinces, 7 in Bombay, and 6
in the Madras Presidency. The Ahmadis claim a member-
ship of approximately fifteen lakhs of persons throughout the
World. The Ahmadi papers and periodicals published in
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India are the “4/ Fazal”, the “Farug”, the “Nur”, the “Al-
Hakam ", the “Misbah”, the “Review of Religions” and the
“Sunrise”. Foreign publications include a Chicago edition
of the “Sunrise”, the “Muslim Times” (London). the “A4/-
bushra” (Egypt), the “Message ” the “Dotan " (Ceylon) and
“Al-Istam” (Java). ’

The organization and general position of the Lahore Party is
comparatively less strong. The head of the party at present
(1938) is Maulvi Muhammad Ali (who, in theory, does not
hold office for life but is clected every year) and he is assisted
by a general secretary, a financial secretary and an executive
council, Mirza Mahmud Beg and Maulvi Aziz Bakhsh are at
present working as secretaries and the executive committee
includes Maulvi Sadr-ud-Din, the famous Ahmadi mission-
ary. The annual budget of the Anjuman-i-Ishaat-i-islam,
Lahore, isabout two lakhs of rupees and its existing member-
ship does not exceed 5,000 persons. The Anjuman has a
number of branches in India and six missioinary centres in
London, Berlin, Java, Fiji, and West Africa. It publishes the
“Paigham-i-Sulah”, the “Light”, the “Young Islam”, and
the “Isfamic World” in this country and the “/slam Review "

- and the “ Woking Mus{im Mission Gazette” in England. The

Lahore Party is also collecting a Jubilee Fund to celebrate
next year the completion of twenty-five vears of the establish-
ment of the Anjuman-i-ishaat Islam, Lahore since its seces-
sion from the Qadian Party. (1) )

Unqualified suppoﬁ was extended during the Second
World War in India and abroad by Qadiani and Lahore
Jamals to Allies.

Dubious policy towards Muslim League. Mirza
Mahmud remained a protagonist of Akhund Bharat-United
India. -

'

(1)  Secret Report of the Pun]ab CID
Lahore, 15 Oct. 1938,
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Mirza Mahmud Ahmad seemed to stick to Qadian

against heavy odds. He advised his followers that

after evacuating their women folk they would return to
Qadian.

Ahmadis Voluneers were activated for protection
of Qadian.

Ahmadis aspired to succeed the Britshers and to
retain Qadian as a buffer state between India and
Pakistan in collaboration with Akali leadership.

Mirza Mahmud Ahmad fled to Pakistan in 1947. He

took keen interest in politics and was eager to get

abase in Pakistan. Zafarullah represented Pakistan in the UN
on Palestine and Kashmir issues as Foreign Minister.

Qadiani involvement in palace intrigues resulted in
an anti-Qadiani movement. Martial Law was
clamped on the Punjab. The Tehrik was crushed.

Qadiani Community flourished in Pakistan and
abroad during the Ayab regime, It was a Victorian rule for
them. M.M. Ahmed became a powerful bureaucrat.

Qadianis were involved in some overt and covert operations
during the Indo-Pak War. They aspired to get back Qadian.

Mirza Nasir Ahmad became the Third head of the

community inl965. During his leadership
Qadianyat spread its tentacles in Pakistan
and abroad specially in Africa.

Ahmadis collaborated with the Pakistan Peoples
Party to help it win elections. Role of M.M. Ahmed
in East Pakistan crisis (1971) was strongly criti-cised.

1. Events relating to 1939-1947 are based on following main sources;
i} Mansergh, Transfer of Power Documents

i) India Office Records London (India-The War Series)

iii} Quaid-i-Azam Papers, The National Archives of Pakistan Islamabad.
iv) Punjab Police Secret Reports 1941-47. (N.D.C Islamabad )
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Qadianis were declared a non-Muslim minority by

the Senate and the National Assembly of Pakistan in Sep.
(1974) through a unanimous resolution. Credit goes to the
late Z.A. Bhutto Prime Minister of Pakistan for his bold
efforts to solve this %0-year old problem.

Mirza Tahir Ahmad became the fourth head of the commu
nity after the death of Mirza Nasir Ahmad in June 1982),

During Zia's Martial Law Anti Qadianis movement gained
momeitum. In April 1984 Zia's regime issued Ordinance
XX of 1984 1o curb anti -state Qadiani activities. Mirza Tahir
Ahmad fled to London

In 1989 Mirza Tahir announced to celebrate _
Cenetenary celebrations after his vicious Mubahila
campaign (1988) which ended im fiasco.

Supreme Court of Pakistan rejected Qadiani appeal against
ordinance XX {July 1993.)



i 1
AN OUTGROWTH OF
IMPERIALISM

The British Imperialism brought many countries of Africa and Asia under
its sway in the 19th century. One significant aspect of the growth of colonization was
its sinister collaboration with militant Jewish nationalism. Jews had been drifting into
England since the days of Crowmwell who wanted to bring back those Jews who had
been expelled from England in 1290 by Edward 1 with a view to obtaining economic
advantage for Englzmd.1 During the French campaign in Palestine in 1788, Napoleon
recruited Jews from Asian and African countries into his army. He advanced the idea
of setting up a Jewish Kingdom in Jerusalem under France’s acgis mainly for strategic
consideration 2

By 1839, Jewish restoration in the Holy Land was a burning topic. Popular
interest had become so intense that the General Assembly of the Church of Scotland,
after sending a special commission to the Holy Land to report on conditions there,
addressed 4 Memorandum to the Protestant Monarchs of Europe on the Subject of
Restoration of the Jewish People to the Land of Palestine. From this date onwards a
pro-Jewish Palestinian debate ran parallel in theLondon Times with the agitation over
the Eastern qun:stion.3

Liberal Englishmen continued to raise their voices in favour of Jews. A bill
removing discrimination against them was passed in the House of Commons on certain
occasions (1833, 1834, 1836) which failed in the House of Lords. Nevertheless, an act
was passed permitting them to hold the local office of Sheriff. David Solomons was
elected Sherill of London in 1853, and two years later Moses Montefoire was elected
to the same office, whereupon Queen Victeria Kinghted him. In 1858, a bill was passed
which permitted Jews to enter the British Parliament.* .

The Jewish idea was propagated by varied agencies' based in America and
other parts of Europe. Among them were the Furturist, Anglo-Israelites and
Freemasons. They worked under different covers for the Jewish cause and influenced
the public opinion in a discreet manner. Futurists supported the return of scattered
Jews to Palestine on the basis of certain Biblical prophecies. Protestant theology, in
particular, rested on the belief that the world of mankind was evolving towards a
millennium in which holiness was to be triumphant everywhere, and that a primary
pre-requisite to this happy eventuality was the ‘return of God’s Chosen People, the
Jews, to the Holy Land.” That Christ would return, sit on David's literal throne in old
-Jerusalem and rule over his peculiar people who would accepi him as their Messiah.
The magnificent Temple of Ezekiel’s Vision would be built' on the ancient Temple

Galina Nikitina, The State of Israel, Moscow, 1973 P15

ibid

Willlam B.ZH#l, The Rape of Palestine, London, 1848 P.14

Solomen Gru-l A History of the Jews, The Jewish Publication Soclety of Am-rlcu Phlladolphia 1969, P. 59

AWM



An Qutgrowth Of Imperialism 2
now occupied by the Mosque of Omer (Al Agsa Mosque) and the ceremonies of
ancient Judaism would be resumed.

Supporting their position with direct quotations from Biblical prophecy, a
large group of earnest men, divines, statesmen and writers set themselves to be the
instruments to achieve the desired Jewish end.!

Connected with the destiny of the Jews is the theory of so called Lost Ten
Tribes’ ol Israel. It was said to be a sharp reaction to the ideas of a few western liberals
and ‘Assimilationists’ who denied the existence of a Jewish nation altogether. How-
ever, in the wake of the irresistible liberal sweep which was supposed to de-Judaize
the Jews, Anglo-Israelism was responsible to give a big momentum to Judaizing
process.2

Most prominent among those who claimed that the ‘fost” Tribes were the
British or Anglo-Israelites of England and Canada were the members of Anglo
American Federation. It was argued that the British Commonwealth of nations were
descended from the ten tribes of [srael, that Americans were the seed of Manasseh,
while Englishmen were the seed of Ephraim, that the United States of America and
Canada were peopled with the Covenant people; that the Angle Saxon peoples were
the descendants of the northern tribes of [srael and were in possession of all blessings
promised to Israel in the latter days; that the Davidic Kingdom was transferred from
Palestine to Great Britain, that David’s throne was promised in perpetuity by God
and that a world state would emerge under the House of David in the days to come.?

Every attitude of the aggressive young Imperialism which the Anglo-Saxon
was erecting became tinctured with Hebrew philosophy. So completely was it absorbed
that a large section of the English people began to look upon themselves as being
actually descended [rom Israclites. This conviction on the part of a large part of the
British public became so great that it resulted in the forming of British Israel World
Federation, at one time claiming over [ive million members, and including such
eminent personages as Queen Victoria and King Edward vir?

Freemasonry played a crucial role in the furtherance of Jewish cause in the
garb of secrecy. The Jewish penetration into the European secret societies ran parallel
to the growth of Freemasonry. The building of the Solomon Temple symbolized the
Jewish retuen to Palestine. A large number of statesmen, politicians, civil and military
officials, diplomats and traders gathered in masonic lodges of different secret rites
and denominations to hatch pro-Jewish plots. Masonic temples were erected in almost
all important cities of the US, Britain, France and Italy. In India, Freemasonry took
roots in Bengal and spread rapidly in its other parts long before the War of
Independence of 18577

J.C. Stevens, Palastine in Prophecy, Tha Voice of Prophecy, California, USA 1944, P.6
W.8B, Zifl, op. cit. P33

J.C. Stevens, op. cit. P.71.

W.B. Zit, op. cit. P.34

A.F. Gould, History of Freemasonry, London
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Freemasons and Jews dirccted most of their plots against the solidarity of
the Turkish Empire. Masons of higher deprees [ound native agents to launch subver-
sive activities under the cover of secret socicties, Disraeli, a Jew by birth who became
the Prime Minister of Britain in 1877, made a reference to the working of the secret
societies and their clandestine operations in some parts of the world. These societies
functioned in and cutside the Ottoman Empire and were mostly based in Geneva,
Paris, London, Brussels, and after the British occupation of Egypt in 1882, in Cairo.
They encouraged militant nationalism and propagated idcas of secession of Arablands
from the Turkish ‘domination.’

George Antonius says that the first organized attempt to introduce
nationalist ideas was made by five young men who had becn educated at the Syrian
Protestant College in Beirut. They were all Christians. Around 1875, a secret society
was formed and a movement was started in collaboration with the Freemasonry which
had been making inreads in Syrian socicty on the typical European pattcrn.1

Jewish-backed agencies and secret societies channelled their efforts for the
revival of Judaism and restoration of scattered Jews to Palestine. They attacked the
Christian dogmas in the wildest manner. Christian missionaries were severely con-
demned and their activities ridiculed. The philosophical ideas of Jewish mysticism and
theories forwarded by Jewish scholars were given much publicity. Islam posed a direct
challenge to Jewish militancy. A tirade against Islam was immediately launched to
loosen its hold and check its spread and growth.

Agents of Jewish agencies hired natives to corrupt fundamental religious
beliefs and to start movements in the name of revivalism. Muslims of the world looked
to some of these ‘revivalist’ movements as rays of hope without realizing the harm
they could do through their secret workings. They welcomed the new ideas of
rattonalism, nationalism and modernism without examining their implications for the
world of Islam. ’

Jewish nationalism spread widely in 1850s. At the close of 19th century and
with the publication of Theoder Herzle's book, the fewish State and the subsequent
Basle Congress of 1897, Zionism became international movement of the Jews aimed
to capture Palestine as their homeland.

On Indian Soil : India had a great political and economic significance for the British
Imperialism. It is an interesting subject to examine the Jewish activities on the soil of
India. Many civil servants, diplomats, military officials and traders espoused the
Zionist cause in early 20th century in order to strengthen the British Empire and to
secure dismemberment of the Ottoman Empire. Collaboration with the Zionists was
the salient trait of the British foreign policy. The London based Anglo-Jewish Associa-
tion protected the Jewish interests in Britain and its celonies and it did all times receive

1. George Antanius, The Arab Awakening, London, 1863, P. 78
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-‘the most ready and cordial cooperation from the British Foreign Office, quite
irrespective of party politics of the British Government in office and extended full
support to Jews”

We find some mysterious links between Zionism and certain movements
that arose in Asia and the Middle East in the name of religious revivalism. The
Ahmadya of India and Bahaism of Iran, Freemasonry and Theosophist movements
had links with secret Jewish agencies. Masonic and Theosophist institutions were
established in the USA, Britain and its colonies mainly by the Jewish agents. Colonel
Olcott, a freemason of questionable past, was imprisoned in America for circulating
immoral literature, came to India in 1879 with Madam Blavatsky, the widow of a
Russian general, behind whom there also lay an eventful and dubious past. They
preached atheistic ideas of Buddhism and established a centre of Theosophy in
Madras. In their periodical, the ‘Theosophist’, they praised Buddhism and Hinduism
and forcefully condemned Christianity and Christian missionaries. They left for
Europe in 1884 after establishing a strong movement in India. At somepoint while
traveling through Switzerland, Germany and Italy, Blavatsky offered her services to
the Russian Secret Service, but they did not accept it? She was a freemason of 32
degree and was held in high esteem in masonic circles. Her book Isis Unveiled is
considered an excellent masonic work. Her close associate Annie Besant, famous for
Home Rule movement in India, was also an eminent freemason.

Pan lslamic movement of the 19th century owes much to Syed Jamaluddin
Afghani. The Persian Revolution (1905), Young Turks movement of Turkey (1908)
and some Egyptian national movements were influenced and inspired by him and his
" followers. Afghani was a freemason. He used this Jewish institution for propagation
of his political beliefs. Mufti Abdu was also a freemason and a confidant of Lord
Crommer of Egypt. Afghani was expelled from the Masonic LodgeStar of East for his
political activities and showing disregard to its secret fum:tioning.3

Babism and Bahaism of Iran are strongly pro-Jewish movements. Abdul
Baha, in a lecture at a meeting of the Society of Friends, London on 12 January, 1913
traced the origin of Bahaism to Illuminate, a torch bearer of masonry, founded in
Germany in the 18th century. Bahaism worked openly against Islam. Its followers
established close relations with Zionists. Bahaullah predicted the return of Jews to
Israel in his utterances and revelations. The movement has a powerful base in Israel.
After the Iranian Revolution (1979), Bahais have been shifting their centres from Iran
to Pakistan.

Bahaism sprang from Shia Iran and Qadianism or Ahmadya movement from
Sunni India. The origin, growth and religious and political ideas of Qadianism clearly
show that its birth was the result of an Imperialist-Zionist conspiracy. Its founder

1. Jewish En opodln Vol {, KTV Publishing House, USA P. 60
2. . Danlel G Kurska, Notes on Inside The Geeult: Th-Tm. SlordeP Blavatuky, Philadelphia, USA 1875 P.5
3 Elie Kpdourie, Afghani and Abdu, Newyork, USA, 1968, P
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condemns Christianity, declares Jehad abrogated for all time to come, distorts Islamic
beliefs and above all declares 900 miltion Muslims of the world as Kafirs (non believers)
and thus outside the pale of Islam. He claims to be a Mujaddid (reformer), Promised
Messiah, Mahdi, Nabi and Rasul (Prophet) and even Lord Krishna. He preached
extreme loyalty for the British Imperialism and incorporated it as an article of faith

in his religious creed.

Indian Political Scene : The British predominated the whole of Indian sub-continent
after the fateful War of Independence in 1857. One significant aspect of the War was
the role, the ulema played in organizing resistance against the British aggressors. The
Wahabi movement of Syed Ahmad Shahid did not end after the battle of Balakot. The
surviving freedom fighters kept the Hills (N-W of India) as their bases of operation to
launch Jehad against the British rule. Many crushing defeats were inflicted on the
British troops, the most important of which was the battle of Ambela in 1863. The
mujahidin showed an amazing gallantry and magnificent courage against the British
troops.

Baulked on the Frontier, the British attempted to destroy the organization
of mujahidin in India, believing that it was the transmission of men and supplies via
the underground that posed the threat on the Frontier. In a series of trials at Ambala
and Patna in 1864 and 1865 respectively, a dozen of most active mujahidin were
condemned to various terms of transportation to the Andaman Isiands on the charges
of conspiring to wage war against the Queen. There was a further wave of arrests in
1868, 1870, and 1871 and trials took place at Rajmahal, Malda, and Patna respectively
at which further sentences of transportation to the Andaman Istands were pass'ed.l
Alfter a series of ruthless persecutions and intense police investigations, the supply
organization of the freedom fighters was destroyed.

Hunter Report : On 20 September, 1871 Chief Justice Norman of the Calcutta High
Court was killed by a Punjabi Muslim, Abdullah. Lord Mayo’s Papers show that he
was indirectly influenced by Wahabi ideas and had studied in a mosque known as a
centre of Wahabi teaching. Justice Norman was very harsh to the mujahidin. He
dismissed appeals against detention under Regulation ITI of 1818 and was also against
to hear appeals against the recent convictions at Patna trials?

The British turned fiercely on Muslims as their real enemies and used al!
harsh methods to put an end to the Jehad movement which "seditious Wahabis" had
launched in India® On 30 May, 1871 Lord Mayo, who had been an Irish Secretary in
Disraeli’s Ministry, asked a civilian, W.W.Hunter to write a report on the burning
question of the day: Whether the Indian Muslims were compelled by their faith to rebel

The Moslim World, Vol. il No.2, April, 1812, P.78

Letter from Sir George Campbell to Lord Mayo of 12 October, 1871 and dix 2 to Memo by A R Gile of 30
Novemnber, 1871 Bundie Wahabis No.28 ol M%o Papers, ﬂ':arnbridge Invereity Library, Loridon—quoted in
P.Hardy— The Muslim of Britlsh Indla, Camb, 18

A No. 317 of Lettars Daspatched October—Decambaer 1871, No. 41 of Mayo Fapers, Also Bundis Wahabis i, No,
26 of Mayo Papers op. cit.
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against the British rute.! Hunter was given full access to secret official papers for
compilation of his report.

Hunter published his report in 1871 under the title The Indian Musalamans:
Are they bound in conscience to rebel against the Queen? He discussed the teachings
of Islam specially the concept of Jehad, advent of Mahdi and Messiah, problems
relating to Jehad movement, the Wahabi concepts and then concluded :

‘The present generation of Musalmans are bound according to their own
texts to accept the status quo , but ‘the law and the prophets can be utilized
on the side of loyalty as well as on the side of sedition’, and the Musaimans

of India are, and have been, for many years, a source of chronic danger to the

British Power in India and no one can predict the propaosition to which this

Rebet Camp (i.e. on the N-W Frontier) backed by the Muslim horde from
the Westward, might attain under a leader who knows how to wield together

the nations of Asia in a crescentado.’

He further adds :

‘It was hopeless to look for anything like enthusiastic loyalty from our
Muhammaden subjects. The whole Koran was based upon the conception
of the Musalmans as a conquering and not as a conquered people. The
Musalmans of India could always be a source of chronic danger to the British
power in India.?

Rekgious Militancy : Taking advantage of the socalled neutrality of the British in the
propagation of religious beliefs as enunciated in the Queen’s Proclamation (1858),
many religious adventurers came out in the religious® market’ of India with their
‘products.” The Imperialist’s own planﬁﬁﬁiﬁ'wére the Christian missionaries engaged
since long in the tricky game of evangelizing the ‘heathens of India” Among Hindu
militant organizations, Arya 'Samaj, Brahmo Samaj and Devsamaj put forth their
ambitious programmes of revivalism. The Sikhs, Jains, Parsees and Buddhists were
comparatively less enthusiastic in propagation of their beliefs. There were also
FreeThinkers and Atheists who condemned religions and advocated the formation of
a free society.

Among Muslims many sects and sub-sects sprang. There were Naturists,
Ahli Hadith, Ahle Quran (Chakralwis), pacifist sufis, besides two larger Shia and Sunni
groups. The whole Indian society was divided into a large number of hostile groups
all of whom were bitterly at war with each other. It helped the Imperialists to maintain
their hold on Indian sub-continent. '

The Hindu militant organization Arya Samaj was founded in 1875 by Mul
Shankar, known by his Brahamnical name Swami Dayanand. He was a fanatic Hindu
and wandering teacher of militant Hinduism in North India. He condemned idol

1. W.H,Skrine, Lite of Sir Willlam Witson Hunter, London, 1801, P.189
2. WM. Hunfer, The indien Musalmans, The Comrade Fublishers Calcutta, 1845
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worship, child marriage, untouchability and some of the practices of orthodox Hin-
duism in the name of modern enlightenment and preached what he considered to be
the pureteachings of the Vedas.! Arya Samajists considered Islam as the chief obstacle
in the establisment of a Vedic saciety in India. Swami died in 1883. He was the author
of the notorious book: Satyarath Parakash.

Brahmo Samaj was founded by Raja Ram Mohan Roy (1772-1833) with.a
view t0 bringing back the prestine beauty of the Vedic religion. He was very much
influenced by Christianity. He was on a ‘political’ mission to England where he died
in 1833. The movement received a new impetus when Keshib Chander Sen (1838-84),
a Bengali Hindu, eloquently praised Jesus Christ as a redeemer and attracted the
attention of Christian missionaries. In 1870, he visited England and received a most
extraordinary welcome. Many pulpits were thrown open to him. Sen claimed himself
an incarnation of Jesus Christ and established his samaj as a reformed Church of
Hinduism. Men like Jagdish Chandra Bose and Rabinder Nath Tagore were Brahmo
Samajists.

Pandit S.N_.Agnihotri founded the Deva Samaj for revival of Hinduism. The
Rama Krishna Mission, the Prathna Samaj and the (Bal Ganga Dhar) Tilak Mission
were meant to éstablish the Hindu supremacy in all fields of life. They wanted to
establish a Hindu society by eliminating non-Hindus, specially Muslims from India.
Tilak revived the Shevaji cult and organized festivals in honour of the Marhatta leader
Shivaji in southern India.

Christian missionaries had wielded a powerful influence during the rule of
East India Company. By the Company Charter of 1813, the work of Christian
missionaries was encouraged. A Bishop was appointed with his seat at Calcutta, with
three arch deacons. The ecclesiastical establishment was to be paid by the Company.

There was every encouragement from England for the proselytising activity in India. .

A Chairman of the Court of Directors of East India Company said in the House of
Commons: '

‘Providence has entrusted the extensive Empire of Hindustan to England in
order that the banner of Christ should wave triumphant from one end of India to the
other. Every one must exert all his strength that there may be no dilatoriness on any

account in continuing the grand work of making all Indians Christ_ians,.’2

By the same Charter of 1813, the ecclesiastical establishment was to be paid
for out of the Indian revenues of the Company and it continued to be so down to 1947

while the missionaries acquired finances through voluntary contributions of ‘the .

supporters of the Missionary Societies.? During the East India Company’s rule, .

Christianity was closely intervowen with both commerce and Imperialism. The Chris-:

1. J.N. Farquhar, Modem Religious Movements |n India, P. 107
2, Brain Gardner, The East india Company, London, 1871 P, 171
3 loid P. 251
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tian missions were vanguard of Imperialism to safeguard the interests of Empire. The
Trinity 'of Christianity, Commerce and Colonialism served the cause of the Empire.!

" One important factor of the War of Independence of 1857 was the aggressive
missionary campaign launched by a few fanatic Christians. After the War, the
campaign took a different shape. More emphasis was placed on hiring native agents
for sending them in those areas where the missions had since been closed. The Church
Missionary Society, London, fielded missionaries into India and sought the Govern-
ment help to carry out its ]:orogramme.2 There were 21 different Christian churches
operating in the length and breadth of India. Roman Catholics constituted the largest
segment of Christian population, over half a million in 1881, followed by Protestants
(0.12 million), Baptists (81,000), and followers of Church of England (49,000).Smaller
groups viz. Americans, Armenians, Congregationalists, Calvinists, Diss¢nters, Epis-
copalians, Independents, Luwtherns, Methodists, Syrian Greeks and Wesleyan Chur-
ches preached the Gospel to Indians. The total Christian population in India, including
British born and other Europeans was about-2 million at the close of 19th century.?

Muslims’ Response : Muslims of the sub-continent were struggling hard in post-1857
period to get their economic and political rights while the British were bent on their
suppression, Sir Syed Ahmad Khan came forward to guide them. His political formula
was cooperation with modern education. The orthodox Muslims who hated the British
and had been waging a war of liberation on the N-W Frontier of India did not accept
his view point. Sir Syed’s advocacy of loyalty to the British Government, his naturistic
interpretation of the Holy Quran, particularly his opinion about the life of Jesus Christ,
advent of Mahdi, Jehad, the status of India as dar-ul-Islam, etc, were bitterly criticized
and condemned by the ulema. The prominent ulema of all schools of thought specially
the followers of Syed Ahmad Brelevi (the Wahabis), retained their conviction that
British Imperialism had forcibly occupied India which was dar-ul-harb, although in
most cases they avoided a direct and open conflict with them. Some scholars like Molvi
Chiragh Ali of Deccan (1844-95) regarded India neither dar-ul-Islam nor dar-ul-harb
but simply dar-ul-Aman (place of peace4 ). Those ulema who opined that India was
dar-ul-harb never favoured social intercourse with the English. They could not
reconcile themselves to the British rule. '

Christian missionaries met strong resistance from Muslim ulema. Maulana
Rehmatullah of Kirana, Dr Wazir Khan of Agra, Maulana Abdul Hadi of Lukhnow,
Maulana Ale-Hassan and Maulana Muhammad Ali Bichravi gave befitting replies to
the Christian apologists in their numerous writings and addresses. It was mostly a
defensive war against the aggressive onslaught of missionaries.

1 Ses Klaus Knorr, British Colonial Theories, {1570-1880), London, 1965, P.388

2. John Balllle, God's Avenger: or England's PnumDmyinlndmwﬂhaGlm:cdlheFuturo London 1857, The
ot’ Indla, Church of Englam!ﬂmmﬂy , LIV, 1858;" John Jessop, indian Rebaliion, " The Pliph,
3. \’}HIS Ouﬂon New India, London, 15&5—Appondbr ‘Repodt on the census of Brilish India, 17 February, 1881

4, Mobkd Chirlgh Ali, A Critical Exposition of Popular Jehad, Calcutia, 1865, PP 156-180
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Family of Traitors : Mirza Ghulam .Ahmad, the founder of Ahmadya movement
descended from the Mughat family of the Punjab. His great grandfather Mirza Gul
Muhammad was ousted from his ancestral estate of Qadian by the Sikh rulers. He,
along with his other family members, took refuge in Baigowal in the Court of Sardar
Fateh Singh, then a rival of Ranjit Singh, the ruler of Punjab. When Fateh Singh died,
his estate was annexed by Ranjit Singh. Mirza Ghutam Ahmad’s father Ghulam
Murtaza and his uncle Ghulam Mohyuddin' joined the Sikh army and took active part
to suppress the uprisings of the Muslims of northern India against the Sikh tyrants.
Mirza Murtaza killed mujahidin of Syed Ahmad Brelavi in the North West of India
and Muslims of Kashmir who rose against the Sikh ascendency. Ranjit Singh annexed
Kashmir in 1818 and Peshawar in 1823.

In recognition of his ‘valuable’ services Ranjit Singh restored five villages of
Qadian to him in 1834, The next year Ranjit Singh died. After his death the central
authority grew weak and the British influence increased. Mirza Ghulam Murtaza sided

* with the British and became their trusted henchman in the Sikh darbar. The Sikh came
" to know of it. They made an attempt to kill him and his brother Ghulam Mohyuddin

but were saved by their younger brother Mirza Ghulam Haider.

Sir Lepel Griffin’s book, the Purnjab Chu’efsl compiled to record the services
of the loyal families of the Punjab during the ‘Mutiny’of 1857, gives the following
account of Ghulam Murtaza’s services:

"During the time of Nao Nihal Singh, Sher Singh and the Darbar, Ghulam
Murtaza was continually employed on active service. In 1841, he was sent with General
Ventura to Mandi and Kulu, and in 1843 to Peshawar in command of an infantry
regiment. He distinguished himself in Hazara at the time of insurrection there, and
when the rebellion of 1848 broke out, he remained faithful to his Government and
fought on its side. His brother Ghulam Muhi-ud-Din also did g('md services at this
time. When Bhai Maharaj Singh was marching with his forces to Multan to the
assistance of Diwan Mulraj. Ghulam Muhi-ud-Din with other jagirdars, Langar Khan
Sahiwal and Sahib Khan Tiwana raised the Muhammeden population and with the
force of Sahib Dayal attacked the rebels and completely defeated them, driving them
into the Chenahb, where upwards of 600 perished.

At the annexation of the Punjab by the British (March 1849), the Jagirs of
the family were not restored, but a pension of Rs.700 was granted to Ghulam Murtaza
and his brother and they retained their proprietary rights in Qadlan and the neigh-
bouring vﬂ]ages : )

In June 1849, two months after the annexation of thei Pl.l‘njab} by the British,
Mirza Ghulam Muriaza wrote a letter to J.M. Wilson, Financial Commissioner of the

1. Mirza Ghutam Ahmad Cadiani, Kitab-—ul-Baryah, Qadlan 1898, P.143
2 Sae Abdul thlm[)atdc\adwnl Lie of Ahmad, Lahore 1848, P.13
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Punjab, requesting him some favour in lieu of the services rendered by him and his
family during the annexation of the Punjab. Wilson replied on 11 June, 1849 :

"I have perused your application reminding me of you and your family’s past
services and rights. I am well aware that since the introduction of the British
Government you and your family have certainly remained devoted, faithful and steady
subjects and that your rights are really worthy of regards. In every respect you may
rest assured and satisfied that the British Government will never forget your family
rights and services which will receive due consideration when a favourable opportunity
offers itself.

You must continue to be faithful and devoted subject as in it lies the
satisfaction of the Government and your welfare."!

The War of Independence of 1857 afforded an opportunity to the loyal
servants of the Punjab to render service to their British masters. Sir Lepel Griffin
states the services of the Mirza family provided to the British during this critical period
of our history:

“The (Mirza) family did excellent services during the Mutiny of 1857. Ghulam
Murtaza enlisted many men and his son Ghulam Qadir was serving in the force of
General Nicholson when that officer destroyed the mutineers of the 46 Native Infantry
who had fled from Sialkot at Trimughat. General Nicholson gave Ghulam Qadir a
certificate stating that in 1857 the Mirza family showed greater loyalty than any other
in the district.?s

General Nicholson faced a very tough resistance from the freedom fighters
in Delhi. A.R. Dard states:

“The impression that loyal and active aid rendered by the family made on
the mind of General Nicholson of whom Sir John Lawrence writes in his Mutiny
Reports ‘without General Nicholson Delhi could not have fallen’, may be gathered
from the following letter which he wrote to Mirza Ghulam Qadir in August 1857, only
a month before his death.’ '

"As you and your family have helped the Government in the suppression of
the Mutiny of 1857 at TrimmuGhat, MirThal and other places with the greatest
devotion and loyalty, and have proved yourselves entirely faithful to the British
Government, and also have helped Government at your own expense with 50 sawars
and horses, therefore, in recognition of your loyalty and bravery this parwana is
addressed to you, which please keep with yourself. The Government and its officials
will always have due regard for your services and rights, and for the devotion you have
shown to the Government. After the suppression of the insurgents I will look to the
welfare of your family. I have written to Mr. Nisbet, Deputy Commissioner, Gur-
daspur, drawing his attention to you services,"”

1. Mirza Ghulam Ahmad, Kashful Ghata, Zlaul islam Preas Qadian, 1868, P.5 b
2. Dard, op. cit. P.14
3. Ibid P.15
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At the fateful end of the War of 1857, Mirza Ghulam Murtaza was awarded
a khilat worth Rs.200 and a certificate from his British masters. He was also given a
chair at the Governor's darbar.

Following is the text of the commendatory letter written by Robert Cust,
Commissioner of Lahore to Mirza Ghulam Murtaza on 20 September 1858 :

"As you have rendered great help in enlisting sawars and supplying horses
to Government in the Mutiny up to date and thereby gained the favour of Government.
A Khilat worth Rs.200 is presented to you in recognition of good services and as a
reward for you loyality.

Moreover, in accordance with the wishes of Chief Commissioner as con-
veyed in his letter No. 576 dated 10th August, 1858, this parwana is addressed to you
as a token of satisfication of the Government for your fidelity and n:put«s:.“l

Sir Zafarullah states that Mirza Ghulam Murtaza took up military service
under Maharaja Ranjit Singh and won distinctions in some campaigns. Later, he and
his elder son, Mirza Ghulam Qadir, rendered meritorious services to the British, which
was duly appreciated by the authorities.?

In 1876, Mirza Ghulam Murtaza died.? On his death, Mirza Ghulam Qadir,
his elder son wrote a letter to Robert Egerton, Financial Commissioner of the Punjab,
intimating his father’s death and offering services of his family for the British
Imperialism. He asked some favour on the basis of his services. Egerton’s reply of 29
June, 1876 to Ghulam Qadir is quoted from Mirza Ghulam Ahmad’s book Kashfu!
Ghata .

“l have perused your letter of the second instant and deeply regret the death
of your father Mirza Ghulam Murtaza who was a great well wisher and faithful Chief
of Government.

«In consideration of your family services we will esteem you with the same
respect as that bestowed on your loyal father. I will keep in mind ‘the restoration and
welfare of your family when a favourable opportunity occurs.”

Profile : Mirza Ghulam Ahmad was born on 13 February, 1835 at Qadian.At the age
of 6, he was put in the charge of a private tutor who gave him coaching in the Holy
Quran and Persian language. At the age of 10, an Arabic teacher taught him Arabic
language and its grammar. At the age of 17, a third teacher was employed who gave
him lessons in Arabic, syntax, logic and medicine. 5

From the early life, his father, who had been yearning passionately to regain
his lost estate by serving the British, engaged him in his own line of work which

'Fo'lirza Ghulam Ahrnad, Shahadat—u-Quian, Punjab Press Sialkoi, 1883, P.B csupqlernonl) Also M. op. :IL

Sir Zafarullah, Essence of Islam, Vol.1 London, 1978 P.VIN

For a brief life sketch of Mirza Ghulam Murlaza see Qazl Fayal Ahmad, Kalima—-Faza-fabani, Lahore, 1883.

Mirza Ghulam Ahmad, Kashful-Ghata, Qadlan, 1888 P.5

mhunr?;‘da‘f;qub Khan, Quest Atter God (Glimpm of the LHe of Miza Ghiam Ahmad), Anjuman Ahmadya
078,

arn =
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consisted mainly in looking after the agricultural interests of the family. Mirza Ghulam
Ahmad knocked about the courts in the vain pursuit of regaining the lost estate of
Qadian.! He failed badly and was regarded by his father a good-for-nothing. At last in
1864 his father secured him the petty job of an Ahalmad(clerk) in Sialkot Courts which
he accepted. During his stay in Sialkot he appeared in a law examination but badly
failed in it2

He stayed for 4 years {1864-68) in Sialkot. There he came in close contact
with Christian missionaries, specially Scotch clerics, with whom he exchanged views
on religious and political subjects. Christian missionaries had swarmed the Punjab
after the War of 1857 as that region enjoyed an important place in the British colonial
polit:.\.r.3

In post Mutiny period, Christian missionaries had been actively studying the
main }eligious, social, economic, and political causes of the ‘Mutiny’ and were
analysing the emerging trends in Indian politics in order to play a decisive role in the
colonial ga.mr:,.4 During the years 1858 to 1870 various studies were conducted and
missionary conferences were organized to discuss these questions. One such con-
ference was heid in December 1862 in the Punjab. It was attended by 35 Christian
societies and denominations as well as high civil and military officers and great number
of influential men, aithough there was a good deal of discussion in official circles
whether such a conference should be convened.

In 1869, a private commission consisting of missionary heads visited India
to ascertain the causes of the ‘Mutiny’ and suggest ways for the consolidation of the
Empire. The commiission visited many places, conducted meetings with senior British
officials occupying high administrative and military posts and held discussions with
officials of secret service to have first hand knowledge of religo-political problems that
posed a potent threat to the British rule in India. As a result of it, a conference was
held at London in 1870. Besides the representatives of the commission, it was attended -
by prominent missionary heads. The commision and the missionaries submitted their
separate reports. Subsequently both these reports were published for private use as a
secret and confidential document under the title: The Arrival of the British Empire in
India.® Anextract fromthe report is quoted below which gives the need of a prophet,7
who could serve the nefarious political designs of British Imperialism.

"Majority of the population of the country blindly follows their ‘Peers’
{spiritual leaders). If at this stage, we succeed in finding out some who would

See Tarikn—i-Ahmadya Vol-, compiled by Dost Muhammad Shahid, Rabwah.
Mirza Bashir Ahmad, Sesrai-ul-Mahdi, Voi-l Qadian, P,138
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be ready to declare himself a Zilli Nabi (apostolic prophet) then the large
number of people shall rally round him. But for this purpose, it is very
difficult to persuade some one from the Muslim masses. If this problem is
solved, the prophethood of such a person can flourish under the patronage
-of the Government. We have already overpowered the native governments
by mainly pursuing a policy of seeking help from the traitors. That was a
different stage for, at that time, the tr‘aitors were from the military point of
view. But now when we have sway over every nook of the country and there

- is peace and order every where, we ought to undertake measures which might
create internal unrest among the country.”

During the time the British agents were in search of loyalists, the Mirza was
busy developing close friendship with Rev. Butler M.A., a Scotch missionary head at
Sialkot. They met frequently to hold discussions and exchange ideas on theology and
political problems faced by the British Government in India. Butler held him in high
esteem and openly displayed respect for him,! although it would have been hardly
expected from a foreign missionary head, a scien of the ruling class. Mirza Mahmud
Ahmad, the Mirza's son and the head of the Qadiani community from 1914 to 1965
gives the nature of his father’s relations with Rev. Butler in the following words:

At that time, the Christian missionaries enjoyed an influential position in
India. However, when the incharge missionary of Sialkot (Rev Butler) called on Hazrat
Sahib (the Mirza) at courts at the time of his return to England, the Deputy
Commissioner {H.E.Perkins) welcomed him and asked the purpose of his visit. His
sole reply was that he had come exclusively to meet his (Perkins) Munshi (the Mirza).
It proves that even his opponems admitted that he was a man of exceptional qualities
and deserved respect .

The year 1868 proved decisive for the Mirza. Muhammad Saleh, an Arab,
happened to come to India on some mission stated to be a political one. The political
situation at that time was alarming due to the activities of the Wahabis. The presence
of an Arab ‘activist’ in the strategic region of the Punjab could ensue problem for the
British. The Punjab Police arrested him on the charges of spying and violation of
Emigration Act’HE. Perkins, DC Sialkot Courts started investigations. The Mirza
was employed as an interpreter of Arabic. He strongly argued and defended the British
rule in India during his argumentation with the Arab. Through his eloquence, he
proved his worth in the eyes of his British master. Perkins found in him a very useful
and loyal agent who could serve the cause of the Empire if inducted for the job. Perkins
was a freemason and member of the Lodge of Hope Lahore The Mirza left the job
at Sjalkot Court in 1868 without any obvious reason and settled down in Qadian.

1. Miza Mahmud Ahmad, Seeral~e-Masih—s—Macod, Rabwah, P. 15
2. Mina Mahmud Ahmad's Address, Aftazal Qadlan, 24Apdl 1804
3 Dr Bushamt Ahmad, Muladid-L-AZam, Lahors 1638, P
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Perkins ordered that the Courts should be closed as a mark of respect the day the
Mirza left for Qadian.!

In 1868, Mirza Ghulam Ahmad’s mother Chirgh Bibi alias Ghaseeti died.
He had to depend exclusively on his father to get money to make both ends meet. He
undertook journeys to Dalhousie and other places to attend courts. Those were very
difficult days for him. He calmly faced all hardships and never lost sight of his sinister
plan. The death of Mirza Ghulam Murtaza in 1876 resuited in still greater hardships
for his sons Mirza Ghulam Qadir and Mirza Ghulam Ahmad. During his life time
Ghulam Murtaza had usurped the share of property of Qadian which belonged to his
collateral relatives. After his death, Ghulam Qadir retained the property. Mirza
Ghulam Ahmad was his accomplice. An year after Ghulam Murtaza’s death (1877),
Mirza Ghaus, the son of Mirza Qasim Beg who was a legal heir of about half of the
ancestral estate of Qadian and had been deprived of his share by Ghulam Murtaza,
sued in the Court. Since he knew that Mirza brothers would not agree to give his due
share to him, he sold out his share of property to Mirza Azam Beg, an Assistant
Commissioner in Lahore. With the financial support of Azam Beg, he won the case
in the Punjab Chief Court, the final appeliate authority in civil and criminal cases.
Mirza brothers were left with no alternative except to make the plea in their defence
that they were bound to follow Mughal customs and traditions and not Islamic laws
of inheritence in transfer and sale of their ancestral property. It was a shrewd attempt
on the part of Mirza Ghulam Qadir and Mirza Ghulam Ahmed to deprive Mirza
Ghaus of his genuine share of property. Mirza Ghulam Ahmed, who subsequently
claimed to be a prophet (Nabi) and a ‘champion’ of Islam, preferred to follow family
customs and not Islamic laws to usurp the share of Mirza Ghaus’ property. According
to traditions, Mirza Ghaus could only sell the property if he had to arrange the
marriage of his son or had any other justifiable need. Since he was issueless and no
other genuine need existed, he could not sell his property to others, The Court rejected
their plea and decided the case in favour of Mirza Ghaus.

The prolonged litigation pushed the Mirza family on the verge of financial
disaster. Ghulam Qadir could not survive the humiliation and loss of property and
died in 1883. The control of the remaining property went into the hands of his widow.
Mirza Ghulam Ahmad had a little voice in family affairs. He was busy in carving out
his own empire.

Mirza Ghulam Ahmad says he led a miserable life after the death of his
father. He was virtually a pauper and an utterly disappointed person. His elder brother
controlled the whole property and used its income for his own well being and refused
to give him a few rupees even to pay the subscription of a journal. Ghulam Qadir's
wife was equally harsh to him and looked down upon him. The wife of Mirza Ghulam

t A 1azums of Abdul Mannan Omer af the Annual Gathering of December 1977, Ahmadya'A.niuman Lahare 1881,
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Ahmed, Hurmat Bibi had also a very difficult time with him as he sulfered [rom
ill-health, psychological abnormalities and financial distress. The treatment meted out
to him during these formative years had a great bearing on his future life and gives an
insight into his future claims.

By the end of 1880, he was actively busy in compilation of his book,
Brahin-i-Afunadya. The death of his elder brother Mirza Ghulam Qadir in 1883 left
the field open for him. He swiftly moved towards his desired end, the claim of
prophethood. Feality to the British Raj and condemnation of Jehad" were the hall
mark of his career. He attended to his assigned job with full devotion andhad always
been proud of the scrvices he rendered for the consolidation of the colonial Empire
in India and other parts of the world.

Conscious Impostor: Mirza Ghulam Ahmad very cleverly launched his project. To
start with his business, he put forth some challenges and revelations claimed to have
been received from God. The absurdity and incoherent nature of his utterances backed
by his admission of suffering from mental and physical diseases like dizziness, diabetes,
hysteria etc. forced the serious students of religion to determine his mental soundness.
Daniel, an Indian Christian teacher visited him at Qadian and put him seven questions
dealing with his mental processes. The Review of Religions, Qadian published a reply
to these qu estions,” in consultation with the Mirza, The paper did not deny his mental
and physical deviations but claimed that the Holy Prophet (p.b.o.h) had called them
the signs of the Promised Messiah.* Another Christian scholar Dr.H.D.Griswold of
Lahore came to the conclusion that the Mirza was honest but sell-deceived.*

At the Cairo Missionary Conference in 1906, a Christian Missionary stated:

‘Mirza Ghulam Ahmad is now (1906) nearing seventy years of age and his
claims to religious zeal and conviction are combined with a very large proportion of
personal motives, and there isno doubt that he has employed fraud, if not worst means’
for the accomplishment of his ends.”®

An analysis ol the Mirza's chequered past and his claims, writings, revela-
tions, prophecies etc. compel us to conclude that he was undoubtedly a conscious
deceiver. He realized the Imperialist needs and employed the name of God for their
fullilment. The whole business was meant for self aggrandisement and to amass wealth
and fame at the cost of religion.

Tazkira, the Qadiani ‘Bible’ carries a lot of rubbish and absurd material
unheard of in the history of holy men. The revelations are in Arabic, Urdu, Persian,
English, Hebrew, Hindi and Punjabi. The language is poor, vague and incorrect. In

1. in 1879 his close friend Maulana Muhammad Hussain Batalvi wrote a book against Jehad and got a reward from
the British(Supplement tshat-ul-Sunnah, Lahore Vo! No. Vill No. 8 Pst‘—égsz)
Review of Aeligions, Cladian, April 1806
H.A Walter The Ahmadya Movernent, Associated Press Calcutta, 1918, P20
Dr Griswold, Mirza Ghulam Ahmad, the Mehdi and Messiah o Qadlan Ludhaina, 1802.
'll:hadMoh?Qrgrenaden World Today, Papers presented at First Missionary Confarsnce Cairp 4-8 April, 1906
ondon .
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fact, a large part of it is a hotch potch having no specific meanings. Qadianis put these
utterances to numerous interpretations to support the prophethood of the Mirza.

Some revelations are in numerals and figures and others in an unknown language

which the recipient himself admits not to have understood them. This mumbo jumbo

reflects the inner feéh’ngs, emotional crises and mental retardation of the claimant.

Since the Mirza had been afflicted with various diseasés during his life time like

hysteria, vertigo, diabetes, migraine, colic, tuberculosis, melancholia, sexual debility,

acute and persistent dysentary etc. he developed some abnormalities in him. He was

a mentally deranged person yet by all means a wicked and conscious impostor and

henchman of alien powers. He was absolutely clear about his political mission. In all

of his works the underlying theme is feality to the British, condemnation of Jehad,

desire to see the Muslim World under Imperialist subjugation and a passion to render

services for the consolidation of the British Empire in India. He uses an extremely

harsh language for his critics and opponents but remains very polite and subservient

to his alien masters. There is not a single revelation, prophecy, dream etc. which goes

in any way against the political interests of the British or condemns their mis-deeds as
a colonial power. Every word that he claimed to have received from God is pro-British
and anti-Islamic in its orientation. His God is happy over the enslavement of the
Muslims and the economic prosperity of the Britishers.

It has become manifestly clear on the basis of solid evidences that Ahmadya
movement owes its origin to Imperialist and Jewish backings. Jewish influence and
their money coupled with the secret ecclasiastical funds of the British Government
watered the Ahmadya sapling to grow into a big tree. They employed a surrogate to
launch this subversive movement to fulfill their Imperialist ends and to create a schism
in the body politic of Islam by striking at the unity of Muslim world.

Magnum Opus : Around the year 1872, Mirza Ghulam Ahmad started sending articles
in Indian newspapers and journals to introduce himself as a champion of Islam. He,
afterwards entered into active discussions with the Arya, Brahmo and Deva Samaj
leaders on the issue of transmigration of souls, philosphy of Vedas, etc. He was creating
the impression of his being a defender of Islam. By 1879, he engaged himself in
compiling a book entitled Brehin-e-Ahmadya. The first four volumes of the book were
published by 1884. On his repeated requests many well-to-do Muslims specially Syed
Muhammad Hasan, Dewan State of Patiala,' Nawab of Bhopal, Molvi Chiragh Ali of
Hyderabad Deccan, Nawab Ali Muhammad Khan of Ludhiana and Sardar Ghulam
Muhammad Rais of Wah donated a good amount of money for the publication of the
book.?

1. Khalifa Syed Muhammad Hassan, atiala Siate was a confidant of
conﬂdoncc of the Councll of oncg-whlch adminlslcr.d 1ho nﬂmr of this loyal 5
moral and financhal sy to the Mirza.in taunchi h% In 1854, Mirza wert to Patiala and was
given wurm wol lcome. Khalla anad him in 1aae to dlcuuion wilh him on_sorme Important matter and
was introduced to 3-member Counc SinﬁpuTho Mirza paid & third visit to
tha State in Dclober 1801 after his claim of h!: nuamthuﬂh- ita sarved as a link betweans
w;& a1r6 a)ho Mirza In securing funds for his sinister {Ses Misbahuddin, Khatarul Nabieen,

piny

2. Mirza Ghulam Ahmad, Brahin-s-Ahmadya, Safesr-s-Hind Press, Ampitsar, Punjab, 1880
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The first volume of the book carries two Persian poems and a lengthy
announcement in which it had been claimed that if any one would dare to refute his
arguments in favour of Islam he would be committed to pay him Rs.10,000 as a reward.
It was a tall and absurd ¢laim as his son Mirza Bashir Ahmad later remarked that he
could advance not a single argument in favour of Islam.!

He launched this book from a commercial point of view and to establish his
‘Islamic’ credentials. The price of the book was announced to be Rs.5 but it was
doubled afterwards and then raised to Rs.25. He wanted to fix a price at Rs.100 but
subsequently dropped the idea. Appeals were made to the Muslims of India to send
advance payments. It was promised to bring fifty volumes of the book but he could
only publish five volumes, first four until 1884 and the fifth one after a lapse of 23
years which appeared after his death in 19082

Brahin-e-Ahmadya carries a large number of his interesting revelations,
visions and inspirations. He used this stuff as a raw material with a view to realizing
his nefarious religo-political designs. In fact, he laid claim to prophethood from the
start in a concealed manner.’ Neither the time was ripe nor could he invite the wrath
of Indian Muslims at the initial stage of the Ahmadya drama.

In volume III of the book he ecloquently praised the British rule and
introduced his family as the most sincere and loyal servants of British Imperislism. He
emphatically claimed to be a recipient of divine revelations and declared that Jehad
had been forbidden by God against the British Government. He also put forth a
proposal that the Anjuman-i-Islam, Lahore, (a private body devoted to the cause of
Islam) and its branches should acquire fatwas (religious decrees) against Jehad from
all prominent ulema of India and get them published in a book under the caption A4
Bunch of Letters From The Ulema of Indiz for wider distribution in the Punjab,
especially in the North West of India, in order to rebut Dr Hunter’s charges made in
his book, Indian Musalmans and to root out the belief of Jehad from the hearts of
warring Muslims. 4

The Muslims of India suspectcd the intention of the Mirza and reacted
sharply over his writings carrying praise for the British rule in India and his aspiration
for its establishment in other parts of the Muslim world. In volume IV of his book he
confessed that many persons had strongly objected to and even rubuked him for his
advocacy of the British rule in India.’> However since he had been motivated by the

‘lgz;za Bashir Ahmad, Searat—ul-Mahdi, Vol, | P53

Al the time of compiling the Bmhin—-;—Ahmad%? Mirza Ghulam Ahmad conceaied his real motive i.s

oclamation g&o hood. He ahrawdfy put it to somo future date dopending on the exigencies of time.
n u letter dated aAugust 1899, which appeared in akam’, Qadian, dated 17 1889, he says thathe
raceived a revslation ‘A nabi cama in the world but h world 'did riot accept him'’ :gon ho wag complllng lho
‘Brahin’ but in order to avoid strong reaction of the Musllml to hia claim of propheth recorded th
‘Qirad’ of his revelation: ‘A Nazir came in the world.” This amply shows his mnl lnhnﬂun Rf what he phnnod fnr
the future and is a Iaﬂn‘%:mph of his shrewed pmlenslon (Alsc See Mirza Ghuiam Ahmad's book of wah,

Brahin Vol. Wl P.k
Brahin, Vol, IV P.A
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injuctions of the Holy Quran and the sayings of the Prophet (p.b.o.h} he could not
change his mind, he argued,

The book received some appreciation from certain quarters because it was
wrongly taken as an attempt to defend Islam in its own way by a claimant of Islamic
revivalism. However cautious Muslim scholars came out with their apprehensions
concerning the religious claims of Mirza Ghulam Ahmad. They believed him a
hypocrite and salanderer working on a political mission.

After publication of the book, he attended to his private life. He had enough
money to live a lavish life. Some of his close associates objected to it. They deplored
that their hard earned and miserly saved money given for the ‘propagation of Islam’
had been spent on purchasing the jewellery of the Mirza’s wife.! Such solitary voices
were stifled.

In 1884, at the age of 50, he thought of his second marriage. He had two
sons: Mirza Sultan Ahmad and Mirza Fazal Ahmad from his first wife. Although he
lamented over his badhealth and suffered from many chronic diseases like tuber-
culosis, diabetes and migraine, and had claimed to lose all interest in the other sex,
he announced to have received a revelation of a second marriage with K.hadijaz. On
17 November, 1884 the mariage was celebrated with Nusrat Jehan, the daughter of
Mir Nasar Nawab, a petty clerk in Irrigation Deparment, Lahore, who opposed the
Mirza for a long time when he made tall religious claims. The Mirza also yearned for
the third marriage but was so much bogged down in Muhammadi Begum love scandal
that he could not pursue the idea further.

In 1885, Mirza Ghulam Ahmad claimed to be a mujaddid and a reformer of
the age. The next year he went to Hoshiarpur to go into retreat at some solitary place
for 40 days. Having completed this period, he published an announcement of 20
February, 1886 that a handsome and pure boy would be bestowed on him. His name
would be Emmanuel and Bashir. He would be the manifestation of the First and the
Last, a manifestation of the True and the High, as if Allah had descended from
Heaven. His son, Mirza ( Bashirduddin) Mahmud Ahmad, subsequently claimed to be
the Promised son, the Musleh Maood in 1944 through an absurd interpretation of the
Mirza’s vague writings and by dint of his own revelations.

On 1st December, 1888, the Mirza announced that God had commanded
him to accept bayat (oath of allegiance) and form a Jamat (Organisation). The bayat
form meant to induct a new member gave ten conditions for entering into Ahmadya
Jamaat. Qf these, the fourth condition, although general in nature, made it imperative
on every Ahmadi to be loyal to the British Government. He formally took bait on 23
March, 1889 at Ludhiana.

1. . Oudinn, 7 smber 1838 Knmaluddin, u leading member of the udado waa one of them

haj--e—kitalef, P. 15). D1 Abdul Hakim, One Irn- a staunch followe r the Mirza vividly

ox the erun technique to exiort mon P;‘ in the name of lslam and to use for personal ends,
hers, ala Staie, Punjab 18068~19CT)
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Mirza Mahmud throws light on the significance of fourth condition of
induction into the Jamaat : :

‘From its very birth this community has been loyal to the Government and
its members have avoided every kind of disorder and distufbance. The Holy Founder
of the movement has laid it down as one of fundamental conditions of initiation into
the movement that every member must render perfect obedience to the Governments
established by law and should eschew all paths leading to revolt. In obedience to this
injum:tioﬁ, the members of this community have ever kept aloof from all kinds of
agitation and connection and have also exercised a restraining influence upon a large
number of other people

More Loyal Than the King : The Mirza regarded the British rule in India as a great
blessing of God. He exhorted his followers to extend all cooperation to them as in that
lay their salvation and pleasure of God. To fire cannons and sway arms were regarded
as exclusive privileges of the British Imperialists and waging tongues in useless
theological controversies and scratching pen was the duty of Muslims of the world.

He says, "By far the greatest part of my life has been spent in preaching
loyality to the British Governement. I have written so many books denouncing Jehad
and preaching loyality to the British Government, that they would fill fifty almirahs if
put together."2

In another book he puts the question :

And [ again ask "Have my detractors among Muslims any thing to their credit
like the enthusiasm and constancy with which I have been helping Government and
the cause of peace and fighting the Jehadist mentality all these seventeen years(1881-
1898)" 73

The official organ of Qadianism, the Review of Relig:'on}, Qadian, gives the
services the Mirza rendered for the British colonialism in a vivid manner. ‘The writings
of the founder of Jamaat-e-Ahmadya’, says the paper ‘have been highly appreciated
by great diplomats and statesmen of the Government.’

Sir Fredrick Cunningham, Commissioner and Superintendent of Peshawar
District wrote in 1900 to the Mirza ;

"So far as I can judge, it appears to be a just and enlighened exposition of
the doctrine of Islam,and is equally creditable o your learning and judgement. I have
no doubt such a statement from a teacher of your reputation will be welcomed by all
good Muhammadans as a vindication of their faith and as proof that Islam does not

1. Mirn Mahmud Ahm
Nashr—e-ishaat
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countenance crimes which ignorant and wicked men may commit under the cloak of
religion. [ shall be glad to see your Rasala and Fatwa widely distributed in Frontier
districts."!

Similarly, Prof. Toy of American University, Béirut, wrote an article under
the caption Islamic Danger in which he appreciated the influence exerted by the
Ahmadya movement on the thoughts of common Mustims.2

Jubilee Celebrations : Mirza Ghulam Ahmad availed every opportunity to prove his
loyalty to the British colonialists. To celebrate the Diamond Jubilee of his god mother,
Queen Victoria, he arranged a special meeting on 20 June , 1897 at Qadian, The
Qadiani elders delivered speeches in 6 Janguages and explained the blessings of the
Raj. Prayers were offered for the long life and prosperity of the Queen and continua-
tion of her ‘glorious’ rule in India. Poor people of the town were entertained; streets,
mosques and houses were all lit. Congratulatory telegram was sent to Lord Elgin, the
Viceroy of India on 20 June. A beautifully bound copy of the book: ToAfa-e-Qaisarya
{A Present to the Queen) was sent to Queen Victoria through the Deputy Commis-
sioner in commemoration of that auspicious occasion. Copies of the book were also
sent to the Viceroy and Lt. Governor of the Punjab,3

In his present to the Queen, he in a humble way gave a short background
note explaining the political services of his family in 1857 and post-Mutiny period till
he took up the ‘stupendous’ task of serving the cause of the Empire. He then
enumerated his services and posed himself as a well-wisher, a lick-spittle and an
extremely loyal servant of the British Empire. He eagerly awaited an acknowledgment
from the Queen and when she conferred her recognition on him, he was overjoyed
and expressed his utmost thanks for her act of gratitude.‘

The day of Queen Victoria’s Diamond Jubilee, brought a wave of indigﬁa—
tion for the British colonialists in India. On the evening of the Jubilee Day, two
Europeans, Mr.Rand of the Indian Civil Service and Lt.Ayerst, on their way home
from a reception at Government House, were shot dead by a Hindu Brahmin. It was
a political assassination and an extreme way to express resentment against the British
rule in India.

Queen Victoria died on 22 January, 1901. Mirza Ghulam Ahmad was deeply
grieved at the death of his god mother. He sent the following telegram to the British
Government:
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Mirza Ghulam Ahmad, Sitara~e~Qaisarya 1850, F., 4. How anxious he was to mm?sgcmﬂmofhism
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‘], with my followers, beg to express our deep sorrow on the great loss
occassioned to the Empire by the death of Her Gracious Majesty, the
Empress of India.’!

Spy ‘Prophet’ : It is nauseating to go through the writings of the Mirza for he
panegyrised the British Imperialism and undoubtedly posed himself a sycophant and
a suppliant whenever he happened to speak of the British2 He even goes so far as to
take upon himself the role of a British spy by offering his political services to the
Government to expose those religious leaders of India who believed British India was
daralharb (abode of war) and, therefore, considered Jehad an indispensible necessity.
They, in accordance with the Islamic Law, believed that only Zuhar prayer could be
offered instead of special prayer on Fridays in dar-ur-harb. To expose those ‘hidden
enemies of the British’, he on 1st January, 1896 published a letter suggesting that
Friday should be declared a closed day and circulated it to the leading Muslim ulema
for their endorsement. He made it clear in the footnote of the letter that those uiema
who would not sign the decree would prove themselves anti-Government and enemies
of the British.>

The spy ‘prophet’ also submitted a petition to the Governor General of India
offering his services to expose the ‘ill wishers of Godssent British Government’ and
carnestly declared that in the ‘Khutba® (sermon) of the Friday prayer, the blessings of
the British Raj should be narrated by the ulema. It was submitted that a list of ‘anti-
British, foolish and rebel ulema of India prepared by Qadiani (intelligence) sources
could be given to the Government if it so desired. It could be kept as a state secret by
the wise Government for future action’, the Mirza emphasized. He also gave specimen
of a proforma to record the name of such anti-British ulema. It carried the columns of
name, place, remarks, ewct

Besides his spy work, he engaged the ulema in useless theological controver-
sies in a very clever way. He used an abusive and provocative language against them
and resorted to their character assassination. After launching a crusade against the
Jehadist ulema who had been fighting against the British Imperialists in India, he
entered into an open conflict with Hindu and Christian refigious leaders to push up
the communal frenzy in accordance with the British policy of ‘divide and rule’.

By cleverly engaging the ulema in theological discussions he succeeded in
diverting their target of attack from the British Imperialism to Ahmadya Aeresy. He
predicted death and humiliation for his opponents and when his prophecies proved
false he gave far-fetched and absurd interpretations to those utterances. He always cut
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1. Government of India Home Departmant to the Right Hon. Lord George Francis Hamilfton, H.M. Secrstaly for
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a sorry figure. An outstanding feature of his character was shameless insistence on
fulfillment of his every prophecy. By any standard of judgment it can be safely said
that even Jeane Dixon predicts far better than him. She is accurate in most of her
statements. The Mirza's oft-repeated prophecies, the mainstay of his prophethood,
chwelt at length on his financial gains, receiving money orders, gifts and subscriptions,
on the humilation and death of his enemies, and on his success in the field of litigation.1

One of his interesting prophecies related to his ‘marriage’ with Muhammadi
Begum, a beautiful and attractive girl and his near relative. It was prophecised that
she would ultimately become his bride. But it could not happen. He predicted death
for any person who would dare to marry her. He called her a heavenly bride in his
propheciés. Despite all techniques of blackmail, intimidation and persuation, her
father did not succumb to the Mirza’s wishes. This scandal afforded an excuse to his
Hindu and Christian opponents to hurl attacks on the pious life of our Holy Prophet
(p-.b.o.h} in a discreet manner as the Mirza claimed to be an incarnation (Zill) of the
Prophet (p.b.o.h} and a champion of Islam. Muhammadi Begum was married to Mirza
Sultan Muhammad during the Mirza's life time.

Subtle Patronage : Promotion of religious differences was part of the lmperialist
policy. 1t divided the Indian society into scores of small warring groups. The British
Secret Service encourged its agents to put forth scurrlious and provocative literature
to widen the differences among different religious entities. Religious adventuristsused
the press liberally to launch their attacks on their opponents and to engage them in
futile religious controversies. In 1886, the Government registered the publication of
8,963 periodicals in India out of which 1,485 were in Urdu 1,352 in Bengali, 843 in
Hindi, 679 in English and rest of them in other languages Most of them were engaged
in theological discussions.

Mirza Ghulam Ahmad entered into religious controversies with Christian
and Hindu religious leaders in a peculiar way. He threw challenges of prayer duels,
put out revetations in their condemnation and used abusive language to provoke them
to retaliate against him. His crusade resulted.in the appearance of many slanderous
works against Islam.> 5

The Punjab Government closely watched the religious controversies ranging
in the Punjab among different groups and sects. Mirza Ghulam Ahmad’s activities in
promoting religious antagonism were particularly reported to the higher British
officials. In 1893, he entered into a religious controversy with Rev.Henry Martin Clark,
a medical missionary in-charge of Amritsar District. As a result of it, a debate took
place at Amritsar between the Mirza and Abdullah Athim, a Muslim convert to
Christianity and the former Extra Assistant Commissioner, Sialkot. In the proceedings
of the Home Department Government of the Punjab the details of a series of meetings

1. See Mirza Ghulam Ahmad, Haqgiqat—ul-Wahi Qtdhn 1807
2. Report of the Mislonarxl ce London heid at New York, 1838, P, 318
3. See Maulana Mazhar Ali Azhas, Sltya.mh Parkash Aur Mirza Ghulam Ahmad, Lahors
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have been given which were held in order to ‘discuss religious topics concerning
Mohammadans and Christians.” The speakers on the side of the latter were Mr.Ab-
dullah Athim and Rev. Henry Martin Clark and other side was represented by Mirza
Ghulam Ahmad of Qadian. The contest lasted for a fortnight without any material
result in favour of either party. The Mirza, however, threatened the speakers of the
opposite faith with premature death within fifteen months, as a punishment revealed
to him by God in a dream failing which he consented to be disgraced and hanged for
having persisted in upholding falsehood.'

The deadline of fifteen months ended on 4 September, 1894. Athim did not
die. Christian missionaries jeered at Ahmadis and condemned the Qadiani impostor.
The Mirza shamelessly insisted on the fulfilment of his prophecy stating that Athim
had saved himself by turning towards the truth.

The Civil & Military Gazette, Lahore under the heading- A Dangerous Fanatic
wrote: "There is a well-known fanatic in the Punjab, he is now, we believe, in the
Gurdaspur district, who calls himself Musalman and also the Messiah. His prophecies
regarding the death of a native Christian gentleman in Amritsar kept up an excitement
in the city for some months; but fortunately his utterances were so badly charged that
they have hung fire miserably-and the doomed is still alive. A fanatical vision of this
sort is doubtless under the surveillance of the Police. Whenever he preaches abroad
serious disturbances of the peace are imminent, for he has a numerous following who
are only less fanatical than himself.

Of course no political danger can be apprehended from the vain imaginings
of such man; but there is method in his madness. He has undoubted literary ability
and his writings are voluminous and learned; all the elements present for forming a
dangerous rallying point, of course among the Orthodox he is anathemd morantha.
His fame has spread as far as even as distant Madras.” ’

Like Athim, the Mirza entered into a controversy with an Arya Samajist,
Pandit Lekh Ram Peshawari, a retired police official. He predicted that Lekh Ram
would die by February, 1898. He was described as a molten calf. Lekhram was later
on mysteriously murdered at Lahore on 6 March, 1897. It generated a good deal of
communal tension in the Punjab. The Mirza took advantage of the situation to
emphasize his claim.

Lala Lajpat Rai, an Arya Samaj leader states :

"The assassination of Lekhram in March, 1897 is a memorable event in the
history of Arya Samaj. He was a zealous Arya Samajist, devotee of Swaml Dayanand.
The Pritinidhi Sabah paid him some thing for subsistence. He was boonsh He was
cremeted in Lahore. A Committee was appointed for. tracing the assassm. and work

1. Government of the Punjab, Home Department Procesdings, Jan July 1884 from J. Sime, Director Publlc
gﬁmluﬂs Pun]ab to t‘\ Chisf Secretary to the Gmmnn\go u‘m No'yﬁ'l dated 22 Fel b-ril.y 1884, india

2. The Chil &‘ailnnry Gaztma 24 Oclober, 1864




An Outgrowth Of imperialism 24
for the Committee was entrusted to Lajpat. The police and the Samaj each appointed
its own agents for finding out the culprit, but Musalmans foiled all their plans. Two
or three persons were arrested, but all of them were let off because none was identified.
People were firmly convinced and there was good reason for the conviction that the
sympathies of the Lahore Muslims were with the assassin, and the assassination was
the result of the big conspiracy in which some of the Moulvies and Muslim Raises of
Lahore had a part and they gave shelter to the assassin and helped him make good
for his o:',scape."i

Managed Show : Dr Henry Martin Clark, the patron of Athim charged Mirza Ghulam
Ahmad under section 307 on Ist August, 1897 in the Court of District Magistrate,
Amritsar, He stated that the Mirza had sent Abdul Hamid to murder him. The case
was later transferred to the Court of District Magistrate, Gurdaspur as it fell under
his jurisdiction. During the proceedings, the Police prevailed upon Abdul Hamid to
change his earlier statement in favour of Mirza Ghulam Ahmad. The basis of the case
was shaken, No further legat action could be taken against the Mirza. It was a managed
show. The British watched the proceedings with interest. Col Douglus, District
Magistrate Gurdaspur, subsequently told A.R. Dard that the case was watched by the
Punjab Government 2

Dr Clark’s case helped to dispel the commonly held belief that the Mirza
had employed agents to murder his opponents to fulfil his prophecies. He continued
to throw challenges of prayer duels to his enemies and prophecised their humiliation
and death till he was ordered by the Punjab Government on 24 February, 1899 to
refrain from publishing any prediction involving the disgrace of any person and
representing him as the object of Divine wrath. The order was meant to check the
heat generated by the religious frenzy and to appease his apponents who were the
followers of Muhammad Hussain Batalvi. There was no change in the British policy.
It was a stop gap measure. Mirza, the loyal agent of the British Empire, faithfully
obeyed the order. He did not utter a word quite sometime. Had he been sent by God
and had He revealed His will to him he would not have kept mum. This proves that
the Qadiani danced to the tune of his British masters. He was the mouthpiece of
Imperialism and had no divine mission except to fulfil the political designs of the
British. colonialists.

Memorial : At the close of 19th century, the Christian missionaries and Arya Samjists
opened a flood gate of vile attacks on Islam. They found an excuse in scusrilous attacks
which the Mirza made on their leaders through his writings and prophecies. The secret
hand of the British bureaucracy played a crucial role to aggravate the situation.

Dr Ahmad Shah, an apostate lived in London. The British planted him as
Medical Officer in Ladakh before he settled in Britain. He wrote a book attacking the

1. Rai, Autobiographical writings-adit by Vijya Chandra Joshi, Dehli, 1865, P. 75
2. A R Dard, op. cit By Vi
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pious wives of the Holy Prophet (p.b.o.h). The British intelligence managed to get this
book published at RP Mission Press, Gujranwala Punjab. One thousand copies of the
book entitled Umhar-ul-Mominin were distributed freely to injure the susceptibilities
of the Muslims and create hatred among Christian and Muslim communities of India.

The Anjuman-i-Himayat-i-Istam, Lahore, sent a memorial to the Govern-
ment on 26 April, 1898 demanding that the book should be confiscated.l The Mirza
afso sent a memorial on 4 May, 1898 requesting the Government that the book should
a0t be proscribed. He argued that a reply to the book should instead be prepared. He
criticized the Anjuman’s move and asked the Government to ignore the said
memorial.2

Religious frenzy continued to grow in India. The religious leaders ignored
all norms of decency to launch abusive attacks on the persons of their rivals and their
beliefs. In that charged atmosphere, the Mirza sent another memorial to Lord Elgin,
the Viceroy of India in October, 1898. He proposed a code of ethics for the
controvertialists to curtail the use of abusive language in religious controversies by

bringing them under the purview of law> He apprehended that too much heat
generated by religious controversies would pose a danger to the benign rule of the
British Government and might lead to political unrest. The vile and abusive writings
could provoke Muslim fanatics to take up arms against the British rule like that of
1857 upheaval. The memorial was meant to check political upsurge and to suggest the
Imperialist masters to review their policy of neutrality in religious matters in the Light
of emerging political realities. The proposal was given out of sheer loyalty and love
for the British masters but the British Government rejected the Mirza’s proposal and
did not take any action on it

AR Dardthrows light on the political significance of Mirza Ghulam Ahmad’s
move '

‘It was also in the interest of the Government to take up the suggestion.
~ Political malcontents were taking advantage of religious conflicts to excite the people
,aga.mst the Government, It was the perception of this which led the Government to
' pads Sedition Act of 1897. But in spite of that enactment the country continued to drift
from Iaw abidingness towards dissatisfaction. The law, in fact, was not productive of
any great consequence, because India is permanently a land of religions and its people

Govermnment of the Funjab Home Depatmant Proceeding— No. 13-26 file Mo, 135 -June 1888, Indla Office

Tablig , Vel VI, P 27 Home Dopanmem Procoodlng June 1889, [OL, London

Govermimant of lho Pun] Department Proceeding No. 174-182. File 135 October, 1898 ‘Memonial of
ulam Ahmad Qadian in conhection wih relglous. cont 0L, London, Govemnment of 1he
m-m procesdings, October, 1 aled to Memorials, subimitted
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are prone to be more quickly excited over religious questions than aver questions of
politics. The Sedition Act 1897 made no prevention of religious quarrels and at the
time it was passed, the Government did not perceive the necessity of any such

]:»rt:wisicn.’1

Mirza Ghulam Ahmad gave an interesting explanation of his vile and filthy
language he consistently used against Christian clergy and Christianity. He justified
his anti-Christian stance and attacks on the person of Jesus Christ by saying that his
indecent writings served to pacify hot-headed Muslims. They felt satisfied after reading
such harsh and scurrilous writings and changed their vindictive mood which otherwise
could have been dangerous for the peace of the country. Secondly, he maintained that
anti-Christian writings would have a political value in Muslim countries. After reading
such works, the Muslims appreciate the religious policy of the British Government
and had a feeling of love for them.2 They also thought that the British were favourably
inclined towards Muslims and their rule posed no danger to Islam. To this end in view,
bulk of Qadiani literature was sent to Muslim countries for the sake of Imperialist
propaganda.

The Mirza dared not suggest that Christian missions had their roots in
imperial expansion, that so long as Imperialism endured, its missionary adjuncts must
remain, and that Antichrist could not die while Imperialism lived. He blessed
Imperialism and cursed its child. He swallowed the camel and strained at the gnat.3

In response to Mirza Ghulam Ahmad’s abusive writings and disgraceful
prophetic utterances, a class of Muslim ulema planned to pay him in the same coin.!
That brought him further notoriety, yet their counter offensive forced him to seek the
protection of law against the Molvis who stood in his way. He, in fact, wanted to
inveigle Government into a partisan alliance as his prophethood lacked stamina to
fight its way through opposition and could not take its chance unaided. He had not
the faith that could spring {rom a righteous cause. He was afraid of the struggle for
existence that thinned out misfits. He knew that his prdphethood could not weather
the storm. That is why he knelt before the British and supplicated for support. He
wanted England to look upon his prophethood as her adoptive and spoon-fed child’

A.R. Dard, The Life dAhmad Lahore, 1948, P
Mirza Ghulam Ahmad, Tarryaq ul Qalub, Cl-dhn 1888, P. 317
a o Hr:t:o:\i Py "~ argo rocesdings, F
ovemms the Pun| me ile No 29 1898 'COm laint of the Followers
of Mirza G huhmAhma’:b hnlm Edllorol'lhah:gﬂlor May P
Phoenix, His Holiness, P, 121
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POLITICS OF RELIGIOUS
CLAIMS

The Mirza's whole business was sheer politics. It had nothing to do with the
revival of Islam. He was a British agent and an arch enemy of the unity of Muslims.The
claims of Mujaddid, Madhi, Promised Messiah, Nabi, Rasul, and Krishna Avatar-all
carried political tags. We start by examining his claim of Mahdi in order to give the
nature of his political business.

Mahdi ; According to the traditions, the Mahdi is a guided person who will establish
caliphate after the pattern of the prophethood and will fill the earth with justice after
these had been disloged and disrupted. He will be a warrior and a great soldier of
Islam. From time to time many religious adventurers made use of the title of Mahdi
to further their political designs. The Babi movement in Iran and the Qadiani
movement in India made best use of it for the achievement of their political ends. The
idea of the Mahdi found a high place at the time the Muslim political power decayed.
It was used to restore confidence and keep hope alive. It was expected that the Mahdi
would restore the past glory and lead the world of Islam to a happy end.

The Mirza claimed to be a Mahdi in 1891, He announced that in his person
the prophecies relating to Mahdi had been fulfilled. But the warrior aspect of Mahdi
made him tremble with fear. He called himself pacifist Mahdi who had come to stop
wars. He took pains to make it clear to the British and the Muslims of the world that
the victories predicted of Mahdi were victories of peace and not of war, In his books,
he accused the Muslims of nourishing hopes for a bloody Mahdi, a kitler of non-Mus-
lims, Jews and Christians.! No such Mahdi could come who would wage Jehad. He
could only be a propagandist, not a soldier, The fight against the British was out of
question, whether it be in India or elsewhere in the Muslim world. '

At the close of 19th century, the colonial powers had been scrambling for
colonies in Asia and Africa. The French Imperialists occupiéd Tunisia, and the British
took Egypt. British interference in the affairs of Egypt began in 1875 when Disraeli
negotiated the purchase of shares in the Suez canal, They continued ‘peaceful
penetration’ over the next decade. The Khediv Ismail of Egypt endeavoured to get rid
of the colonial yoke but failed.

In 1879, a revolt in the Egyptian army was su;"spressed. Two years later
colonel Ahmed Arabi, with the support of some army officers and religious leaders
took arms against the British interference in Egyptian affairs. On 11-12 June there
was rioting in Alexandria. A month after British Admiral Fredrick Beauchamp began
what Wolseley later called ‘that silly and criminal bombardment of Ai_exande'ria’. In
London, Gladestone Ministry decided to send an army to destroy Arabi's Awar of

1. :‘alg,?nglguhm Ahmad, Hagiqat-l-Mehd|, Qadlan 1889 P.8 Also Mohammad All, Mirza Ghulam Ahmad, Lahors,
A \
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liberation’. In September, 1882 Woiseley, the Adjutant General of the Army met a
tough resistance at the battle of Tal-e-Kabir about halfway between the Suez canal
and Cairo. However, the British forces carried the day and Arabi was transported to
Sychelles. In 1883, Britain secured control of Egypt and continued its colonial
occupation despite the fact that it was part of the Turkish Empire.

During the Arabi’s anti-Imperialist uprising, there arose in Sudan a religious
leader Al Mahdi. (Mohammad Ahmad). He did what ne one eise hefore him had been
able to do. He united the tribes and inflicted series of defeats on Egyptian troops sent
to capture him. Soon the dervishes of the Mahdi of Sudan got complete control of all
the Sudan, West of Nile.!

In 1883, Hicks marched off into the desert to fight against the dervishes with
his 10,000 men. The Mahdi forces moved by the spirit of Jehad, completely wiped out
thewhole army of 10,000 men. Britain was horrified and astonished. Lord Fitzmaurice
told the House of Lords that there had not been such a complete destruction of so
large an army since Pharaoh’s host perished in the Red Seal’ A large number of
Sudanese and Muslims of Arab countries believed him the real Mahdi whose advent
was foretold by the Holy Prophet (p.b.o.h).

The British Imperialists chose Charles Gordon to fight against the der-
vishes. Gordon had made a name in China where he crushed the Taiping Rebellion
of a Chinese religious leader who ctaimed to be the Prophet of God, the son of God,
the Tien wang, the celestial king and the younger brother of Jesus. He, like the Mirza,
failed in his academic career and turned towards politics. In 1864, Gordon captured
Narkin and crushed the ‘Christ’s uprising’.

‘In the face of mounting military pressure from the Mahdi forces, Gordon
withdrew garrisons but himself held on in Khartoum against the British orders until
in 1885 the city was conquered by the followers of the Mahdi of Sudan. He was kilied
by the dervishes, Queen Victoria had been insisting that Indian troops might be moved
from Aden to save Gordon. The famous English poet Lord Tennyson wrote a poem
about Gordon and the British press called him a ‘soldier saint’. Redvers Buller,
however, said, the ‘man was not worth the camels’>

The British forces could never conquer Muhammad Ahmad Al Mahdi of
Sudan. In 1896, after a period of ten years, Kitchner started his expedition to forcibly
bring the Sudan under the Imperialist control. Theé Mahdi’s Khalifa was defeated after
a great bloodshed and was killed a year later. Kitchner destroyed the tomb of the
Mahdi. His bones were thrown into the Nile and his skull was proposed to be sent to
the Royal College of Surgeons to be exhibited with Napoleon’s intestines. Later on,
the skult was secretly burried during the darkness of night at Wadi Haifa.

1. The Mahdya was not an episode or Intenuda in Eg{pﬂan of British history but was an aulonomous historical
Hocns representing lslamic r The Mahdist Stale in Sudan 1881-1880 Oxford 1958 and
Shibeika, British ollc{ln the Sudan I..pndon 1952
2. wstamh y, Eminent lcton-nl,Chaﬂm and WIndus London, 1874, P, 255
3. hard Garrete, Ganeral Gordon, Arlher Baker Lid., London, 1874 P. 215
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The Mahdi’s war of liberation in Sudan excited dangerous fomentation in
Arabia and Syria. The Muslims ot India also felt satistied at the humiliating defeats
of the British forces. They revered and respected Mahdi of Sudan, sent him letters
and looked to him as a saviour of nations. It was also a common belief in India that
the Mahdi of Sudan might conquer the whole of Africa and ultimately India, liberating
the Muslims from foreign clutches.’

At the time, the movement of the Mahdi of Sudan was in full swing, the
Mirza was condemning Jehad and sending bulk of literature to Africa to portray British
Imperialism in the brightest colours.? In his book, the Tiue Nature of Mahdi,® he
sharply condemned a ‘ghazi’ and ‘bloody Mahdi’ and claimed that for the last 20 years
(1879-1899) he preached against the concept of Jehad by disseminating anti-Jehad
literature in Arab countries particularly in Turkey, Syria, Kabul etc., and exposed the
idea of coming of a bloody Mahdi and Messiah. By appending an 18-page supplement
to his book in Arabic and Persian he called on the Muslims of Arab lands to accept
his claim of Mahdi, stop waging wars in the name of Jehad and incuicate a deep sense
of gratitude for the British Government.* In another book a Present to Queen Victoria
he mentions:

"After the death of my father and brother I led a retired life. But,neverthe-
less, I have been employing my pen in the service of British Government. In all the
works that | have written, I have preached loyality to, and sympathy with the British
Government. I have made effective speeches against Jehad. I wrote books in Arabic
and Persian costing me thousands of rupees (Italics added). All those books were
_ disseminated in Arabia, Syria, Turkey, Egypt, Baghdad and Afghanistan. I am sure
they will bear fruit some day... [ wrote many works out of sincere loyality to the British
Government, otherwise | had little to gain by sending them in Arabia, Syria and Islamic
world.” '

Will Ahmadis throw light on the objective implied in publishing pro-British
literature by spending thousands of rupees from one’s own pocket? Where did
thousands of rupees (presently valued in millions) come from? In 1898, the Mirza, in
an Income Tax case, declared his total annual income not more than Rs.700 on the
basis of which T.T. Dixon, Collector, District Gurdaspur, exempted him from Income
Tax. The Mirza called it a ‘heavenly sign’.‘s How could he manage to spend thousands
of rupees for the British colonial propaganda crusade? The answer is quite simple.

J‘\.aéigrsogdmke, The Journais, Maj. Gen. C.G. Gordon CH Al Kharioumn, Kegan Paul Trench & Co., London;
X \

See Mirza Ghulam Ahmad, ‘Sitara-e-Qaisarya’ {the Star of Queen Victoria) 1898, Qadian, P.403
:—éaqlqni-i-Mahdi. Gadian, 188¢
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Mirza Ghulam Ahmad, 'Tohfa-s-Qaisarys’ (A Present to the Qusen) Qadian, 1897, P.27
Mirza Ghulam Ahmad, Zaroorat—uHmam,(1898) Qadian, P. 13
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There were secret eccelestical funds at the disposal of British intelligence agencies to
support this vicious game of politics. Freemasons and Jews also provided money to
him to compile and carry out propagada campaign in support of the British in India
and abroad. The Mirza aiso explains that he had been sending some gentle Arabs to
Islamic countries with this literature.' Those trained spies of Qadian Intelligence
Agency maintained close links with anti-Islamic forces and mostly worked in the garb
of missionaries. Ghulam Nabi (Qadiani), Abdul Rahman (Misri), Abdul Hay Arab?
and Shah Waliullah were despatched to Fgypt at the close of 19th century for
subversive purposes. Their services were placed at the disposal of British Intelligence
at Cairo.

There is another important question that comes to our mind. The Mirza
claimed that Jehad was not lawful in British India. But why did he delclare it totally
unlawful and forbidden for rest ofthe Islamic world where the Muslims were fighting
a hard battie of existence against the European Imperialism. Was it not a calculated
policy to sabotage the struggle movements of the Muslim world for the sake of
Imperialist powers and their Jewish collaborators?

Messiah for Jew : At the time of compiling the ‘Brahin (1880), the Mirza believed that
Jesus was alive and would descend from heavens. For eleven years he professed the
same belief, though he claimed to be the recipient of revelation, an Imam, and a
Muhaddith {Zilli or Apostolic Nabi). It is very interesting that for { | years (1880-1891)
he could not understand the meaning of his own revelations. Equally, for another i1,
years (1890-1901) he was not able to understand his claim of prophethood. God spoke
to him hundreds of times and revelations poured on him like incessant rain designating
him a ‘nabi’ and a ‘rasul’, as he claims, but he kept on calling himself only a Muhaddith
in utter disregard of God’s commandments. How stupid he was ! Nay, political
expediencies of his Imperialist-Jewish wire-pullers made him perform acrobatic feats
of theology.

In 1891, he proclaimed himself to be the Promised Messiah through one of
his revelations and announced the natural death of Jesus Christ in his books Faref
Islam,” Tauzih-e-Maram and Azala- e-Auham (1891). He argued that the second
advent of Jesus Christ was in fact a coming of another person who could have the
spiritual characteristics of Jesus Christ. He heid that Jesus did not die on the Cross,
but escaped and came to India in order to preach to the descendant of the ‘lost ten
Tribes' in Afghanistan and Kashmir. Subsequently, he announced that the ‘tomb’ of
Jesus had also been discovered in Srinagar, Kashmir.*

A Msmorundum prepared by Mirza Ghulam Ahmad and submitied for consideration of Her Mﬁ Queen
\F{I?gsria, Governor General of India, Lt.Governor of the Punjab and other oficials fof india, Tabligh-i-Risalat, Val.i

Professor Abdul Arab was very much impresed by Hakim Nuruddin. He waniad o Fo to New York to study

medicine but the US mment suspected him an lranian spy and refused visa. He sefiled in London. (Maulana

Ghulam Rasu! Mehr, Safamama-i-Hijaz, Karachi, 1984 P_m,:ry

a, In the Government of the Punjab, Home Department Procesdings March 1882, India Office Library London, it
ja stated : Fatah-i-islam’s author Mirza Ghutam Ahmad of Gadian annouriced to the world that e had been sem

God to ameliorate the conditions of the mankind, and that in the spiritual power, monaiity and nature he is

like Josus Chiist, and calls on the public to follow him®.

4. Mirza Ghulam Ahmad, Masih Hindustan Mein, Qadian, 1808, P.3
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It is necessary to discuss here the belief of the second coming of Jesus Christ,
the son of Mary, in contrast to the idea of Promised Messiah which had a long and
peculiar significance in Judaism.

The word Messiah is of Hebrew origin which means an ‘anointed one’, It
was applied to every King and high priest because before entering upen their office,
these men had been consecrated by the oil poured upon their heads. When the Jews
were under the Persiant they began to dream of the day when the-descendants of
David would reappear and an anointed King would once more sit upon the throne of
Israel. Subsequently the Jews changed the idea about a Messiah in two different ways

~when they were ruled by the Romans. The majority of the Jewish people looked for

the appearance of a mighty warrior who, though he was not of the Davidic family,
would lead them against their enemies, destroy Rome, free the Jews and establish a
reign of justice, plenty and peace. But there was another smaller group who thought
of the Messiah as more than a human being, unaided by ordinary weapons, would

-eonguer the pagans, and cause the Jews and Judaism to triumph. In the Book of Enoch,

written during the first century AD, the author speaks of a supernatural being, who
awaited a signal from God in order to go down to earth and free humainty from sin,
injustice and oppression.

God sent Jesus Christ to redeem the Jews from the predicament they were

;. in, but they manoeuvred to'crucify’ him with the help of Pontius Pilate, Roman

Governor of Judea, and condemned him as false Messiah. They continued to cherish

" the hope of seeing the Promised Messiah ruling over the world of Israel even after
- the advent of lslam. In the Holy Quran and the Traditions, it is mentioned that God
_saved Jesus, the son of Mary from murder or crucifixion and raised him up towards
" Him. He would descend in the Last Days as a living sign for Jews and Christians. He
; will be a follower of Islam. There is no reference to a Promised Messiah or Masil
" Masih (Messiah-like man), It has been made amply clear that Jesus, the son of Mary

and no one else would come in latter days.l The Mirza tried to prove from the Holy
Quran that Jesus was dead. On the contrary he claimed that the coming of Jesus Christ
referred to in the Hadith was only a Christ incarnate. It may be made clear that it was
not on the authority of Hadith that he pushed the claim of his Messiahship, rather it

'was his own revelation which ‘“forced’ him to proclaim this office. The Hadith had a
k- gecondary position for him and he quoted it just in support of his revelation which was
L' binding on him and his followers. 5

Any how, the advent of Jesus Christ and the claim of Promised Messiahship
are two different things. The former is a belief supported by traditions and the latter

.8 Jewish doctrine, completely alien- to Islamic beliefs having its roots in the Jewish

Literature. The Mirza cleverly disguised his true face i.e. a Promised Messiah desig-

™

For theological discusgions, ses, Allama Syed Arwar Shah Kashmiri, Iqidaﬂhlarn. Pir Syed Mehar Ali Shan,
Saif-e- Chistiai, and Maulana Maudoodi, Finality of Prophethood eic. .
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nated to work for the political motives of world Jewry and deceived the Muslims by
his false posture of being an incarnate of Jesus Christ. He shrewdly dragged the ulema
mto useless theological controversies and carried out his sinister plan to Judaize Islam,

Dr Muhammad lqgbal, in his well known article on QJadianism stresses that
Ahmadya movement had been swiftly drifting towards Judaism.! Some Arab scholars
have also discussed in detail the pro-Imperialist pro-Jewish orientations of Qadiani
movement. Abbas Mahmud-ul Iqad, Al Shiekh Abu Zohra Misri, Al-Shiekh Mohib-
Ud-Din Al-Khatib, and Al-Sheikh Muhammad-ui- Madni have specially dwelt upon
this theme. Allama Muhammad-ul- Sawaf, in his famous work Al-Mukhtalat-ul-Is-
tamaria Lay Makaftehi-ul-Isfam proved that Qadiani movement is a branch of Im-
perialism. Dr Abdul Karim Ghulab, a research scholar of Moeroceo, has given a
scholarly treatment to this subject. He has established that the Ahmadya movement
was a by-product of Judaism and its basic beliefs bore striking similarity with
neo-Judaism of the {9th cc:ntury.2 The way Qadianis presented the concepts of jehad,
revelation, prophetheod, etc was the favourite subject of bigoted Jewish scholars of
19th century. Jews always showed a keen interest in development and growth of
Qadianism. Shod, a group of Jewish intelleginsia working in Jerusalem University and
headed by Dr Magesen conducted research on the proposed synthesis of Ahmadya
beliefs with modern Jewish philosephy as enunciated by Jewish Cabalist philosophers
of the 19th century. In 1927, Alexander Waldheim, an Austrian Judge wrote an
interesting article entitled A Modem Zionist Way to Islam and Ahmadya Movement -
It was published in the Review of Religions, a leading Qadiani Journal in its issue of
March 1927. Also in 1946, Mrs Aishy Romel, a Jew scholar of Jerusalem University
wrote a series of articles on Ahmadya movement,” highlighting some of its salient
features in relation to Jewish philosophical ideas.

Pro-Jewish orientation of Qadiani movement can also be seen in the.writings
of the Mirza. He repeated all those absurd allegations against the person of Jesus
which Jewish writers* had been levelling since the advent of Christianity. The Mirza
called Jesus’ miracles a series of tricks and mesermism. In the name of ‘smashing the
cross’ he criticized Christian beliefs and miraculous birth of Jesus Chirst. He is
‘charged with’ drunkenness, vulgar abuse of Jews, cowardice, disrespectful attitude to
his mother, friendliness with women of illrepute and even blasphemy. The Mirza cast
aspersions on the life of Mary also. After levelling allegations and making attempts
to under rate the status of the Christ, he called himself superior to Jesus in all respects.
He claimed to have performed such a stupendous taskwhich Jesus could never have
taken. A few extracis from his books will help understand the nature of his attacks on
Christianity and Jesus Christ :

Lalif Ahmad Sherwani, Harfi-lgbal, Lahore P. 115

Weekiy Chattan Lahore, 8 February, 1670,

Alfazi, Qadian, 12 June, 18468

R.Travers Herford, Christ in Jewish Literalure, Hastings Dicllonary of Chrisi and the Gospets (i) ‘Jesus of Nazaretn

EKADr 8. Krauss in the Jewish Encyclopedia, New York Vol Vii'and simifar other writings were used 1o launch
cks on Christianity by the Qadiani and his followars,
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i.  What a noble family he (Christ) belonged to three of his
grandmothers were whores whose blood was running into his

veins.!

ii.  Christ! what a character; an epicurean and drunkard. He wax
neither a devotee, nor an adorer, nor a sceker of truth. He was
but arrogant, self-conceited and god-hcad.2

iii.  Drinking has done extensive damage to the western world. One
reason for drinking has been that Christ used to drink himsell

L . .3
He took to it etther due to some discase or he was an addict.

iv.  Christ cannot ciaim himself to he pious, people did know that he
was a boozer. This was evident right in the beginning and not afier
his claim to ged-head, In fact, claim to god-head is one of the
consequences of drinking.?

With the denunciation of Christianity and distortion of Islamic belicfs, he
revived Jewish religious precepts. He called his community Beni-Isracl and claimed
himself to be Lsrael in his revelations.” In 1947, Qadianis had to leave East Punjah in
the wake of Partition of India. Affaz{ says that, in accordance with a revelation of the
Promised Messiah, a time will come for Ahmadya to leave Qadian. [t will happen to
estahlish the similarity hetween Ahmadya migration with the exodus of Jews.”
Messianic Uprisings : We further discuss different aspects of the Mirza’s claim of
Messiahship to elaborate the nature of his claim in a historical perspective.

The Cabalist-Jewish idea of the Promised Messiah had been a political
instrument in the hands of the Jews. In the 19th century, with the rise and growth of
Zionism the cult gradually eclipsed. From the 1st century AD to the emergence of
Zionism (1897), many self- styled Messiahs appeared. The appearanct of a Messiah
was often accompanied by some revelt or uprising. The claimant aspired for power
and declared to restore to the wandering Jews the Holy Land.

Under the Muslim rule, many sell-appointed Messiahs launched strong
political movements to topple Muslim states. About the year 700 AD, Abu lsa of
[spahan claimed 1o be a Messiah. He gathered an army of Jews to throw off the ‘yoku
of Muslim Caliphate’ and led the Jews to Palestine. A battle was [inally fought and
the Jews were badly defeated and scattered. Abu Isa took his own life. But this did
not discourage others from lfollowing his c"xmnp[cA A man by the name of Judghan-al-
Rai, a shephard, attempted the same thing, and in the end was also defeated and killed.
Almost at the sametime in Syria, a man named Screnus called upon the Jews to folfow

Mirza Ghulam Abmad, Anjam-i-Atham, 1897 Qadian P.7 {Supplement)
Maktoobai—e—Ahmadya, Mirza's letiers to his followers, Vol-3—pp 21-24
Mirza Ghuiam Ahmad, Kashti-e-Nooh, Qadian 1902, P. 65

Mirza Ghulam Ahmad, Sat Bachan, Qadian 1885, P. 172

Alfaz! Lahore, 4 October, 1947 .

Ibid
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his leadership in the reconquest of Palestine. Jews ({locked to him by thousands, only
to be deeply disappointed when his promises came to naught.

The period of Crusade gave a peculiar colour to the office of Messiahship.
A Spanish Jew, Abulafa claimed to be a Messiah and went to Rome in 1281 to convince
the Pope and offer Jewish help in the War. The most interesting Jewish Redecmer
was Shabbeti Zevi. In the year 1648, a lot of misfortunes and political crises came to
Central and Eastern Europe. These events served as a proof of the coming of a
Messiah. Jewish-Cabalists believed that Messiah’s arrival was to be preceded by war
and pestilence and eagerly waited for his advent.

Shabatti Zevi, a Spanish Jew, announced in 1648 that he was the Promised
Messiah. Jews welcomed him wherever he went. He travelled from Symerna to
Salonika and in the presence of learned men, he produced a marriage canopy and a
scroll of the Torah and went through a marriage ceremony with the Torah as his bride.
From Salonika he moved to Cairo where he found an environment fitted for his
purpose. ’

A wealthy Jew, Raphael Joseph Chelebi, sent him to Jerusalem for the
purpose of distributing charity where he met Nathan of Gaza who also claimed to be’
a prophet and messiah. He undertook to announce himself Fromised Elijah and spread
the propaganda of Zevi as the Promised Messiah.

Zevi married Sarah who claimed to be the bride of the Promised Messiah.
The wedding was celebrated with great pomp at the home of Chelebi at Cairo. This
event had a great similarity with that of Musalima, the impostor's marriage with Sajah,.
The Mirza also aspired to marry Muhammadi Begum, but her parents refused to
succumb to his blackmail carried out in the name of God.

Zevi was greeted with a frenzy of enthusiasm. Many Jews disposed of their
possessiens and marched to Palestine. Emboldened by his success, he declared that
he was going to Constantinople where, at the mere sight of him, the Sultan of Turkey
would give up the throne and Zevi would be the King of Kings. But when his ship
arrived at the Turkish port, he was arrested and placed in the fortess of Abydas. From
his prison, he issued proclamations and sent messages to Polish Jews and ordered
them to send him Nehemiah Cohen who himself claimed Messiahship. Cohen held
talks with Zevi and announced that Zevi was not a Messiah. The Polish prophet after
his anneuncement, could save himself only be running away t0 some safe place.

Zevi was brought to the Sultan’s Counrt for trial. He abandoened all his claims
and accepted a petty post in the Suitan’s Court and consented to become a Muslim.
Zevi's followers, although disillusioned yet argued that Muslim Zevi was but a human
image and he himself had ascended to heaven to wait for a more opportune time.! He
had atoned for the sins of Jewish people and would come back soon. Those Jews who

1. Grazel op, cit. F. 518



35 Politics Of Religious Claims

hypocritically converted to Islam for the cause of Judaism and waited for the return
of their Messiah, orgunized themselves in a crypto-lewish sect like Qadianis, and are

known as Dernmnelr.

In {8th century Britain, Richard Brothers, an Anglo- [sraelite, claimed to be
a Messiuh-the prince and restorer of Jews. Jonna Southeoatte announced to give birth
to the Promised Messiah alter miraculous cunucp\innl She could not do so. However,
many Jews of England paid great respect to her. John Alexander Dowie (America)
and LH. Piggot (Britain) who were the claimants ol the Promised Messiahship were
contemporarics of the Mirzi. All those persons were cither secret Jews or their
henchmen. Their main aim was to give shape and fillip to Jewish nationalism and
create a favourable dimate in support of them in the hostile European societics,
Freemasonry played very important role in the contexi of Jewish nationalism in a
subtle way. The decay of the Christian Church and emergence of Jewish power in
America had also great bearings on the European opinion.
‘T'omb’ of Jesus: The Mirza not only announced the natural death of Jesus Christ but
also ‘discovered’ his Iomh.2 At first in CGalliel (Palestine), then in Tripoli, afterwards
in Syria and ultintately through a prophetic revelation in Srinagar Kashmir.® [t was a
startling ‘discovery’. Hundreds of people went to Khanyar street of Srinagar to see
that tomb. But whoever went there faughed at the Mirza's H’ickcr_v.4 Qadianis regard
it as an unparalied event in the history of their movement.

How did Jesus come to India? The Mirza argued that Jesus was nailed on
the cross but did not die on it (Muslims believe hie was not nuiled on the cross at alt).
He was said to have been tuken down by his disciples in a swoon and was heuled within
40 days by an vintment called Marham-i-Lsa. He then travelled to the East via Persia
ind Afghania and reached India with his disciple St. Thomas. Why did he undertake
-his journey? In order to preach those Jews who had been exiled by King Sargon of
Assytia in 721 BC when he attacked the city of Sumaria. He also referred to the Second
Captivity of Jews when Nebuchadnezzer of Babylon stormed Jerusalem and is said to
have carried off some of the inhabitans as prisoners to Babylon. [t was claimed that
Kashmiris and Afghans were the descendants of the' Lost Ten Tribes” of Isract.” Jesus
had 1o preach to those ‘lost’ sheep. He traveiled to India under the name of Yuz Asaf
or Jesus, the gatherer. Khawaju Nazir Ahmad, a member of Lahore group of Qadiani
communily claimed that Mary also travelled with Jesus to India.” She died in Murree,

a hill station some 40 kilometer from Pakistan’s capital, Islamabad. The word Murrce

British Encyclopedia—Messiah

Mirza Ghulam Ahmad, Sat Bachan, Qadian, 1885 P.154

Mirza Ghulam Ahmad, Alhuda, Qadian, 1902

The Mirza advised one of his trusted followers, Molvi Abdullah Vakil to collect ‘evidences in support of lomb of
Jesus at Srinagar’. in his book Raz-i-Hagigat, the Mirza gives a letter from Molvi Vakil to prove that Jesus was
burried there, aolvi Vakil afterwards became a Baharapreacher and renounced Qadiam creed. It was one of the
factors responsible forthe change of his belief. He vivi

of the Mirza's revelation. He could not understand how the Mirza affixed his tevelationary stamp over this myth
which was the creation of Malvi Noordin and Khalifa Nurudin of Jammu {See Molvi Abdullah Vakil, Shula—al-Nar
Srinagar. Also see Muftt Muhammad Saadat Shah, Tehgigat-i- Youzasaf, Srinagar)

Mirza Ghulam Ahmad Masih Hindustan Main, Qadian, 1839 F 16

Khawaja Nazir Ahmad, Jesus in Heaven on Earth, Aziz Manzil Lahcre, 1952 P.355. Alsc Assadultah Kashmir

Hazrat Maryam Ka Safre-Kashmee Rahwaks '
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ly exposed this fraud which also carried the authentication
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is said to be the corruption of Mary und is famous for her tomb. After her death, Jesus
migrated to Kashmir and died at the age of 120. His tomb is situated at Khanyar Street,
Srinagar, Kashmir. St. Thomas went to South India and there he founded a church.

The main thrust of the whole theory is on the assumption that in 721 BC
Ten Tribes of Israel were ‘lost’ and settled in Eastern countries, specially in Afghanis-
tan and Kashmir. Had there been no ‘colonization’ of Jews in those countries, Jesus
would not have taken such a long journey from Palestine to India. Here lies the crux
of the matter. The stress placed on the dispersion of the Tribes of Israel and their
conversion to Islamic and olher faiths was meant to provide a feed-back to the Jewish
nationlist movementAnglo-Israelismwhich swept the world before the emergence of
Zionism.

As stated earlier, Anglo-Israclism was a movement launched by Jews and
their agents on the presumption that the Ten Tribes of Assyrian captivity (721 BC),
on leaving the land of their sojourn wandered towards the west while those of the
Babylon captivity (586 BC) passed eastwards to Afghanistan and India. Under the
oppressive rules of Gentiles, they were lost to the world of civilization. An appeal was
made to the European nations (said to have belonged to Lost Tribes of Israel) to help
their brethren acquire a separate homeland in accordance with the prophecies of the
Holy Book. P K.Hitti has, however, proved that the Ten Tribes were never lost and it
is a historical myth.I

The earliest suggestion of an Israelitish ancestry of the English is to be found
in John Sadler’s work Rights of the Kingdom (1649). He drew a series of paraliel
beiween English Law and customs and those of the Hebrews and Jews. Richard
Brothers (1757- 1832), a half pay officer of eccentric habits in the English Navy,
prophecised imminent restoration to Israel of the Holy Land and elevation of himself
as the prince of Jews’. In 1840, John Wilson adopted the theory and wrote widely on
it. His work Our Israelitish Origin is the first coherent exposition of the theory. Other
advocates in the 19th century were W.Carpenter (Ismelite Found), F.R.A.Glover
(England, the Remanant of Juda} and C.Piazzi Smyth, the Astronomer Royal for
Scotland who deduced from certain measurements of the Great Pyramid that the
English were the descendants of the Lost Tribes2

In 1871, Edward Hine published his fdentification of the British Native with
the Lost Israel, of which a quarterhnf a million copies were said to have been sold. In
the United States, the movement was led by W.H.Poole and G.W.Greenwood.? A
vigorous Anglo-Israel propaganda campaign was started by Major H.W.J.Senior of
Ist Bengal Infantry in India. In 1883 he wrote a book entitled Are the English Israelites”*
It was meant to prove that the English were descendants of Israel and God has fulfilled

P.K. Hil, Hldm of Syria, P. 08
go:agocloloq Review, London, March, 1968 and Encyclopedia of Religions and Ethics, Vol, 1,Anglo-Israelism

o N
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Major H.W.J.Sanlor, Are the English Israsilies:? M.E.Church Press Lucknow, 1883
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his Covenant with Abraham, and will fulfil all his promises to Isract . A bulk of Anglo-
Israelite literature was published and distributed in India by Messers New Man and
Co, Caleutta. In this book Senivr states :

"God has declared that until the sun, stars and sea depart, Israel shall not
cease from being a Nation before him for ever. They have not yet departed, therefore,
Israel must be now one of the nations of the earth. The question, therefore, naturally
arises, what natton is Israet? The champions of Angloe-lsraelism have logically main-
tained that England alone, of all nations of earth, possesses, all the blessings and
promises, so far as they have been lulfilled, which were made by God in favour of his
peaple Isracl and that as God is true, faithful, and covenant keeping, these promises
and blessings cannot be diverted to any Gentile nation, therefore, it Tollows that
England must be {srael. And inaccepting this truth, we also appropriate the unfulfilled
promises of the future glory of Isracl. We find that all the prophecies relating to the
first advent of Christ, the destruction of Jerusalem, Babylon, Nienevch, Egypt, Moab,
Judah etc. have been fulfilled literally and that all the punishments inllicted on Israei
were also literally fulfilled, therefore, the promise of blessings to Israet must be taken
aswell in a literal sense, and we assent that this, in no way interferes with the spiritual

intempretation as applicable to the Church."!

Under the heading to be restened ter their own land, Senior cites scriptural
evidences (Isa xiii, Jer xxx3, Zech viii, 12, 13 etc) to prove that scattered Israel will
gather and sing in the height of Zion 2

The hostility of the English te Napoleon and Russia, and the sympathy
_aroused by the Dreyfus case are attributed to the Anglo-Israelite ideas. It is also argued
that the English must be the representative of Isruel as otherwise many Divine
promises made to that race would be unfulfilled?

Qadiani agents actively propagated Anglo—lsraellite ideas after invoking
interest in the discovery of the ‘tomb’ of Jesus. Qadiani methods of argumentation
and discussion bear extreme similarly with that of Anglo-Israelites. Il one happens to
undertake a comparative study of Mirza Ghulam Ahmad’s Masifi Hindustan Mein
(Jesus in India),'1 Sher Ali’s articles in the Review of Religions, Qadian, (1902-1908),
Khawaja Nazir Ahmad's Jesus in Heaven on Earth, 1.D .Shams Where Did Jesus Dic,5
Mufti Muhammad Sadig’s Qabw-Masr‘/:,b and Qazi Muhammad Yusaf's Isa Dar
Kaslunir,7 with that of Anglo-Israelite literature, he will find Jews and Qadianis sailing
in the same boat. '

Senigr, op. cit. PP.61-62

Ibid P.88

Encyciopedia of Religion and Ethics Anglo-israelism

The Ahmadya Foreign Mission Dept. Ra%wah 1864

J.D.Bhams, Where Oid Jesus Die? Rabwah, 1965

Mufti M. Sadiq, Qabre-Masih, Qadian, 1936

Qazi Muharmmad Yusal, Isa Dar Kashmir, Manzoor-e-Aam Press Peshawar, 1046, See also Syed Sadig Hussain
Kaght-ui-Israr, Qadian, {911 .
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Notovitch Account : The quasi-historical sources quoted by the Mirza and his disciples
ta prove that Jesus Christ fainted on the cross at the time of his crucifixion are based
on Jewish fabricated accounts. An oft-quoted source s a travelling account of Nicholas
Notovitch, a Russian by birth and the contemporary of the Mirza. Notovitch claimed
to have found sume ancient Buddhist scrolls at the monastery of Hims (Tibet) in which
itwaswritten that in his boyhood Isa (Jesus Christ) secretly fled from his father’s house
from Jerusalem and with a train of merchants travelled towards Sindh, and settled
among the Aryas. He frequented Jain Temples and studied their cult. He then went
to Ceylone and from there to Jaggernaut. He learnt the use of herbs, medicines, and
mathematics. He also studied the religious doctrines of Brahmins and acquired their
secret arts,

The book appeared in French® and in English’ and made a considerable stir
in Europe and India for sometimes. In an article in the Nineteenth Centiry, London,
QOctober, 1894, Prof. Max Muller, a famous German scholar who lived in India, saw
clearly that the tale was false and suggested that M. Notovitch had been so persistent
in trying to get information that the Lamas, having nothing better to give him, had
invented the story to satisfy him. Prof.J.Archibald Douglas of the Government
College, Agra took a journey to Ladakh in 1895 in the hope of finding the MS but no
such MS was found even in Tibet anywhere. The whole story was described in the
Nineteenth Century April, 1896 and M. Nicholas Notovitch was recognized to be an
unscrupudous adventurer Different versions of such false travelling accounts were
prepared by secret Jewish agencies to defame Jesus Christ. It was a sinister attempt
1o convey on the basis of semi- historical records that Jesus was a false Messiah, who
after his alleged travels in the East acquired the knowledge of herbs and magical tricks
which he subsequently exercised in Palestine to impose his ‘“false claim of Messiahship’
on the Jew, but was ultimately ‘crucified to death’.

Rosicrucian: The false account of life of Jesus was also published by a Freemason
Organization-the Raosfcrucian AMORC(USA). There is an adhesion between the
higher degrees of Freemasonry and the Rosicrucian Ledges, and also that the
knowledge possessed by Rosicrucian in regard to the life of Jesus is shared by the
Higher Degrees of Freemasonry. The organization claims to retain ancient traditions,
teachings, principles and practical helpfulness of the ESSENE Brotherhood which
existed in Palestine between second century B.C. to the second century A.D. Dr Lewis
Spencer, Imperator of the Rosicrucian Order for North and South America, in his
book The Mystical life of Jesus gave an account of Jesus' life between the twelve years
and his emergence as a preacher in Galilee.* He says that Jesus did not die on the
cross but fell unconscious and regained his senses in the tomb in which he was buried.
He then secretly left for a sheltered place at Galilee. He ascended to the Heavens not

N. Notovitch, vie Inconnue de Jesus Christ, Paris, 1894

Alexina Loranger, Unknown Life of Jesus, Rand Mcnally Co, London, 1864

Walter A H. op. cit p.92

Dr Lewis Spenrer Yhe Mystical 1ife of Jesus. American Rosicrucian Series, Supreme Grand Lodge A
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’hysically or in His physical body but had a mystical and psychic experience. He
became an avatar who kept silence and retired from public life. He was buried at
Mount Carmel (Palestine). His body remained in a tomb for severat centuries but was
finally removed to a secret sepulchre guarded and protected by his (Essene) Brothers.!

Crucifixion By An Eye Witness: Another Freemason source often quoted by Qadiani
writers in their works is The Crucifivion by An Eye Witness. In the introduction and
preface of the book, it is stated:

It is an English translation of an aneient Latin copy of a ‘Letter written seven
years after the crucifixion by a personal friend of Jesus in Jerusalem to an Essene’
Brother in Alexandria... This book was withdrawn from circulation the movement it
was published. It was published in 1873 in America. All the plates were destroyed, and
it was supposed that all the published copies of the book were likewise disposed of.
The official copies which were deposited with the librarian of the Congress, in
compliance with the laws ol copy right, also disappeared. Fortunately one copy escaped
this fate’? TK, the author of The Great Work in the introduction to the book says that
the book found its way into the possession of a prominent Freemason in the state of
Massachusetts, USA. There it remained securely until accidentally discovered by his
daughter, sometime during the summer of the present year (1907). The lady, knowing
my (TK) interest in things Masonic, kindly sent me the copy for examination. I, at
unce, recognized its remarkable nature and supreme value and importance * Then we
are told that it was republished in 1907, after having been compared with the Latin
MS which still exists in the hands of the Masonic Fraternity in Germany. No doubt,

+ will remain securely guarded from Anti-Masonic Vandalism’* Tt is asserted that

csus was a member of Essene Brotherhood. He was taken down from the crossina -
swoon and his Essene Brothers took his body to a safe place. Nicudemus, the physician
applied a special balm and his wounds healed in a few days. Later Jesus left the capital |
for the White Lodge atop the Mount of Olives in disguise. Finally, the letter says, he
died in solitude after 6 months in Palestine.

The Mirza’s contribution to the Jewish-masonic theory is the addition of
Marfhiam-i-Isa (Jesus’ ointment) in place of Nicudemus balm said to have been applied
to the body of Jesus which had promptly healed up wounds inflicted during
‘crucifixion’. In Greek-Islamic system of medicine, different names® are given to this
ointment only because of its fast curing characteristics and no Hakim had ever called
it an ointment meant specifically for Jesus’ wounds. :

Sehghl-ég I nf):er. The Secret Doclrines of Jesus, 'Supreme Grand Lodge of Amare, California, America, 1834
s on R Y
Emne order, says the tranglation, of which the present Freemasonry is the madem edition, was at the time of
Jesus widely diffused through Palestine and Egypt and had their colonies scatiered all ousr the country. Jesus -
was a member of the order. .
3. An Eyewitnass, Tha Crucifixion, (‘A letter written seven Syeams after the Crucifixion by & personal friend of Jesus
in Jeusalem to an Essens Brother in Alexandria, Supplemental Harmonic Seres, Vol Second Edition,
indo-Amsrican Co, Chicago. USA, 1807 Reproduced by Nafess Priniers, Lahocs, 1977)
Ibld P.13

Ibid P.14
Mantana Awsl Amntsari, Al Kaviahwat Ghavia, Amritsar, P.83
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Yuz Asaf: The Mirza further claims that Jesus assumed the name of Yuz Asaf during
his tour in India. It is still an interesting aspect of the theory and very cunning
exploitation of the name of Yuz Asaf. Yuz Asaf or Yod Asaf, whom he calls Jesus, is
no one else except Gautama Buddha. When Buddha attained perfect knowledge and
enlighenment, he then, according to Buddhist traditions ol Lalitavastara became a
Bodhistava {enlightened one). Bod Asaf is a corruption of Bodhistava. The story of
Buddha’s miraculous birth and his attainment of the status of Bodhistava made its
way from India to Central Asia in around 2nd century AD. Subsequently during the
reign of Abassid Caliph Al-Mansur, Arab scholars of Al-Mukafah school translated
many Pali Sanskrit and Persian works into Arabic. The story of Buddha (Bod or Yod
Asaf) made its way into numerous Arabic works. Ibnul-Nadim, in his Alfahrist refers
to three books where this story had been narrated with slight variations.! With the
passage of time, the story of Budhas’ attainment of perfect knowledge which originated
in India came back to India in a different shape. The names being Arabacized and the
events slightly changed.

Qadiani writers had also tried to explore the Sanskrit sources to support this
myth. They quote an extract from the Bhavishya Maha Purana by Sutta. It may be
stated here that the Puranas are eighteen in number. They are purely mythical in
nature and are characterized as popular sectarian compilation of mythology,
philosophy, history and law. The earliest Puranawas prabably compiled around fourth
century AD. Bhavishya Purana was printed for the first time in Bombay in 1910 under
the order of Maharaja Partap Singh ol Kashmir.

In this Purana a mythical story of a meeting of Shalwahin, Chief of Saka with
awhite complexion man in the land of the Huns somewhere in a height of the Himalya
has been narrated. When Shalwahin met him he asked him about his religious
principles. He replied :

O King ‘The goddess of the savages (dasyu) namely Thamasi (the goddess
Masi) manifested herself in terrifying disguise and I having reached her in the infidel
fashion, attained the status of Masya. O King! listen to that religion (of hers) which 1
impressed upon the infidel, Having cleansed the mind and purified the impure body,
and having recourse to the prayer of naigama, man must worship the pure eternal. By
justice, truth, unity of mind and meditation, man must worship in Sun’s heaven
(Suryamandala which could also mean Sun’s disk). That Lord, himself as immovable
(from his course) as the Sun, always at last attracts the essence of all erring creatures.
With this (message) O King! Masya vanished and the blissful image of Lord, the bliss
giving, being ever in my heart, my name has been established as Ihamasiya.2

Havig heard these words, the King removed that infidel priest and estab-
lished him in pitiless land of infidels’?

1, Encyclopedia of Islam Vol.lLondon Bariam and Bodhasa! PI215
2. Muftl Muhammad Sadiq, Qabai- I-Masih, Qadian 1838 P.
Ax Shiskh Abdul Qadir, Jesue Travels to Kashrmr papar raad oul in a Conference in London in 1878
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Dr D.D. Kosamby, u learned Sanskarit scholar of Tata Research Institute,
Bombay says the goddess Masi (s a fiction and the holy book Naigarma has no existence
inthe Hindu Seriptures. The infidel pricst attained the status of framasiya by tollowing

the goddess Masi and preached the Sun worship.

Qadiani scholars cafl the infidet Thamasiya, Isa Masih and the goddess Masi
is stated to be the angel Gabriel ! By neglecting all inconsistencics of the legendury
story, it is claimed that Raja Shalwahin met Jesus Christ when the tatter 'Visited” India.
Khawaja Nazir Ahmad got the said Bhavishya Purapa's extract translated from Dr
Shiv Nath Shashtari and calls the white complexion infidel pr\'\:slymlmplml.z

The story is purely mythical in nature and is about a Sun Worshipper who
is a follower of the godess Masi probably a Bodhisatva. The stary seems to have been
fabricated in around Sth century AD and had no connection whatsoever in any way
with Jusus Chrisl who lived in early Ist Century AD in Jerusalem.

Mirza Quadiani and his disciples have alse picked up the names of mythical
Bodhistavas from the Buddhist record and cal! them fesus. A Bodhistava Mertava is
called Messiah, ML-SHi-Lo named in the Chinese Buddhist record is termed Messiah,
and Budha's prophecy of a Bagwa Mirpa or white~faccd Bodhistava is said to have been
meant tor Jesus because he was white in cmnplcxion.}

There is no historical proof cither to support the contention that St. Thomas
came to India.* The churches founded in Maudras und Malabar are after his name but
not founded by him. Archacotogical evidences clearly belie all such claims. It is also
absurd to say, as Khawaja Nazir claims, that Mary, the mother of Jesus came to India
and died in Murree where her tomb still exists.”

It will be interesting to give the story of Budha (Bodhasaf) as narrated in
Arabic and Persian sources® to prove that Yuz Asaf is Buddha:

“To the long childless King of Janaysar, u pagan ruler of Sulabat (i.e. Kapal
Vustu) in India, a son is born by miracutous means. The King names him Yudasaf
(better, Budhasaf-Budhistiva). As astrologer predicts that the prince’s greatness wiil
not be of this world, the King, therefore, confines the child in a city set apart, to keep
him frem the knowtledge of human misery. Growing up Yudasaf frets at his confine-
ment; and insists on being atlowed out, Riding orth, he sees two infirm men and later
a decrepit ald man, and learns of human frailty and death. The holy hermit Bilawhar’
of Sarnath (Ceylone) then appears in distress and preaches to Yudasal in parables,
convincing him of the vanity of human existence and the superiority of ascetic way.

T

Sheikh Abdul Qadir, Jasus Travels to India and 1o Kashmir, Paper read out in a Conference in London in 1978

Jesus in Heaven on Earth, P.369

M.A.Bengali, The Tomb of Jesus, Rabwah 1571 P.51, Also Mirza Ghulam Ahmad, Masih Hindustan Mein, P.26

An apocryphal Acts of the Apostles describe the missionary endeavours of the Apostle Thomas in the Indus

regicn during the rule of Gondophares in 18AD {See Sir John Marshal, A Guide to Taxila)

Jesus in Heaven on Earh, P.353

fggéts Urdu translation see Abdul Ghani-Kitab-i- Shahzada Yus Asaf Aur Hakim Bilohar, Mufid Aam Press, Agra,
1

Bilawhar is probabiy a bowdlerized version of Bhagwan. India International Centre Quarterly, 1981, P.133
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Bilawhar spurns renown and riches, indulgence in food and drink and sexual pleasure
and all fleshy delights.

King Jaynasar is hostile to Bilawhar and opposes Yudasal’s conversion. In
spite of the efforts of the astrologer, Rakis and the pagan ascetic Al-Bahwan, Janaysar
is overcome in a mock debate on the faith and is himself won over. Yudusaf renounces
his royal estate and embarks on missionary journeys. After various adventures, he
reaches Kashmir (Kusinara) where he entrusts the future of his religion to his disciple
Ababud (Ananda) and dies'.!

There is no reference whatsoever to Jesus Christ. It is a story of an Indian
prince Budha (Bodasaf) who died at Kusinara {Gorakhpur, India) and his disciple was
Ababud (Ananda). In Ibne Babway’s fiwnal-ud-din (10th century AD) and Allama
Maijlisi's Ain- ul-Hayat, similar version of the story appears with the addition that at
the time of his death Bodasaf erected a house (stupa) where he was laid.

In all authentic Arabic sources and works on history like AlMasudi’s
Marooj-ul-Zahab (956 AD),2 Tbnul Nadim’s A! Fahrisi (988 AD),?' Al Bullazoris’ Frig
Bain u! Faniq (1023 AD)4 and Al Khawarzamis' Mufatih-ul- Aloor® the Buddha's
name is Arbicized as Bodasaf, Yud Asab, etc. He had been called an Indian
prince/prophet sent by God to preach them righteousness. His place of burial was
Kushanagar in Gorakhpur, India. The word Kushanagar was Arabacized as Qashmir
or Kashmir. Some later historians ascribed it to the Valley of Kashmir. Perhaps Muslim
historians of Kashmir® picked up this story from these sources. However, no one dared
to call Bodhasaf, Jesus Christ,

In some quasi-historical sources of Indian history, mostly 16th century works,
it has been said that Bod Asaf was ordained in the remote past towards the people of
" Kashmir. However no authentic source on Indian or Kashmir history even refers to
the arrival of Jesus in Kashmir. Khawaja Nazir Ahmad has quoted a passage from
Mullah Nadri’s History of Kashmir to prove his historical myth of Jesus’ visit to India.’
Mutlah was a religious scholar in the court of Zain-ul-Abdin {1420-1470), King of
Kashmir commonly cailed Budshah. It is mentioned in the history book of Kashmir
that the Mullah did compile a book on Kashmir history but no one had ever confirmed
its existence. It is an extinct document. Khawaja claims to have seen it in Srinagar in
1946 and got a phote copy of the page where the ‘arrival’ of Jesus in Kashmir was
mentioned. He did not buy that book from G.M.Mohyuddin Wancho who possessed
it and was willing to sell it at a high price. Despite repeated requests and challenges,

Qadiani writers have not been able to produce the original manuscript to enable the

nﬁclopedla of Islam, op, cit, P.1215
di, Marooj-uz- ‘Zah Bol’hamrlh Nafah-ul-Tesb, Egypt,Vol il, P.138
tbnul Nadim, Al Fahrist, Egypt 488

E‘ncxc‘:lopodla lslam og o, P1213

Ses Khaweaja Muhnmmad Azsm Tarikh-e-Azami; Sablr Eleciric Press, Lahors, P, 82
Kh. Nazir, op. cit. P.364
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scholars to determine its position. It is nothing but a pure Ahmadya fmud' (Italics
added).

Prior to the Mirza’s *discovery’, Hasan Shah, an eminent Kashmiri historian,
wrote that adjoining the tomb of Khawaja Nasirud-din in Khan Yar street, Srinagar
was the tomb of Yus Asap who came t¢ Kashmir as an envoy from Egypt during the
reign of Zainut Abdin (15th (:(:ntury)2 He died and was buried in Kashmir. His tomb
was built in 15th century. Historical and archaeological evidences, particularly the
inscriptions on Takhu-e-Sulentan and the style of Persian writings (Khat-e-Suls), belie
all claims made by Qadiani theorists in connection with the said tomb located in
Khanyar street, Srinagar.

It is also interesting to know that the story of Bilahwar and Yud Asaf
migrated to Europe and furnished the prototype for the Christian legend of Barlam
and Josaphat. They were called Christian saints and were held in high esteem> A
church was founded in memory of Barlam in Pamerlov (Sicley). The Mirza has
admitted the establishment of this church in the name of Barlam.* It is very strange
that in the course of early Middle Ages of Europe, the legendary theme of Barlam
and Josaphat appeared again the again. In Greek, in Latin, in Provencal, in French,
Italian, Portuguese, Catalan, in Spanish, English and German. The story was known
in Christian North Africa and Middle East, and in the Russian province of Georgia,
There were also Ethiopian, Armenian, Church Slavonic and Rumanian versions as
well as non-Christian ones in Arabic and Hebrew. The reason why this legend and its
literary versions are so popular was that from the very start, it would seems, this novel
r romance in verse-form was instructive and entertaining, it told of unknown exotic
\ands, it was a thoughtful adventure story, and a copversion report-always welcome at
that time edifying, colourful, exciting and satisfying fairy tale all at the same time. The
framework of the expansive narrative allowed additions or contractions, philosophical
discourses, theological reasoning and exhortations, and poetic fineness in the form of
gnomic verses, similes and parables. It appealed to all strata of medieval society both
to the learned and the less-learned. The story of Barlam and Josaphat had at that time
became a genuine piece of World Literature®

DM. Lang, in his book the Wisdom of Balahvar, A Chrstian Legend of
Buddha, says that the whole Ahmadya story of Yuz Asaf is ‘simply based on an extract
from the familiar Arabic version of the Barlam and Josaphat romance’. ®

1. The Monthly, Al-Bilagh, Karachi, Docombel' 1973

2. Pirzada Hasan Shah, Tarikh-e-Hasan, Kohingor Press Srinagd 96% {Thc book was compiied in 1888
before the Mirza anncunced his th oory) Alsc see, Mufti Shah s, qiqat—v—‘funsaf ‘Srinagar and Qazi
Zahoor ul- Hasan ng;arlstan-:‘l ?;ﬂhmlr Srinagar, 1';!; ™ d Spink and Co, Cal A

3 o ACKer . any ink an cutta, 19835, Alsa
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4. erza Ghulam Ahmad, Tohfa Golarvia, Qadian, 1900, P.1 '

5. Si A. Schulz, Two Christian Saints? Indian. Ini-rnailonal Cantre Quarterly, Vol 8, No 2 1881
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Holy Shroud And Grail: It is also asserted that Jesus did not die on the cross but was
taken down alive in a state of swoon and was wrapped up in a winding sheet, the holy
shroud. This Holy Shroud exists today and proves that Jesus did not go to the Heaven.!
It was found in Turin, Italy. The alleged old manuscripts which narrate the story of
the Shroud are said to be in possession of a Freemason Society in America?

Equally interesting is a book The Hofy Blood and Holy Grail by Michael
Baigent, Richard Leigh and Henry Lincoln,? featured in the top ten of non-fiction
book sales chart in London as it said to have given a ‘shattering secret of more than
2000 years relating to the life of Jesus'. Henry Lincoln in the discovery of the national
riches of small French Church in Rennes-le-Chateau at the foot of Pyrenees, South
France found cryptically couled parchments treasures of secret societies, the Knights
Templar, a dynasty of obscure French King, freemasons etc. He concluded that Jesus
married and his bloodline still existed. He was alive in 45 AD but no indication of the
place has been given.

Qadianis are also referring to this Judeo-masonic study on the life of Jesus.
It is said to have shaken the established edifice of the Church. It has been regarded
as the last evidence in support of the ¢laims made by Ahmadyat.4

In short, the claim of Mirza Ghulam Ahmad to Promised Messiahship had
Jewish connotation. It has nothing to do with the second coming of Jesus, the son of
Mary. Through this claim, he took active part in providing assistance to Jewish
nationalism and attempted to Judaize Islam. He used filthy language to underrate
Jesus’ position and repeated Jewish charges against him. The myth of Jesus’ journey
and his death in Kashmir are supported from Jewish-masonic writings. The network
of mythical stories was created in 19th century to provide fillip and spur to Anglo-
Israelism, a Jewish-backed movement. Qadianis are still drawing upon Jewish sources
to support their theories about the alleged death of Jesus.

Equally absurdis the Mirza’s contention that Baba Guru Nanak, the founder
of Sikhism was a Muslim.” This has been vchemently denied by the scholars. His
much-trumpeted theory that Arabic is the mother® of all languages is simply unac-
ceptable to linguists. They, on the basis of archaeological evidences, designate Arabic
a much recent language. The discovery of various scripts is dated like this: Sumerian
{4000 BC).Chinese (1500 BC), Sanskrit (1200 BC) and Arabic (328 BC). The late
‘discovery of written Arabic inclined the etymologists to the view that Arabic could not
be considered for a study determining primal language.7

Hasan M.Khan, Mugadas Kaffin, Rabwah, 1978, Mumitaz Fanxl, The Crumbling of the Crass, Lahom 1872
Atfazi, Flabwah 10 July, 1877

Bugonl Leigh ‘and Uncoln, Holy Blood, Holg;imi Delacorte Presa Now york, USA 1982
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Mirza Ghulam Ahmad Sat Bachan, Qadinn, 1

Mirza Ghulsm, Ahmad Manan-yr Huhrnan Qadian 1685

Pakistan Timu, thom May, 1582

N@N AL



45 Politics Of Religious Claims

Separate Religion: By 1901, Mirza Qadiani planned to give a separate entiry to his
heretical sect. He slowly moved to carve out a new Ummah from Islamic Community
of India through his absurd claims and prophetic utterances and looked to the British
for its due recognition. At the same time he continued to serve the British Imperialist
interests both in India and abroad through a vicious propaganda campaign.

According to the Census of India Report (1901), 1331 people embraced this
new belief in Punjab.! The Mirza entered the name of his sect as ‘Musalman Sect of
Ahmadya’ in the Census Report. He claimed that his sect was the only Islamic sect
existed not only in India but in the whole world of Islam as all other Muslim sects were
Kafir and outside the pale of Islam. He called Ahmadya Community ‘fresh milk’ and
all other believers in Islam ‘rotten milk infested with bacteria’. He cleverly organized
his followers into a sépwme ummah on the basis of his false pruphethood.'His open
claim to prophethood came in November, {901 when he wrote a tract to clarify his
claim of prophethood and Risalat. It was a dangerous attempt to sabotage and
undermine the Muslim unity. Before that he ingeniously concealed his real claim in
sufistic jargons like 2!/ or brooz aithough moved fast to full-fledged prophethood. The
ulema had a good knowledge of his elusive strategy and realized his evil intentions.
They condemned him as Kafir even in 1891 on the basis of his claim of Messiahship.

The malicious intention of the Mirza in forming a separate community by
disintegrating the solidarity of Muslim ummah through his prophetic claims can be
seen in his petition which he sent to MacWorth Young, Lt. Governor of the Punjab
in January, 1901. In his petition he prays that he may be granted permission o send
a deputation consisting of 12 of his followers to wait on the Lt. Governor for the
purpose of submitting a memorial praying that the sect of Mohammadan to which
they belonged may be officially reccogrlizecl.2 '

On the basis of his past family record of loyalty and the meritorious services
he rendered for the Imperialism, he aspired to be recognized officially as the founder
of a separate religious eatity so that he could exclusively reap socio-economic benefits
for his community which mostly comprised lower middie class.Earlier he suggested to
the Government to arrange a World Religious Conference under its auspices and
allow him to show a heavenly sign in proof of his claim.?

The Government ignored this proposal despite all of his humble requests.
He was informed that ‘the Lt. Governor is undble to receive the deputation proposed to
be sent by Mirza Ghulam Ahmad of Kadian'

1. in tha Census of lndfa Raport for 1801 the member of Ahmadis In the m.c‘abwerp 1113 UP 931 and Bombay
Prasidencies 11087 (it wag inaccurate] The main concentration of 8 was im the Punjab, In the Pun;a.g
Census Report for 1901, it is stated that Mirza Ghulam Ahmad b?an is wnﬂfasa Moulvi with a rpeclal FIigSIon
wveepers’. Mirza Ghulam Ahmad submitied a peiition to the unmm.nt of Pusbjab m?‘uostan that “the title
d Mutia or Mouivi may not be prefixed to hig name. The Government of P im thal he had been
menticned as Mirza ulam Ahmad of Qad‘an He then asked the nxcblo 3] lhm settences as it ‘cast a slur
on his reputation; Government of the Punjab, Home DOE“Pmcuding: March 1903 Flle No.175, India Office
Library, London, Howeaver his close rel Mirza Imam laimed 16 be 8 or of
ammmem of the Punfab, Home Dupartment Proceedings No.@2-83, File No 44 anuary 1801, lndva “otfice.”

Dr Basharat Ahmad, Mujadad--Azem, Vol |, P.638
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With the passage of time Qadian was tumed into the religious arm of the
British Intelegence Department. The Mirza sent spies abroad under the cover of
missionaries to serve Imperialism. We discuss here some obnoxious activities of the
Ahmadya emissaries in India and abroad to establish the political character of
Ahmadyat.

Central Asia: Central Asia had always been an area of the British military and political
penetration. In 1812, William Moorcraft, an official of the East India Company, sent
a group of specially trained agents in Central Asia. Mir Azitullah was a British agent
who undertook an extensive journey to collect military intelligence. Alexander Burnes
and Mohanlal, a Kashmiri Pandit, led an expedition to this area in early thirties for
procuring political and military intelligence.l Joseph Wolff, the son of a Jewish Rabbi,
gembraced Christianity. He took an expedition to Bokhara in 1844 to discover the fate
of two British agents, Col. Stoddart and Cap Connolly. They had been sent by the
Government of India to Bokhara where they were detained by the Amir, imprisoned
and executed.?

In early sixties, after the ruthless suppression of the War of Independence
in India, the British again intensified thei} subversive activities in Central Asia under
the direction of Col. Walker, Superintendent of the Grand Trignometrical Survey.
Col. Walker was assisted in this task by a band of specially trained native agents,
prominent among whom being Pandit Manphool, Faiz Muhammad, Bhai Dewan
Singh and Ghulam Rabbani.* Muhammad Hussain Azad, the famous Urdu critic was
also a British agent and he undertook an espionage mission in Central Asiat

Phillips Knightly and Colin Simpson in their well documented book: The
Secret Lives of Lawrence of Arabia while discussing the political rivalries of Russia and
British India confirm the existence of a spy ring operating in Central Asia :

‘By the early 1900s this struggle between Asiatic Russia and British India
had shifted ground slightly, but was still being pursued to the same end. In Afghanistan,
Persia, Mesopotamia, ‘Syria, and the Persian Gulf, a network of British agents,
ostensibly consuls, travellers,hmerchants, and archaeologists working for the army, the
Admiralty, the Foreign and India Offices, or the Intelligence Service, collected
fragments of information in the hope that of some one, somewhere they would form
a pattern. Their aims were to influence chieftains, win over tribes, settle disputes and
disparage the Russians and the French all in the cause of protecting the Empire.’s

¥ Mohan Lal, Travels in the Punjab and Afghanistan and Turkisian to Baiidy, Bokhara and Herat and a Visit to Greal
Sritain, Germany, First Ed. 1848, Reprint, Al Blrunl, Lahore, 1878
2 , A Mission to Bokhara, Ratisidge and Pai, London, 1088
T F dohri.lsn“hhmﬁ Alhr‘ri'fAs\'il.MnyI" Aaix Kemm' Taniard Acadeny, Kasach 1860 (He has published |
or sen a 3 ag published in
Urdu the text of the Report which he searched out in India office Lf {nndon)" (e
5 Phillip Knightley and Colin Simpson, The Secret Lives of Lawrence of a, London 1871, P.50
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In 1899, the Mirza planned to send a mission to Central Asia to carry out
‘reconnaissance work.’ It composed of Moulvi Qutub Din, Mian Jamaldin and Mirza
Khuda Bux. The real purpose of the mission was disguised under the cover of finding
the traces of the alleged journey of Jesus Christ from Palestine to India via Central
Asia. On 4 October, 1899 the Mirza proposed to hold a meeting at Qadian to bid
farewell to them as they were leaving India on a ‘noble’ mission.! However, the mission
could not leave and only individuals were sent at different occasions to Afghanistan
and Central Asian territories in accordance with the political expediencies of the time

Afghanistan: Afghanistan had always been a centre of political upsurge against the
British Imperialism. Before giving the subversive activities of Qadiani intelligence
workers in Kabul, a brief historical background is given to understand the crux of the
issue.

As stated earlier, in the second half of 19th century, Britain and Russia
followed an aggressive policy with regard to Central Asia. The real cause of rivalry lay
in strategic considerations and trade interests as well as in the desire to strengthen
their control over the countries already conquered. The British colonialists in India
feared that the approach of any foreign troops to Indian frontiers would inevitably
lead to an outburst of popular anger against their rule. They were, therefore, also
eager to spread their influence and, if possible; complete domination over the adjacent
countries of Persia, Afghanistan, Sinkiang and Burma.

The Czarist Russia was also expanding its territory. Between 1866 and 1872
Russia brought Bokhara, Samarkand and Khiva under its control. The British Govern-
ment thought that Russia would push further south-ward and invade India. To guard
against this danger, the British wanted, firstly, to get the hilly country lying between
the Pamir plateau and the Arabian Sea under their control and, secondly, to place a
friendly Amir on the Afghan throne. Accordingly, Quetta was secured from the Khan
of Kalat in 1876 and made into a strong military base. Sher Alli, Amir of Afghanistan,
did not like the British advance to Quetta and sought the friendship of Russia. The
British colonialists declared a war on him. The war lasted two years. Sher Ali fled to
Russia and Abdul Rahman become Amir. The British agreed to recognize him on the
condition that they would control Afghan foreign policy. They subsequently secured
hilly territories of Baluchistan, Gilgit and Chitral.

In 1900, a few Afghan tribes rose against the British as they were dissatisfied
over the demarcation of the boundary berween Afghanistan and British India. The
situation further deteriorated when the Afghans launched a Jehad offensive against
some British officials. On the instructions of Amir of Kabul a book on Jehad-entitiad

1. Tankh—-Ahmadyu! Vol. JH P. 73
2. sm. llorxuiModoml Duihd, 1978 P.252 and siso Richard 3.Newsl], Tha Politic:
ol Afghan Cornoll Liniversity Prass London, 1672, P.45
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Tagqwim-ud din Darbara Tehrlk-e-Jehad was launched in Afghanistan.! It added fuel
to the fire and put Britishers in great political trouble.

All British attempts to calm the Afghan freedom fighters failed. In around
1894, the Punjab Intelligence then called Thaggi and Dakaity Department sent a
proposal to Lt. Governor Macworth Young for the establishment of a Qadiani Mission
in Kabul in order to counter the Afghan Jehad movement so vigorously launched by
the leading tribes against the British and create internal unrest and disintegration in
the Afghan society which owed it basis to religion. Herald Dean, Chief Comsmissioner
NWFP concurred with the prc:posal.2

It was in 1894, that Molvi Abdul] Latif of Khost, Kabul, a trusted British
agent, visited India as one of the members on the Durrard Commission which was
entrusted with the task of demarcation of the boundary between Afghanistan and
British India. He was the confidant of Shereen Dil Khan, the Governor of Khost and
a right hand man in connection with the demarcation. After the Commission had
concluded its work, Molvi Latif sent a message to Mirza Ghulam Ahmad through
some of his agents viz Molvi Ahmad Noor and Molvi Abdul Rahman. Abdul Rehman
visited Qadian twice or thrice and was influenced by the writings of the Mirza and
those of Khawaja Kamaluddin who at that time stayed in Peshawar and published
tracts against Jehad. Molvi Abdul Rahman took the Qadiani literature for distribution
in Kabul, but was apprehended by the Kabul Police and was put in a jail in 1901 where
he was done to death in the prison cell.

Since 1896, the activities of the British agents greatly increased in Kabut.
The Mirza wrote a private letter to Abdul Rahman, Amir of Kabul, in May, 1896,
explaining him the merits of ‘giorious’ British rule and asked monetary help to carry
out his campaign for the service of Islam. The letter was not published in the Mirza’s
life. A.R.Dard got it from the papers of Muhammad Bakhsh (Deputy Inspector of
Police, Batala) and published it in his book on the life of Ghulam Ahmad.*

In 1902, Molvi Latif set out from Kabul on the pretext of proceeding on
pilgrimage by way of Lahore, accompanied by two of his disciples and another divine.
As planned earlier, when he reached India he settled down in Qadian and started
sending his agents in Kabul under the guidance of the Punjab Intelligence. He stayed
in Qadian for a few months. .

Before leaving for Kabul, he wrote a letter to Brigadier Muhammad Hussain,
Commissioner of Police, Kabul, to ascertain whether the Amir would permit him to
proceed to Kabul'. The Amir allowed him to return home. However, on his arrival in

Tarich~e—Ahmacdyst Vol it P 185
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Kabul, he was arrested and put in a jail on the charges of preaching against Jehad and
spreading heretic beliefs and infidelity.

He was persuaded to repudiate his erroneous doctrines, but he did not. After
four months, he was tried in a religious court where he was again persuaded to
renounce his faith which he refused.! At last he was proclaimed guilty of heresy and
was ordered to be stoned to death on 14 July, 1903,

Molvi Muhammad Ali Qadiani, editor of the Review of Religions Qadian,
throws light on the killing of Molvi Latif:

When he returned to Kabul, he preached Ahmadya beliefs to some chiefs
of Kabul. Qut of the main beliefs which characterised the Ahmadya movement, the
most important one is the denial of a warrior Mahdi and abrogation of Jehad. Rather
it should be put in this way that it is the very basis of the claim of the Mirza to be the
Promised Messiah. The Amir of Afghanistan considered anti-Jehad ideas dangerous
to the solidarity of his country as the national integrity and cohesion of the Afghan
society are based exclusively on the preaching of the concept of Jehad. That was the
reason the Amir regarded the repudiation of the advent of a bloody Mahdi more than
a theological controversy and a potential danger to his state. He secured fatwa to
condemn the Sahibzada to death by stoning.?

Frank Martin, an Italian engineer serving at that time in Kabul was a witness
to the whole event. He writes :

*This new man, (Mirza Ghulam Ahmad Qadiani), therefore, if his preaching
was listened to, would upset Muhammadanism, and as he preached that Mussalmans
must regard Christians as brothers, and not as infidels, this would render useless the
Amir’s chief weapon Jehad (religious war), in case of English or Russian aggression.

' So the Amir, when he heared of all this, sent word to the Moullah (Latif) to return,
and the Mouilah did so, preaching the new refigion as he came and as soon as he was
wellr\:tm\the boundaries of the country, he was made prisonier and brought to
Kabul” | '

!

mm}h Mirza exploited this jncident in favour of British Imperialism and
laun a malicious propaganda campaign against the political pelicies of Kabul. In
his book Tazkiratush Shahdtain, he extoled the British Imperialism and exhorted his
followers to extend full support to it for their own benefit and that of their Jamaat.

At other occasions also he advised his community in the following words :

*Just ponder, where on earth is there a heaven for you if you quit the
patronage of British Government ? You cannot simply think of even one Government
which will take you under its protection. Every Islamic state is gnashing its teeth for
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cutting you to pieces because you are disbelievers and renegades in their sight. You
should be grateful for this blessing of God i.e. British Government, You must clearly
understand that God has established the British Government in this country for your
good only. If a misfortune befalls this Government that will exterminate you also...
Just try to live under any other Government and you will realize what treatment is
meted out to you. Lend your ears to me. The British Government is a divine favour, u
blessing of God and a shield for you. So you should be grateful for this from the very
core of your hearts. The English are a thousand times better than our Muslim opponents
because they do not believe that we deserve to be put to death, and they do not want to

"

dishonour you.

Iran: The Mirza did not actively involve himself in Iranian affairs as the Bahais had
already launched a foreign-inspired movement in the main cities of Iran in collabora-
tion with secret Jewish societies. However, in 1906, he published a revelation : ‘An
upheaval took place in the palace of the Shah of Iran.’ Qadiani writers® explain that
it represented downfall of Nasiruddin (1805-1896) and the subsequent movemen
launched by Iranian people for constitutional reforms (1905). Freemasonry and Jewish
backed subversive societies played a critical role in the Iranian upheaval in early 20s

Indla: The soothsayer of Qadian put forth certain prophecies about India. One o
them related to the Partition of Bengal.

In 1898, Lord Curzon (1859-1925) came to India as Viceroy. In 1902, he set
on foot a general discussion of provincial boundaries in India, affecting not only Bengal
but also Berar, the Central Provinces, Madras, Bombay and Sind. Next year, a plan
emerged for severing the eastern and predominantly Mustim regions of the Bengali-
speaking arpmning them with Asaam, creating a new province with a
population’s of 31 millions) of whom 59 percent would be Muslim.? Some Hindu Bengali
leaders demonstrated agéinst the plan. A boycott of British goods followed as popular
feeling became indistinguishable from religious fervor, a call by young extremists for
the assassination of British officials as an offering to the goddess Kali gave the
movement a revivalist character. ‘

Lord Curzon refused to accede to the demand of Hindu militant organi:;a-
tions for the annuiment of Partition of Bengal. In August, 1906 Sir Bampfylde Fuller
(1854-1935), Lt. Governor of the new province of East Bengal and Asaam submitted
his resignation over Government of India’s refusal to support reprisals against
schoolboy agitators in Serajganj. Lord Minto, the Secretary of State for India accepted
the resignation. Hindu agitators regarded it a victory for them. Fuller was succeeded
by Sir Lancelot Hare (1851-1922)*
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During the Bengal unrest, the Mirza came forward with his hyperbolic
prophecy: “Relating to the order that had been given concerning Bengal at first, they
would be conciliated now” {February 1906). When Sir Fuller resigned, it was claimed
that Ahmadya prophecy had been fulfilled and the official organ of Qadian jubilantly
queried:

‘Could any one guess six months before the resignation of Sir B.Fuller that
the Bengali agitators would be thus conciliated ? There were no Locbtnem who hoped
that a Liberal Government in England may sct aside the order of Partition, but no
one ever thought of the conciliatory policy that hasbeen adopted by the Government.'!

The prophecy was interpreted in a different way when the Partition was
annulted in 1911,

‘Mirza Sahib clearly indicated the reversal of the position in some future
time... How the events shaped themselves mysteriously into the divine scheme of things
shows the Hand of an omnipotent God, who had long foretold the {inal act in this
political drama. And it came as dramatically by a proclamation in the Coronation
Darbar held in 1911 CE. The Partition of Bengal was revoked as a gesture of
conciliation towards the people of Bengal. How aptly the prophecy came 1o be fulfilled
three years after the lifetime of Hazrat Mirza Ghulam Ahmad.”?

The Partition of Bengal is an important event in the movement (or a separate
Muslim homeland. The Hindus hailed its annuiment but Muslims felt disappointed.
[t was a day of mounring for them but a day of rejoicing for Hindu Bengal and the
followers of Mirza Qadiani who saw in it the fulfilment of their prophet’s oracle.

Muslim League: The Mirza was so deeply committed to Imperialist cause that he
disliked the political partics of India, the Indian National Congress and the Muslim
League alike and condemned their political programme3 He was equally critical of
the Muhammadan Educational Conference, Aligarh College and the Nadwatul-
ulema. He could never think of an Independent India free from the Imperialist
dominance or a constitutional struggfe waged by an enslaved nation for restoration of
its basic rights.

Boer War: The Dutch Boers who emigrated from the Cape Colony and settled in
Natal, South Africa in 1840 waged a war against the British colonial rule in 1880 and
valiantly resented the annexation of the country. The discovery of gold and diamonds
inthe country led to a great influx of the English and other nationalities, but the refusal
of the Boers to grant those aliens electoral rights and privileges excited the greatest
discontent. The Boers demanded the abolition of British suzerainty, in return for the
grant of (ranchise to the aliens. Britain refused and the war broke out (1899-1900).

Review of Reiigions, Qadéan, Vol V P.363

2 Main Rahim Hakhsh. The Debt Forgot\en Lahore, 1860, P.52 Also Miza Mahmud Ahmad, A Present 1o His
- Royml Highness the Prince of Wales, P

a Altazl, Qadian, 1 January, 1914 )
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The Transvaal Boers invaded the North West of Natal but were driven back at Glencoe
by General Symons. They then invested Lady Smith, which was being held by General
White. The British defence of Lady Smith disrupted the Boer plan for an advance to
the coast. Britain eventually granted self-government to Transvaal in 1906.

Mirza Ghulam Ahmad continued to pray for the success of the British
Imperialists in the Boer Wars. Funds were collected for the British mercenaries who
were injured during the aggression in Transvaal. When the Boers were driven back by
General Symons, he sent a letter of congratulation te the Punjab Government. The
Chief Secretary to the Government of Punjab wrote to Secretary to the Government
of India, Foreign Department, on 9 March, 1900:

‘In connection with my letter No.54 C dated 6th March, 1900, I am directed
to submit, for the infermation of the Government of India, a copy of the message of
congratulations received from individuais and associations named on the margin in
connection with the recent British success in South Africa, and to add that messages
have been suitably acknowledged by the Lt. Governor {MacWorth Young) of Punjab:

- Nawab Mohammad Hayat Khan, Hasan Abdal
- Secretary, Anjuman-i-Islamia, Punjab, Lahore
- Mirza Ghulam Ahmad, Rais of Kadian, Batala'

Mirza Ghulam Ahmad also sent a telegram to the Lt. Governor of the Punjab
for onward submission to H.M .the Queen Empress when the British General White
checked the Boer advance at Lady Smith.’

‘I heartily congratulate Her Majesty, the Empress, for the relicf of Lady
Smith. Kindly forward this.?

On 10 February, 1900 he issued a circular to call the attention of his Jamaat
to the Transvaal war. He advised his followers to pray for the success of the British
Government in the war and contribute liberally for the injured. Mirza Khuda Bux was
appointed coordinator to receive money from all Ahmadya Jamaats of Indja.*

During the papacy of Hakim Nuruddin (1908-1914), Khuda Bux wrote a
book on Ahmadya movement in two volumes. In that book he emphatically states that
only due to the blessings and prayers of the Promised Messiah the British defeat was
turned into a victory in Transvaal. As he finished his prayers in a specially organized
meeting in Qadian, Lord Robert came out victorious in the War. It is a heavenly sign.
The British Government is requested to pay respect to the successor of the Promised
Messiah (Mouivi Nuruddin) in order to save itself from any ensuing catastrf.)phe.4 ‘

1. From Hon. Mr. W.R:!"l.lo!em1 Officisting Chiet Secretary to the Govemment of the Punjab to tha Sacretary of the ‘
E;‘vdemmeni of India, Fggeign Depaﬁmant, No,167 daled Lahore, the Bth March 1900, india Office Library,

on ;
Mirza Ghulam Ahmad, Rais of Qadian, Batala, telegram daled 24 March, 1800 to His Honour, the U. Govemor
of the Punjab-india Office Library, London

Mirza Ghulam Ahmad's Imporiant circular 10 his community, 10 February, 1800 Zia ul lslam Fress, Qadian
Mirza Khuda Bux, Asle Mussafa, Qadian 1814 P.178 -
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No such sympathy for Muslims of Turkey, Sudan, Afghanistan or any other
Muslim country was ever shown when they were killed by the British soldiers during
naked aggression against their lands. It amply shows the political character of the
movement.

Japan: In 1906, Mirza Qadiani announced to have received the following dubious
revelation from God: ‘An Eastern Power and the critical condition of Korea.’ It has
been interpreted by his followers in the context of Russo-Japanese War of (1905-1906)
which ended in signing of the treaty of Rortsmouth. Russia gave up half of Sakalin
Island to Japan and recognized her suzerainty over Korea.! Japan annexed it in 1910,

Russia: Another prophecy concerns Russia. It has an interesting back ground. In an
Urdu poem, the Mirza made an oblique reference to an earth quake. To meet the
imperative need of the poetical rhyme, he, in one of his couplets, satated, that at that
critical time even the Czar of Russia would be in a pitiable condition.” This provided
an opportunity to Qadiani writers to interpret it in terms of a prophecy for the downfall
of the Russian Empirein 1917. 1t is a far-fetched and cunning explanation of a versicle.
The Mirza during his life time always prayed for the success of Britain whenever it
had any encounter with Russia.® '

For Zionism: In 1897, Herzl launched Zionist movement. The immediate object of
Zionism was to obtain from the Sultan of Turkey a legal concession or charter for the
settlement of large number of Jews on the basis of local self Government. Three
personal interviews of Herzl with Sultan Abdul Hamid in 1901 and 1902 respectively
proved fruitless. Herzl wrote in his diary that Turkish officials were like sea foam; only
their expressions were serious not their intentions. He wouid have to ask the British
with whom contacts had already been established for a Jewish colony in Africa. But
the mere suggestion of any project outside Palestine aroused violent opposition from
Jews. The secession of number of Zionists followed and led to the establishment of
Jewish Territorial Organization (ITO). After unsuccessful attempts to find a suitable
territory in Cyrenaica, Canada, Australia, Mesopotamia and Angola, the ITQO ceased
to function.

In 1903, the British Government offered the Zionist Congress a territory in
East Africa for Jewish settlement but the offer was rejected because the majority of
Zionists could not considér any land other than the land of Zion as their homeland*

In the early years of 20th century, a movement to establish Zion in Chicago
(USA) gained increasing popularly. The Jews of Central and Eastern Europe who
came in large numbers to America looked to it with hope. Its moving figure was. John
Alexender Dowie.

Mahmud Ahmad, A Presant to His Royal Highness the Prince af Wales, Gadian 192t P.87
Mirza Ghulam Ahmad, Dur-—3amin, ical work} Rabwah, P.24

Mir Gasim Ali, Tabligh—-Fisalat, vol 1, P.3%6
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Dowie emerged on the scene with an ambitious plan to establish a Zion in
America. He called it a Kingdom of God referred to in the Old Testament. He was
born in Edinburgh in 1847 where he studied at the University before entering the
ministry. He was ordained in South Australia as a congressionalist and subsequently
founded the Divine Healing Association of Australia and Newzealand. In 1888, he
proceeded to America and organized, the Christian Apostate Church in Zion. The city
of Zion was founded on the West Shores of Lake Michigan in Chicago and he became
its General Overseer. He called himself ‘Elijah, the Restorer and the Promised
Messiah.” He started the publication of a paper called the Leaves of Healing. There
was no theatre or dancing hall in the Zion city. Severe punishments were afflicted on

pork eaters and wine addicts.!

The purpose of Zion movement was to smash every other church in existence
in the world. The Zion Restoration Host, was organized at Shiloh Tabernacle in the
city of Zion on Lord’s Day, 21 September, 1902. It recognized Dowie as the Messenger
of Covenant, the prophet foretold by Moses, and Elijah, the Restorer.

By setting up a Kingdom of God-Zion and by playing host for its restoration
in the religious cloak of Elijah, the Restorer, Dowie projected himself as a redeemer
of Jews and protagonist of a new Church to the dislike of Herzelian Zionists. Zionists
directed their Indian stooge to start a smear campaign against him. The Mirza, at first,
tried to engage him in religious controversies, an artful jugglery in which he specialised,
but Dowie paid no heed to it. In 1902, he sent him a challenge calling for a prayer duel
and predicted a calamity for his Zion. Dowie did not respond. The foltowing year it
was repeated more forcefully; still he cared not to reply.3 During that time, pro-Jewish
circles managed to publish the Mirza’s prophecy in as many as 32 leading American
papers and gave it stupendous publicity. Dowie cleverly evaded a spiritual contest or
a prayer duel and did not get himself involved in any controversy with the Mirza.

By 1905, Zionists succeeded to sabotage Dowie’s movement from within.
Dowie was charged with misappropriation of funds. GlenVolva, his former associate,
took control of Zion in 1906. Dowie was deposed. He died in March 1907. The Mirza
found a good chance 1o claim that his prophecy had been fulfilled,* although Dowie
completely ignored him and had never entered into any type of prayer duel with him.

The Mirza failed to entrap him into theological debates or prayer duels
meant to expose him and his movement in the eyes of the public. The utterances of
the Mirza which received a wider publicity in America may be taken as one of the
indirect factors in the tragic end of Dowie, besides his own foliies. There was also
another claimant of prophethood and Messiahship in Britain at that time. His name

See chﬁonars of American Biography, Edit. by Johnsonh and Dumas, New York, 1859 P.414 and Webster's
Biographical ictionarY usa

Rohnix Harlan, Johan Alexandar Dowie and the Christian Catholic Apostolic Church, University of Chicago, 1908
FP.2-8 (unpLblished Thesis) Widner Library, Harard Liniversity. UGA

Main Rahim Bakhsh, The Debt Far tlon.al:\rrvmadya Anjuman Lahore, 1960, P.48

Ses Mirza Ghulam Ahmad, Hagiqalul-Wahi, Qadian 1807
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was Stuart Piggot. He was not involved in any political movement. The Mirza wrote
him a simple letter in 1902 inviting him to accept his faith. He did not launch such a
big tirade against him. Nor did Qadiani challenge receive such a wide publicity in the
British press. This shows that Piggot's utterances carried no harm to the political
interests of his masters. The Mirza could only come in the arena when the interests
of his mentors were at stake.

It was recally a political service which Mirza Ghulam Ahmad, the Promised
Messiah from Gentiles rendered to his Jewish masters [or the cause of Zionism.

Turkey: Support and sympathy for the Turkish Sultan began te worry the British
Government in India by about the middle of the nineties. They felt alarmed at the
Russio-Turkish war of 1876-78. There was a sharp reaction in India and soime Muslims
suggested to the Sultan to forge an alliance with the Mahdi of Sudan and Iran and
invade Indiu. The Sultan paid little heed to the proposal. However, he was conscious

of the support the Muslims of India could provide for Turkish cause.!

The British Impcrialists were also disturbed lest the Amir of Afghanistan
showed his teeth when British forces were committed against the Pathan tribes on the
north west and there was fear of unrest in Hyderabad State, coinciding with the call
of Jihad on the Frontier. In July 1897, Maulana Hidayat Rasul, a [reedon fighter in
Lukhnow was sentenced to an year’s imprisonment for making seditious speech at a
public meeting while congratulating the Sultan of Turkey and Amir of Afghanistan

on their championship of Istam.?

Sir Anthony MacDonnell, the Lt. Governor of the UP, reported the circula-
tion of a book preaching Jihad and mentioned to the Viceroy, Lord Elgin (1847-1919}
a leaflet describing the Ottoman Sultan as Amir-ul-Mominin and Padshah-i-Musal-
manan. In the same letter he reported signs of Hindu-Muslim rapprochement in
Rohilkhand. In a later letier, Macdonnell passed on reports that ‘Rampur is said te
contain a large number of vigilants and Turks.”

He, in an other report says : ‘There can be no doubt that there is great
sympathy with Turkey and that the prevalent feeling partakes of the nature of an
Islamic revival. This | believe to be partly due to incitement from outside India and
partly spontaneous, and I think it has been growing for sometime and is fostered in
Muhammaden schools. The Commissioner of Agra tells me that many more people
than formerly have taken to wearing the Turkish Fez and this is perhaps a straw
indicating how the wind is beginning to blow.*

C.J.Alder, British India’s Northem Frontier, (1865-85), London, 1863, P.313

EIE'in to Hamilton, 20 Movember, 1885, Hamilton Papers, India Office Library, EURD 5021, P.357 quoled by

P.Hardy, ‘The Mustim of British India, P.177

”a%[;onnelLTo Eigin, 16 July, 1887, MacDonnell Papers, Bodleian Library Eng, Hist, Co,335. Fals, 1722-23.
ardy, op.cit.
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In Greco-Turkish war, the Muslims raised funds for the families of Turk
soldiers and held prayers for their victory. When Greeks were defeated in Thessaly in
1897, there were rejoicings all over India. A Muslim deputation waited on the Turkish
Cousul General requesting him to convey their feelings to the Suitan whom the
Muslims owed allcg:}ance.l

As a hireling of the world Jewry, the Mirza had been sending typical material
to Turkey through Imperialist agents and Jewish secret societies. He declared that the
growing weaknesses of the Turkish Empire and secessionist tendencies in certain parts
of Arab lands were divine signs for the advent of the Promised Messiah and Mahdi?

In May 1897, Hussain Kami Bek, the Turk Consul, arrived in Lahore. He
was given an historic reception at the Lahore station as he was regarded an envoy of
the Caliph. Some influential members of the Ahmadya Jamaat of Lahore, perhaps at
the behest of the British intelligence, proposed him to visit Qadian, The Consul agreed
to it. In the words of Dr Busharat, he wanted o fulfil some of his political ambilions,3
or it was out of Pan-Islamist sentiments. He sent a letter to the Mirza and alter
receiving his consent visited Qadian. He held closed-door discussions with him. It is
not known what discussions took place between them. However, it transpired from
the Mirza's subsequent outbursts that the Consu! asked him to support the Sultan and
the Turkish Empire. The Mirza outrighly rejected the propoesal and in turn condemned
the Sultan and his Caliphare. He showered ail praise upon Queen Victoria and highly
extoled the British rule. The Muslims of India had pinned high hopes on the outcome
of that meeting and eagerly awaited its results. The editor of the daily Nazime Hind,
Lahore wrote a letter to the Consul enquiring about the result of the meeting. The
Consul’s reply carried an indirect reference tothe political drama the Mirza had staged
for the British Imperialism in the name of Islam. He called the Mirza a2 ‘Namrud’,
‘Shadad’, ‘Satan’, an ‘arch liar’, an ¢ embodiment of deceit’, etc?

On 24 May, 1897 the Mirza gave a reply to his letter by publishing a strongly
worded statement in which he made it amply clear thar he was only loyal to the British
Government which was worthy of every respect and thankfulness under whose blessed
rule he had been doing his ‘divine’ business. The Turkish Government was condemned
as an incarnation of darkness and doomed to destruction. He claimed through a
‘revelation’ that the position of Turkish Sultan, Abdul Hamid 11, as well as his
associates, was very bad and under the circumstances they would meet a fatelul cnd.;S

A Qadiani elder gives Ahmadya viewpoint on Turkish Caliphate in the
following words :

P.C.Bomford, Histories of Nen-cooperation and Khitafat Moverment', Delhi 1825 (a classifisd document of the
ﬂazvzénmenl of India, svery copy being numbered to ensure secrecy-quoted by Dr LH.Qureshi, Ulemain Politics,
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‘The Ahmadees, however, regard the claim of the Sultan of Turkey to
Caliphate to be [alse and refuse to acknowledge any sort of allegiance to him. When
Hussain Kami, the sub-consul of Turkey, paid a visit to Qadian in 1897, Ahmad told
him in plain words that the Sultan had no title to khilafat.’ This infuriated the
sub-consul and many other non-Ahmadis, whereupon he published an ishtthar (Public
Notice) wherein he wrote : *

‘I have no need of the Sultan of Turkey and have no desire to see his Consul.
For me, one Sultan is sufficient who is the true King of heaven and earth.. When the
Sultan of Turkey is but a straw before my king, of what significance is his Consul? In
my opinion, however, abedience, and gratitude are due to the British Government under
the protection of which I am cartying on this heavenly propaganda with great safety. The
Turkish Government is now a days full of darkness and is reaping what it sowed. For
me it is never possible to spread any truth under its protection. | am afraid many people
will be displeased at this Fatwa {opinion), but this is the truth. I tried to impress this
fact, in several ways, on the mind of the Consulwho came to Qadian, that the Turkish
Government stood blamed before God for several reasons. But I looked into his heart
and found that he took these words very ill, and this clearly shows that Turkey will
have no more good days, and his remarks against me on his return from Qadian are
a clear indication of Turkey’s downfall.. I told him that now it was the will of God that
those among the Muslims who remained separate from me would be destroyed, be
they Kings or subjects, and I think these words pierced him like arrows. I did not speak
from myself, but said what God had revealed to me.” In another notice Ahmad says :

‘The claim of the Sultan to be the caliph or spiritual head of the Muslim is
only a word of mouth.”!

The Muslim Press took strong note of the Mirza’s filthy Janguage and critical
remarks against the Sultan, and his eulogy for British Imperialism. The daily Séiraj ul
Akhbar, Jhelum, stated that Mirza Qadiani was not only an enemy of Muslim ulema
but also an arch enemy of Islamic brotherhood and Muslims of the world. As
Gladestone was the bitter opponent of Turkey in Britain, simitarly Mirza Qadiani was
a staunch enemy of the Turkish Caliphate in India.

In January, 1904, the Mirza prophesized :

“The Turks shall be defeated in the land hard by but after the defeat they
shall defeat (their foes)” The propaganda against Turkey was intensified during these
years by Qadianis and other non-Muslim agencies. It ultimately became one of the
factors responsible for the dismemberment of the Caliphate. By 1908, the You ngTurks
backed by the Jews and Freemasons came to power in Turkey. '

1. M Sher All, What Distinguishes Ahmadees from Non—-Ahmadees, Anjuman Tamalqql-e—tsiam DBGGI!‘I. 1917,
1
2. Dr Bushural Ahmad, op. cit. P.S02
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An Overview: The sum and substance of the anti-Islamic Ahmadya movement
launched by the shrewd son of a pro-British Mughat land lord was to serve the political
interests of British colonialism and to perpetuate their rule in India. It provided a
discreet support to the Jewish militant nationalist movement that took shape at the
close of 20th century with the acti\:e collaboration of European powers. Basically, the
movement was political in nature mistaken as only a religious heresy. Nevertheless it
infused the elements of neo-Judaism in the body politic of Islam and created a new
Ummah on the basis of false prophethood.

Through his alleged prophethood, the Mirza declared all Muslims as infidels
even if they recited Kalima. 1t was-a virtual abrogation of Kalima and a sinister attempt
to claim superiority over the Holy Prophet Hazrat Muhammad (p.b.o.h.)

To segregate the Muslims from his followers, he strictly prohibited the
marriage of a Muslim with an Ahmadi girl. It was one of his strongest commands as
allegedly ‘revealed to him by God.! He prohibited his followers in joining daily prayers
with Mustims. Smnlar}y offering of funeral prayers of non Ahmadis (even of a child)
was forbidden.?

Qadian was deciared to be a sanctum sanctorum to alienate his followers
fram Mecca and Madina in a deceitful manner. It was called the Holy Kaaba
(Arz-i-Harem) and Median-ul-Nabi (the city of the prophet). The Mirza visualized its
name written in the Holy Quran. The annual gatherings in Qadian during the Xmas
week was a Zilli Haj for Ahmadis. The Mirza founded the Cemetery of Paradise
(Bahishti Magbara} in Qadian. Only those Ahmadis could find burial place in it who
had bequeathed one-tenth of their belongings to the Qadiani exchequer. He extended
the ‘mosque’ built by his father in Qadian and called it the real Masjid-i-Aqsa
mentioned in the Holy Quran.,

The British naturally had great sympathy with 8 movement which fuifilled
their political ends and created disintegration in the Muslim society. Secret funds were
made available to the organization through indirect channels to let it grow and keep
its impact felt. It is strongly believed that besides some religious enthusiasts, a group
of prolific writers was placed at the disposal of the organization by the British to save
the nascent movement from a debacle which otherwise could have taken place due to
absurdities and stupidities of the over-zealous British proxy. Under the religious cover
Qadiani missionaries were planted in Arab lands and the British colonies to carry out
political works in accordance with the direction of the British diplomatic missions.

The movement bears great similarity with Bahaism, another Jewish-backed
political movement openly declaring itsell against 1slam. Both these movements had
powerful missions in Israel. Ahmadyat sprang from Sunni community of India and
Bahaism from Shia Iran. Bahauliah (d.1892) abrogated Isfam and claimed to be a

1. Mirza Mahmood Ahmad, The Truth About the Spiit, Qadian 1839,
2 Mirza Mahmood Ahmld Anwar--Khilafal Qadian, .83 and amm—n—mm P.75
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manifestation of God. The Mirza cleverly projected his image as a prophet and a
saviour and rode roughshod over Islamic precepts. He deceitfully distorted the
Quranic verses by interpolating his Punjabi-oriented Arabic sentences in it. Both
claimed divine inspirations. Baha astutely rejected the doctrine of finality of
prophethood, the Mirza hypocritically changed its meaning to make room for his
heretical claims. The former openly revolted against Islam and the latter employed a
cloak and dagger policy. Both hated Christian dogma but loved its mentors and
Imperialism. They had same set of interpretations regarding the miracles of Jesus.
Both claimed to be the Promised Messiah, and the Future-Redeemer of mankind.
Both threw challenges of writing Arabic under revelationary spell. Baha wrote Tkan
in one night and the Mirza gave his revelationary addressin one sitting1 in 1900. There
arc many other points of similarity which establish the identical character of these
movements. Politically both Baha and the Mirza were Western emissaries and Jewish
agents. They abrogated Jehad, praised the European expansionism, condemned the
world of Islam and preached servile submission to an alien rule? They worked for
the downfall of the Ottoman Empire and prophecized an ill-fate for the Turk Caliph.
They predicted establishment of a Jewish state in Palestine and worked for it with
devotion and zeal. The Mirza prayed for the prosperity and long life of his god mother,
Queen Victoria and Bahaullah showered praise on his czarist mentors. His son Abdul
Baha welcomed the British mandatory system in Palestine enforced at the end of First
World War and earned Knighthood. Both of them looked to Imperialism and its by
product Zionism for their betterment and survival and are stiil engaged in dirty works
under the Imperialists-Zionist tutelage.

1. See Maulana Aasi Amritsari, Alkavin Wal Ghavia, Amritsar and Phoenix, His Holiness

2. For Bab and Bahaism see Abdul Bahg, The Episode of Bab: Abdul Faz!, Bahai ' i
Movement and Prof Brown's writings an the sﬂh}ect PAbaulT et Proots, C. M. Remey, The Bahai
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HAKIM NURYDDIN, THE Demi-god
(1908-1914)

On 26 May, 1908 Mirza Ghulam Ahmad died of chronic dy.\;emer),_rl at
Lahore, allegedly in a despicable state in a lavatory. After his death his chief
accomplice, Hakim Nuruddin Bhairvi, ascended the gaddi of Qadian as successor of
the ‘Promised Messiah.’

The Hakim (1841-1914) was a physician by profession. He studied medicine
and theology in India and spent some time {1865-66) in Mecca. He belonged to a
barber's family of Bhera, a tehsil of district Sargodha, west Punjab. In 1876, he
managed to secure the job of a court physician in the darbar of Maharaja Ranbir Singh
of Kashmir, Lala Mathra Das, a Hindu police officer of the State, and Dewan Kirpa
Ram, the famous Kashmir historian, helped him get the job.z In 1877 he attended the
Darbar at Delhi where Queen Victoria was proclaimed the Empress of Delhj.

The Hakim was a very shrewd and clever person. He maintained close
relations with the British officers who visited Kashmir at different occasions and
developed friendship with some of them. The British Government employed him as
an informer and relied on his information on the activities of Kashmir darbar.

At the close of the 19th century, the British were alarmed at the Russian
activities in Central Asia. The Hakim kept a close watch on the bear hugs of Ranbir
Singh who aspired to get rid of British domination in collaboration with the Czarist
Russia.

To seek Russian help, the Maharaja sent a four-man mission to Russia. Two
of his emissaries, including the leader, were murdered on the way, probably by the
powerful spyring of the British agents active in Central Asia and the letter they carried
from the Maharaja to Russian authorities in Tashkent vanished with them. The
survivors, Abdul Rahman Khan and Sarfraz Khan reached Tashkent in Novembér,
1865. They were received by General Chernayev to whom they conveyed a declaratibn
of friendship and enquired what might by expected of the Russians. The mission did
not achieve any success because the Czarist Government was not interested in
promoting the cause of national liberation in India.® A second mission from Maharaja
Ranbir Singh of Kashmir, headed by Baba Karam Prakash, reached Tashkent in 1870
to seek military help from Russia. It also failed to achieve any success.*

After the death of Ranbir Singh, Partap Singh {1885-1925) ascended the -
throne of Kashmir. He was the eldest son of Ranbir Singh. Ram Singh was younger
than him and Amar Singh was the youngest of the three. According to the Treaty of

Rerdew of nollglong Qadian, June 1508
Axbar Shah Najib Atxadl, Han —=Nuruddin, Lahors, P,
mtndru Kau Jll Contra) Asia in Modem Tirnn Mo:cm 1870, P.104
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Amirstsar, Partap Sing wanted to keep his absolute position over all affairs of the
State. The British Government was, however, determined to exert its paramountcy by
appointing a Resident in Kashmir who was supposed to check the Russian expan-
sionism and see improvements in internal conditions of the State. The Maharaja had
to accept the position. Sir Oliver St. John was the first Resident, followed by Plowden
and Col. Parry Nisbet. Soon after his appointment,Nisbet claimed to possess certain
letters which Partab Singh allegedly wrote to Czarist Russia. London and Calcutta
reacted sharply over it and decided to annex the State. Amar Singh, who in collabora-
tion with Col. Nisbet, worked behind the scene to acquire power,forced Partab Singh
to sign a letter of abdication.

Hakim Nuruddin worked as an agent of the British Resident and a confidant
of Amar Singh. He was actively involved in the court intrigues.2 The British would
have safely annexed the State had a curious development not taken place at that time.
The course of events took a different turn when the newspaper Amrit Bazar Patrika,
Calcutta which represented nationalist ideas, first published an autographed copy of
the letter from Partap Singh to the Viceroy denying all allegations against him. In the
second instance, the paper published a top secret note of the British Foreign Secretary
to the Government of India regarding the annexation of borderline states. The British
Government planned to annex Gilgit at the initial stage. Sufi Amba Parsad, an Indian
nationalist, who posed himself deaf and dumb and got himself employed with the
British representative, stole the secret documents and handed them over to the paper
for publication. Two members of the British Parliament, William Digby and Bradlaugh
wrote several articles in defence of the Maharaja.3 At last the British Government was
forced to-abandon its decision of annexation of the State.

Nuruddin exerted considerable influence over Amar Singh. He convinced
him that collaboration with the British was a pre-requisite to attain power. Nuriddin
also hatched another plot which was meant to establish British control in Kishtwar
but the plan was subsequently dropped by the British Political Department. Muharrum
Ali Chishti, who edited a paper, Rafig-e-Hind, Lahore, after his expulsion from
Kashmir, was also invelved in the plot.4

The British established a Council to rule over Kashmir in 1889. The Council
comprised Ram Singh, Amar Singh, a British Officer, Pandit Suraj Kaul and Pandit
Bhag Ram. The entire administration was in the hands of Amar Singh who presided
over the Council until 1891 when Partap Singh himself became the President. Suraj
Kaul hated the Hakim for his clandestine activities and collaboration with the British
Resident. However, as soon as Partab Singh became President of the Council and
Amar Singh its Vice President, he issued order of immediate expulsion of the Hakim

1 WiiHam I:;‘lgby, Condemned Unheard, London, p.1687-168 \
2 Mumiaz Ahmad, Masals-i-Kashmir, Lahors, P.58 }
3 Digby, op. cit. F.188

4 Dilewar, Aima—Talbis, Lahore, 1837, P.4A7T1
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from the State. He had to legve the State within 24 hours. Hence this notorious court
intriguer cum British agent hurriedly packed off to his native town Bhera. Afterwards
he settled down in Qadian. Raja Amar Singh continued to make contacts with him
and secretly wrote him letters even after that incident and held him in esteem.

Sheikh Yaqub Ali Qadiani says that opponents of Hakim Nuruddin accused
him of hatching a political conspiracy to install Maharaja Amar Singh on the throne
in place of Partab Singh. That was the reason of his expulsion from the State.? Mirza
Mahmud maintains that the Hakim wanted to convert Amar Singh to Islam. Partab
Singh came to know of it.” At the time of expulsion, the Hakim was under a heavy
debt of two lac of rupees. Raja Amar Singh sanctioned a big business contract to a
Hindu businessman and managed to pay his debt out of its profit.4

The Hakim became the first successor of Mirza Qadiani in 1908 and was
called the counterpart of Hazrat Abu Bakar Sidique, the first caliph of Islam. Hardly
an year passed, a tug of war started between him and the members of Sadr Anjuman
Ahmadya, the central body responsible to administer the community’s affairs, which
ultimately resulted in a split. He, very cunningly managed the whole affairs. Influential
Qadianis condemned and despised him in private meetings and called him an
autocratic head of the community. He won the confidence of the Mirza family and a
few members of Sadre Anjuman Ahmadya. He led a miserable life and passed his last
days in great distress and mental agony.

The Great Game: The Hakim, like the Mirza, fully supported British Imperialism and
international Zionism. During the period of his papacy many political events took
place in India and abroad. The annulment of the Partition of Bengal (1911) and the
affairs of the Balkans brought dissatisfaction amongst the Muslims of India. In the
year 1908, the international Zionist conspiracy against the Turkish Empire reached
its apex. The German, French, Russian and British Imperialists had already been
planning to enter the prospective power vacuum which they expected to be created
after the much awaited dissolution of the Ottoman Empire. If Turkey were to coilapse,
Britain would have to protect her own military and economic lines of communication
with India where half the British Army was stationed. The Suez Canal had to be
defended. The only way of ensuring this was for Britain to control Syria and Arabia’®
To get best of the situation, the Imperialist and Zionist spies intensified their activities
in parts of Europe and Asia. Phillip Knightiey and Colin Simpson throw light on the
Imperialist Game :

"Generations of young Enghsh men working from Delhi, Lahore, Kabul,

Tehran, Tabriz, and Samarkand played The Great Game for King, country,

and the safety of India. Kipting wrote of it in Kim, but the truth was equally

Tarkh—e—-Ahmadyut Vol Vi, Rakwah, P 43
Sh, Yaqub Ali ifanl, Ha Ahrn-d Vol i, P.423
aﬂm-o—Ahmadyal Vol.lv, P.144
Axbar Shah Najib Abadi, op. cit. P.35
Knightiey and Simpson, Tha Secret Lives of Lewrsnce of Arabia, C. Nicholls and Co. London 1969, P.48
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fascinating., Eric Newby described how, in the abandoned offices of the
British Consulate in Meshed, in the province of Khorasan in north east
Persia, in 1956, he found a map of Central Asia heavily marked in coloured
pencil and on some sand dunes in Kara Kum desert, weil inside Russian
territory, the mystic inscription ‘Captain X, July 1984,

It was precisely the same time when the Zionist conspiracy against the
Turkish Empire was at its climax. D.G.Hogarth, the notorious political intelligence
officer, motivated Lawrence of Arabia to spy for the Empire by making a tour of
Arabia. Lawrence, an illegitimate son of an Anglo Irish baronet, with the help of other
agents went on a secret trip to Sinai desert to draw some important maps. It was
obvious that whoever controlled Sinai could definitely control the Suez Canal. But the
Turks were not allowing the British agents to spy so Lawrence and his friend Leonard
Woolley sought the Jewish help. They pretended to be interested in exploring the Sinai
as scholars for the Palestine Exploration Fund. Captain S.F. NewCombe of the British
Engineering Corpse did military work. They undertook spy missions on the directions
of the British Agency in Cairo.”

Espionage Mission: In September 1912, the Hakim sent an espionage mission to
Arabia. It comprised Mirza Mahmud Ahmad, Mir Nasir Nawab, Mahmud’s maternal
grandfather and an Arab. The Hakim had been cleverly preparing Mirza Mahmud to
take his place in future, This coterie had already founded a society ‘Ansarullah’in order
to use it against Sadre Anjuman Ahmadya and to grab power in the days to come,
Abdul Mohy Arab of Iraq, a British agent settled in Qadian, was the third member of
the mission.

Before his departure for Hejaz, Jerusalem and Egypt, Mirza Mahmud main-
tained that he would be undertaking the journey with a view of opening new horizons
of propagation of Ahmadyut,3 besides there are certain other 